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Stockholders.

We are not selling any common stock under this prospectus and will not receive any of the proceeds from
the sale or other disposition of shares by the Selling Stockholders. We will, however, receive the net proceeds of
any warrants exercised for cash.

Our registration of the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus does not mean that the Selling
Stockholders will offer or sell any of such shares. The Selling Stockholders may sell the shares of common
stock covered by this prospectus in a number of different ways and at varying prices. For additional information
on the possible methods of sale that may be used by the Selling Stockholders, you should refer to the section of
this prospectus entitled “Plan of Distribution”.

No underwriter or other person has been engaged to facilitate the sale of our common stock by the Selling
Stockholders in this offering. The Selling Stockholders and any broker-dealers or agents may, individually but
not severally, be deemed to be an “underwriter” within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
of the shares of common stock that they are offering pursuant to this prospectus. We will bear all costs, expenses
and fees in connection with the registration of the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus. The
Selling Stockholders will bear all commissions and discounts, if any, attributable to their respective sales of
common stock.

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “IPST.” The last
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that you obtain current market quotations for our common stock prior to making an investment decision.

We may amend or supplement this prospectus from time to time by filing amendments or
supplements as required. We urge you to read the entire prospectus, including any amendments or
supplements, carefully before you make your investment decision.

Investing in our shares is highly speculative and involves a high degree of risk. Before buying any
shares, you should carefully read the discussion of material risks of investing in our shares in the section
titled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 11 of this prospectus and the risk factors in any accompanying
prospectus supplement.

We are an “emerging growth company” and “smaller reporting company” as defined under the
U.S. federal securities laws and, as such, have elected to comply with certain reduced public company reporting
requirements for this prospectus and may elect to do so after this offering in future filings.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved
or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement on Form S-1 that we filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) for the delayed or continuous offering and sale of securities pursuant to
Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). This prospectus generally
describes Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc. and our common stock. The Selling Stockholders may use
this registration statement to sell up to an aggregate of 21,092,156 shares of our common stock from time to
time through any means described in the section entitled “Plan of Distribution.” Our registration of the
securities covered by this prospectus does not mean that either we or the Selling Stockholders will issue, offer
or sell, as applicable, any of the securities registered hereunder. Under the registration statement of which this
prospectus forms a part, the Selling Stockholders may, from time to time, sell the shares of our common stock
offered by it described in this prospectus.

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of common stock by the Selling Stockholders pursuant to
this prospectus, although we will receive proceeds from any cash exercises of the warrants. However, we will
pay the expenses, other than underwriting discounts and commissions, associated with the sale of shares
pursuant to this prospectus.

We and the Selling Stockholders, as applicable, may deliver a prospectus supplement with this prospectus,
to the extent appropriate, to update the information contained in this prospectus. The prospectus supplement
may also add, update or change information included in this prospectus. You should read both this prospectus
and any applicable prospectus supplement, together with additional information described below under the
caption “Where You Can Find More Information.”

No offer of these securities will be made in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted.

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus
supplement or in any related free writing prospectus filed by us with the SEC. We have not, and the Selling
Stockholders have not, authorized anyone to provide you with different information. This prospectus and any
accompanying prospectus supplement do not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any
securities other than the securities described in this prospectus or such accompanying prospectus supplement or
an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy such securities in any circumstances in which such offer or
solicitation is unlawful. You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus, any prospectus
supplement and any related free writing prospectus is accurate only as of their respective dates. Our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed materially since those dates.

Unless otherwise noted, the share and per share information in this prospectus reflects a reverse stock split
of the outstanding common stock at a 0.57-for-one ratio that was effected on May 14, 2024, and the one-for-20
reverse stock split of the outstanding common stock that was effected on November 5, 2025. Unless the context
otherwise requires, the terms “Company,” “Heritage,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Heritage Distilling Holding
Company, Inc. and our subsidiaries. We have registered our name, our logo, and a number of our trademarks,
including Stiefel’s Select®, Tribal Beverage Network®, TBN®, Cocoa Bomb®, Cask Club®, Elk Rider®, My
Batch®, and Thinking Tree Spirits®, in the United States. Other service marks, trademarks, and trade names
referred to in this prospectus are the property of their respective owners. Except as set forth above and solely for
convenience, the trademarks and trade names in this prospectus are referred to without the ®, ©, and ™ symbols,
but such references should not be construed as any indicator that their respective owners will not assert, to the
fullest extent under applicable law, their rights thereto.

Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this prospectus concerning our industry and the
markets in which we operate is based on information from independent industry and research organizations,
other third-party sources (including industry publications, surveys and forecasts), and management estimates.
Management estimates are derived from publicly available information released by independent industry
analysts and third-party sources, as well as data from our internal research, and are based on assumptions made
by us upon reviewing such data and our knowledge of such industry and markets, which we believe to be
reasonable. Although we believe the data from these third-party sources is reliable, we have not independently
verified any third-party information. In addition, projections, assumptions and estimates of the future
performance of the industry in which we operate, and our future performance are necessarily subject to
uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those described in “Risk Factors” and “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” These and other factors could cause results to differ materially
from those expressed in the estimates made by the independent parties and by us.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus and does not
contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in our securities. This summary is
qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, the more detailed information appearing
elsewhere in this prospectus. You should read this entire prospectus carefully, including the information set
forth in the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes thereto contained in this
prospectus, before making an investment decision. Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this
prospectus to “we,” “us,” “our,” “our company,” or similar terminology refer to Heritage Distilling
Holding Company, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Our Company

Overview

We are a craft spirits producer making, marketing and selling a diverse line of award-winning craft
spirits, including whiskeys, vodkas, gins, rums, and “ready-to-drink” canned cocktails. We recognize that
taste and innovation are key criteria for consumer choices in spirits and have developed differentiated
products that are responsive to consumer desires for rewarding and novel taste experiences.

In connection with the development of our cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy, on August 15, 2025,
we completed a $223.8 million PIPE transaction pursuant to which we acquired 53.2 million $IP Tokens in
our digital asset treasury. The $IP Token is the native cryptocurrency of the Story Network, running on the
Story IP layer 1 blockchain. The $IP protocol and related $IP Tokens can be used to pay for computational
services on the Story Network, to mint or manage digital rights objects, or to transfer value in network-native
transactions. These tokens can also be exchanged for fiat currencies, such as the U.S. dollar, at rates
determined on digital asset trading platforms or in individual end-user-to-end-user transactions using
decentralized trading protocols. After closing the PIPE transaction and as part of our treasury reserve strategy,
we established as a new business segment a new validator business in which we stake the majority of the $IP
Tokens in our treasury to earn a staking yield and turn our treasury into a productive asset.

A cryptocurrency validator is like a digital “notary” or “referee” in a blockchain network. Its job is to
check that transactions on the network are real and follow the network rules. Validators also are randomly
selected to propose a new block of transactions to be added to the blockchain. When a participant attempts a
transaction, that participant is required to pay a minimum “gas” fee. A participant can opt to pay an additional
fee to ensure that its transaction is added to the blockchain more quickly. These fees are denominated in the
same cryptocurrency that is evidenced by the blockchain. In the case of the Story Network blockchain, these
fees are denominated in $IP Tokens. The validator chosen to propose a block will (when that block is
successfully confirmed by the other validator nodes) receive the gas fees for all transactions in the block
(known as “execution layer rewards”). In addition, the Story Network automatically issues $IP Tokens as
rewards to validators who successfully propose a block. We have elected to operate our own validator
services rather than to “delegate” our $IP Tokens to third-party validation service providers.

As a result of the recent expansion of our cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy and our decision to
establish a new validator business, we now report our business in two segments:

•         IP Management Infrastructure:    this segment executes and manages our treasury policy, operates
our validators and operates infrastructure to allow IP owners to manage, track and monetize their
IP through the $IP Token and the Story ecosystem; and

•         Craft Spirits:    this segment executes and manages our craft distillery business, including
producing, marketing and selling our lines of award-winning craft spirits and the development of
our Tribal Beverage Network.
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Our Cryptocurrency Business

In August 2025, we modified and updated our cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy to focus our
growing cryptocurrency efforts on the Story Network, a decentralized layer 1 blockchain that allows network
participants to register, license and enforce IP assets, using the native utility token of the Story Network, the
$IP Token. This was a shift from our prior treasury reserve policy when we held excess cash primarily in
FDIC-insured interest-bearing accounts. The impetus to adopt this strategy resulted from our desire to obtain
the highest yield on excess cash. Under this approach, our digital asset treasury policy now focuses primarily
on holding $IP Tokens. Our approach involves applying a public-market treasury model to an asset that we
believe is earlier in its lifecycle with respect to both development and usage, as well as institutional adoption,
compared to other, more established cryptocurrencies, such as Bitcoin or Solana. The Digital Assets
Committee of our Board, which manages our treasury reserve policy, will focus efforts and attention on this
digital asset strategy and a significant portion of our balance sheet will be allocated to holding $IP Tokens in
our digital asset treasury. At November 25, 2025, approximately 99% of our digital asset reserves consisted of
$IP Tokens, with the remainder of such assets held in USDC. We do not intend to dedicate any of our
treasury-allocated capital to other digital assets outside of those in the Story ecosystem.

Our treasury strategy is intended to bring value to our stockholders in the following ways:

•         We currently operate a number of validator nodes on the Story Network, which are used to stake
our own $IP Tokens. Third parties can also delegate $IP Tokens to our validator nodes. In a proof-
of-stake network, such as the Story Network, validators earn incremental tokens from their efforts
in securing the network and validating transactions, and typically earn commissions from third
parties who elect to delegate their tokens to validator operators. Any incremental $IP Tokens we
earn in our validator operations will be treated as revenue for us under U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and will provide us an additional source of liquidity.

•         We plan to strategically and opportunistically engage in capital markets issuances, which may
include the issuance of equity, convertible debt or other securities — where we may raise capital
in an accretive fashion for the benefit of our stockholders to purchase and hold additional $IP
Tokens.

•         We expect to stake the majority of the $IP Tokens in our treasury to earn a staking yield and turn
our treasury into a productive asset. At November 25, 2025, we were staking approximately
81.8% of the $IP Tokens in our treasury. We anticipate that early in the first quarter 2026 we will
move most of our $IP Tokens to third-party custodians that will allow us to continue our validator
efforts and to stake our SIP Tokens under longer-term contracts. Unless we need to sell $IP
Tokens to cover operating expenses, we generally intend to keep those $IP Tokens staked going
forward. We do not currently hedge our $IP Tokens and do not have plans to hedge our $IP
Tokens or otherwise to engage in decentralized finance activities at this time, and any future
hedging or decentralized finance activities would be subject to approval by the Digital Assets
Committee of our Board and, if material in amount or scope, will be publicly disclosed.

•         In September 2025, the Digital Assets Committee of our Board approved our sale of covered call
options using less than 2% of the total amount of $IP Tokens we own. We expect to sell call
options that can be exercised if the price of the $IP Token in the market reaches a price that is
25% above the $IP Token price at the time the option is sold. In this way, we believe we earn
yield while still owning the $IP Tokens underlying such options until such time as the price of the
$IP Token in the open market reaches the call threshold.

•         We may strategically purchase additional $IP Tokens from time to time, including through over-
the-counter transactions and strategic partnerships, which could provide gains for our
stockholders.

•         We may sell our $IP Token holdings, whether on the open market, through block trades or in
other negotiated transactions, for various reasons and at various times, which may include for the
repurchase of shares of our common stock when our Board believes such repurchases will result
in the creation of accretive value for our stockholders and at such times when it is legally
permissible to do so. We may also sell unlocked $IP Tokens or $IP Tokens earned from our
validating efforts in the market under certain market conditions to build cash reserves, to grow or
launch new products or services, or to cover ongoing expenses.
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There can be no assurance, however, that the value of $IP Tokens will increase, and investors should
carefully consider the risks associated with digital assets. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our
Cryptocurrency Treasury Reserve Strategy and $IP Tokens” for additional information.

Our Spirits Business

We compete in the craft spirits segment, a growing segment of the overall $288 billion spirits market.
According to the American Craft Spirits Association, a craft distillery is defined generally as a distillery that
produces fewer than 750,000 gallons annually and holds an ownership interest of 51% or more of a distilled
spirits plant that is licensed by the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau of the U.S. Department of the
Treasury. According to Emergen Research, the global craft spirits market was valued at $27.48 billion in
2024, was forecasted to reach $260.65 billion by 2034, and was estimated to grow at a compound annual
growth rate (“CAGR”) of 28.4% by 2034. Out of the more than 2,600 craft producers in North America, we
have been recognized with more awards for our products from the American Distilling Institute, the leading
independent spirits association in the U.S., than any other North American craft distiller for a decade, plus
numerous other Best of Class, Double Gold and Gold medals from multiple national and international spirits
competitions. We are streamlining our craft spirits operations to focus on our most profitable products and
services while reducing overhead expenses. Our areas of focus moving forward will include growing our
online Direct-to-Consumer (DtC) sales, furthering our reach in key U.S. markets through traditional sales
channels (wholesale, on-premises and traditional retail) and expanding our unique and recently-developed
Tribal Beverage Network (“TBN”) sales channel. Based upon our continued track record of winning industry
awards in an increasingly competitive environment, we believe we are one of the leading craft spirits
producers in the United States.

We sell our products through wholesale distribution and by shipping directly to consumers online where
legal. Currently, we sell products primarily in the Pacific Northwest with limited distribution in other states
throughout the U.S. In addition, in collaboration with Native American tribes, we have recently developed a
new sales, manufacturing and distribution channel on tribal lands that we expect will increase and broaden the
recognition of our brand as that network expands nationally.

Our growth strategy is based on three primary areas. First, we are focused on growing our direct-to-
consumer (“DtC”) sales by shipping to legal purchasers to their homes where allowed. We currently use a
three-tier compliant, third-party platform to conduct these sales and deliveries in 46 states in which
approximately 96.8% of the U.S. population reside. This allows us to develop a relationship directly with the
consumer through higher-margin sales while collecting valuable data about our best performing products. We
can then use this data to target the consumer based on location, age, key demographics and product types.
With the data collected, we can also retarget and resell to these customers, thereby generating more revenue.
In May 2025, our board of directors adopted our cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy, which could lead to
our eventual acceptance of cryptocurrencies as a form of payment from customers purchasing our products
online and includes other matters dealing with our handling of cryptocurrencies. We believe this could expand
the number of customers who may be interested in buying our products.

Our DtC sales also support our second growth area, which entails growing our wholesale volume with
our distributors through key national accounts both on-premises and off-premises. By building brand
recognition for key products in selected regions or states through DtC sales, we can better support the
wholesale launch, marketing and product pull-through of those products in partnership with wholesalers in
those targeted states. While DtC sales result in singular high-margin sales, growing volume through
wholesale distribution is the most efficient way to drive large-scale growth across retail chains.

Third, we are focused on expanded growth of our collaboration with Native American tribes through
the TBN model we created. In concert with tribal partners, this sales channel includes Heritage-branded micro
production hubs, Heritage-branded stores and tasting rooms and the sale of our products and new tribally-
branded products. In the typical TBN collaboration, the tribes will own these businesses and we will receive a
royalty on gross sales through licenses we grant to use our brands, products, recipes, programs, IP, new
product development, on-going compliance support and the other support we provide. The TBN is expected
to form a network of regional locations that will support product trials and sampling, and will generate sales
of finished spirits for retail and wholesale distribution. We expect that, as the brands grow and the TBN
footprint expands,
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there will be an important synergy with increased adoption and growth through our wholesale channels in the
regions where the TBN locations are driving trial and awareness. Similarly, as demand for our products grows
through our wholesale channels, there should be a positive effect on the demand for the products produced by
our tribal partners.

Recent Developments

The Equity Line of Credit.     On January 23, 2025, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement
dated as of January 23, 2025 (the “ELOC Purchase Agreement”) between our company and C/M Capital
Master Fund LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “ELOC Investor”) establishing a committed equity
facility (the “Facility” or “Equity Line of Credit”). Pursuant to and subject to the conditions set forth in the
ELOC Purchase Agreement, we have the right from time to time at our option to direct the ELOC Investor to
purchase shares of our common stock (the “ELOC Shares”) up to the lesser of (i) a maximum aggregate
purchase price of $15,000,000 (the “Maximum Commitment Amount”), and (ii) the Exchange Cap (as
defined in the ELOC Purchase Agreement), subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in the
ELOC Purchase Agreement. Sales of the ELOC Shares to the ELOC Investor under the ELOC Purchase
Agreement, and the timing of any sales, will be determined by us from time to time in our sole discretion and
will depend on a variety of factors, including, among others, market conditions, the trading price of our
shares and determinations by us regarding the use of proceeds from any sale of such ELOC Shares. The net
proceeds from any sales under the Facility will depend on the frequency with, and prices at, which the ELOC
Shares are sold to the ELOC Investor.

Pursuant to the ELOC Purchase Agreement, we sold to the ELOC Investor for an aggregate purchase
price of $1,000,000 an aggregate of 100,000 shares of our Series B Preferred Stock, of which 50,000 shares
were sold on January 23, 2025 in connection with the execution of the ELOC Purchase Agreement and
50,000 shares were sold on February 5, 2025. Each such share of Series B Preferred Stock had a purchase
price of $10.00 per share with a stated value of $12.00 per share and required the payment of dividends at the
rate of 15% per annum of the stated value (or $1.80 per share). Any time following the six month anniversary
of the day on which such Series B Preferred Stock was sold, such Series B Preferred Stock was convertible
by the ELOC Investor into a number of shares of common stock determined by dividing (a) an amount equal
to 110% of the sum of (i) the stated value plus (ii) the amount of all accrued and unpaid dividends, by (b) the
then-applicable conversion price, provided that we and the ELOC Investor entered into a letter agreement
dated January 23, 2025 under which the ELOC Investor agreed that it would not convert shares of Series B
Preferred Stock for a number of shares of common stock that would give it and its affiliates beneficial
ownership of an amount of common stock greater than 1% of the total outstanding common stock after giving
effect to such conversion. The conversion price of the Series B Preferred Stock issued to the ELOC Investor
was originally $22.00 per share, subject to adjustment, which was subsequently adjusted to $9.472 per share
based on the price per share at which we subsequently sold shares of our common stock. The Series B
Preferred Stock was subject to redemption by us at our option at any time, but subject to any restrictions on
such redemption in our credit facilities, at a redemption price equal to the stated value of the Series B
Preferred Stock to be redeemed plus any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon. In addition to the Series B
Preferred Stock sold to the ELOC Investor pursuant to the ELOC Purchase Agreement, in April 2025, the
ELOC Investor purchased 15,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock for $150,000, with a conversion price of
$12.20 per share, which was subsequently adjusted to $9.472 per share. All of the shares of Series B Preferred
Stock acquired by the ELOC Investor to date have been converted to common stock.

In accordance with our obligations under the ELOC Purchase Agreement and the Registration Rights
Agreement, dated as of January 23, 2025, between our company and the ELOC Investor (the “ELOC
Registration Rights Agreement”), we have filed registration statements under the Securities Act to register the
resale by the ELOC Investor of up to 750,000 of the ELOC Shares that we may elect, in our sole discretion,
to issue and sell to the ELOC Investor, from time to time under the ELOC Purchase Agreement. Unless
earlier terminated, the ELOC Purchase Agreement will remain in effect until the earlier of: (i) the expiry of
the 36-month period commencing on the Commencement Date (as defined in the ELOC Purchase
Agreement), (ii) the date on which the ELOC Investor has purchased the Maximum Commitment Amount
(the “Commitment Period”), or (iii) an earlier date mutually agreed upon by both us and the ELOC Investor
in the future.

Under the terms of the ELOC Purchase Agreement, the ELOC Investor may not purchase any ELOC
Shares under the ELOC Purchase Agreement if such shares, when aggregated with all other shares then
beneficially owned by the ELOC Investor and its affiliates (as calculated pursuant to Section 13(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
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as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Rule13d-3 promulgated thereunder) would result in the ELOC
Investor beneficially owning shares in excess of 4.99% of the number of our shares outstanding immediately
after giving effect to the issuance of shares issuable pursuant to any notice we provide to the ELOC Investor
requesting the purchase of such shares.

Through November 25, 2025, we had sold an aggregate of 598,140 shares of common stock to the
ELOC Investor under the ELOC Purchase Agreement for which we received aggregate gross proceeds in the
amount of $4,817,235.

Private Placement of Additional Shares of Series B Preferred Stock.     Including the shares of
Series B Preferred Stock sold to the ELOC Investor under the ELOC Purchase Agreement as discussed
above, between January 23, 2025 and July 7, 2025, we sold in a private placement to 15 accredited investors
an aggregate of 756,854 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, with certain investors receiving warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 42,619 shares of common stock for $0.20 per share. We received aggregate gross
proceeds of $7,568,557 from the sale of Series B Preferred Stock, of which: $2,916,810 for 291,681 shares of
Series B Preferred Stock was from cash investors; $4,092,567 for 409,256 shares of Series B Preferred Stock
was from the exchange of 284,140 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and related warrants to purchase 3,785
shares of common stock at $80.00 per share; $392,000 (for 39,200 shares of Series B Preferred Stock with an
adjusted conversion price of $9.472 per share of common stock) was from the exchange of prepaid warrants
to purchase 35,000 shares of common stock at a VWAP of $11.20 per prepaid warrant; and $167,180 (for
16,717 shares of Series B Preferred Stock with a conversion price of $10.20 per share of common stock) was
from the exchange of prepaid warrants to purchase 16,393 shares of common stock at a VWAP of $11.20 per
prepaid warrant. The 756,854 shares of Series B Preferred Stock had conversion prices ranging from $9.47
per share to $22.40 per share and a weighted average conversion price of $9.57 per share.

In connection with the closing of our offering of Pre-Funded Warrants discussed below, we entered into
exchange agreements with all but two holders of our Series B Preferred Stock pursuant to which we
exchanged 629,873 shares of Series B Preferred Stock that were convertible into 894,866 shares of common
stock for (i) 44,742 shares of common stock; (ii) warrants with an exercise price of $0.20 per share that are
exercisable to purchase an aggregate of 447,433 shares of common stock at the earlier of (a) the date on
which the public market price of our common stock closes at $30.00 per share or higher during a
regular trading day or (b) the three-month anniversary of the warrant issuance date; and (iii) warrants with an
exercise price of $0.20 per share that are exercisable to purchase an aggregate of 402,690 shares of common
stock at the earlier of (a) the date on which the public market price of our common stock closes at $40.00 per
share or higher during a regular trading day or (b) the six-month anniversary of the warrant issuance date. No
shares of Series B Preferred Stock are currently outstanding.

The purchasers of our Series B Preferred Stock are included among the Selling Stockholders included
in this prospectus and we have registered under the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a
part the 44,077 outstanding shares of common stock we issued upon the exchange of shares of Series B
Preferred Stock and the 837,474 shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of certain
outstanding warrants we issued in connection with the exchange of shares of Series B Preferred Stock.

Private Placement of Pre-Funded Warrants.    On August 15, 2025, we sold in a private placement to
institutional and accredited investors pre-funded warrants (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) to purchase an
aggregate of 18,518,921 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $12.084 per Pre-Funded Warrant, for
an aggregate purchase price of $223.8 million, before deducting placement agent fees and other offering
expenses. Included among the purchasers in the offering were Story Foundation, which purchased Pre-
Funded Warrants to purchase 5.389,091 shares of common stock; Justin Stiefel, our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, who purchased Pre-Funded Warrants to purchase 165,480 shares of common stock; and
Andrew Varga, a director of our company, who purchased Pre-Funded Warrants to purchase 15,000 shares of
common stock.

Of the total $223.8 million purchase price for the Pre-Funded Warrants, $35.5 million was paid in cash,
$59.5 million was paid in the cryptocurrency stablecoin commonly referred to as USDC (“USDC”), based on
a purchase price of $1.00 per USDC, and $128.8 million was paid in $IP Tokens, which were valued for
purposes of such offering at (i) $5.2413 (representing a 20% discount from the closing price of $IP Tokens on
August 8, 2025 as reported by CoinMarketCap.com) in the case of the Story Core Contributors (as defined in
the subscription agreements for the offering), (ii) $3.40 (representing an approximately 48% discount from
the closing price of $IP
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Tokens on August 8, 2025 as reported by CoinMarketCap.com) in the case of Story Foundation, or
(iii) $6.5516 (the reported closing price of $IP Tokens on August 8, 2025 as reported by CoinMarketCap.com)
in the case of all other purchasers.

The Pre-Funded Warrants issued in the offering were originally exercisable to purchase an aggregate of
18,518,921 shares of common stock (the “Pre-Funded Warrant Shares”) at an exercise price of $0.002 per
share. Following receipt of the approval by our stockholders of the issuance of the Pre-Funded Warrants and
Pre-Funded Warrant Shares upon exercise thereof, on September 18, 2025, Pre-Funded Warrants to purchase
an aggregate of 7,180,833 Pre-Funded Warrant Shares were exercised to acquire such shares. The remaining
11,338,110 Pre-Funded Warrants outstanding are exercisable in cash or by means of a cashless exercise and
will not expire until the date the Pre-Funded Warrants are fully exercised.

The exercise price of the Pre-Funded Warrants is subject to adjustment for stock dividends, stock splits,
recapitalizations and the like. A holder (together with its affiliates) may not exercise any portion of a Pre-
Funded Warrant to the extent that the holder would own more than 4.99% of our outstanding common stock
immediately after exercise (the “Beneficial Ownership Limitation”), except that upon at least 61 days’ prior
notice from the holder to us, the holder may increase the amount of ownership of outstanding stock after
exercising the holder’s Pre-Funded Warrants up to 19.99% of the number of shares of common stock
outstanding immediately after giving effect to the exercise, as such percentage ownership is determined in
accordance with the terms of the Pre-Funded Warrants. As a result of the approval of the offering of Pre-
Funded Warrants by our stockholders on September 18, 2025, a holder of Pre-Funded Warrants may now
request the permanent suspension of the Beneficial Ownership Limitation from such holder’s Pre-Funded
Warrants.

We received net cash proceeds (inclusive of proceeds paid in USDC) of $95.0 million from the offering
of Pre-Funded Warrants and used (i) approximately $80.0 million of such net proceeds to purchase $IP
Tokens from Story Foundation at a price per $IP Token of $3.40, and (ii) approximately $7.0 million of such
net proceeds for the repayment of indebtedness. We used the remaining net proceeds for the payment of
outstanding trade payables, working capital and general corporate purposes, and for the establishment of our
cryptocurrency treasury operations to the extent consistent with our investment policy as amended or
otherwise modified from time to time.

In anticipation of the offering of Pre-Funded Warrants, between June 19, 2025 and August 10, 2025, we
entered into advisory and implementation agreements (the “Advisory Agreements”) with Open World, Inc.
and certain of its management and affiliates, S.Y. Lee, the founder and chief executive officer of PIP Labs, the
original creator of Story, and certain other advisors to our company (collectively, the “Advisors”), pursuant to
which the Advisors will provide to us certain consulting, strategy and business development services related
to our establishment of a treasury function in certain non-security cryptocurrencies, including $IP Tokens.
Pursuant to the Advisory Agreements, in consideration for the advisory services of the Advisors, we issued to
certain Advisors an aggregate of 323,854 shares of common stock, warrants (the “Advisory Warrants”) to
purchase up to an aggregate of 875,000 shares of common stock for a purchase price of $0.20 per share, with
each Advisory Warrant subject to vesting, forfeiture and such other terms as are set forth therein, and
restricted stock units that, upon vesting, will settle into an aggregate of 125,000 shares of common stock.

For additional information about our offering of Pre-Funded Warrants, see “Issuance of Securities to
Selling Stockholders — Offering of Pre-Funded Warrants” commencing on page 66.

Risks Associated with Our Business

Our ability to execute our business strategy is subject to numerous risks, as more fully described in the
section captioned “Risk Factors” immediately following this prospectus summary. You should read these risks
before you invest in our common stock. Risks associated with our business include, but are not limited to, the
following:

•         Our operating history and evolving business make it difficult to evaluate our prospects and risks.

•         We have a history of losses and may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

•         Our historical financial statements do not reflect the potential variability in earnings that we may
experience in the future relating to our $IP Token holdings. Moreover, our quarterly operating
results, revenues, and expenses may fluctuate significantly, which could have an adverse effect on
the market price of our common stock.
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•         Actions related to cryptocurrencies, including but not limited to, accepting, accumulating or
acquiring $IP Tokens or other cryptocurrencies, and risks associated with their volatility, stability,
price, utilization, adoption, recognition, regulation, taxation, storage, handling and security of
transacting, holding or using such cryptocurrencies in our business, could impact our financial
condition, liquidity and profitability.

•         The price of $IP Tokens has been highly volatile and such volatility may adversely affect our
results of operations and stock price.

•         $IP Tokens and other digital assets are novel assets and are subject to significant legal,
commercial, tax, regulatory and technical uncertainty, which could materially adversely affect our
financial position, operations and prospects.

•         In connection with our focus on $IP Tokens, we expect to interact with various smart contracts
deployed on the Story Network, which may expose us to risks and technical vulnerabilities.

•         There is a possibility that $IP Tokens may be classified as a “security,” which would subject us to
additional regulation and could materially impact the operations of our treasury strategy and our
business.

•         We face risks relating to the custody of our digital assets, including the loss or destruction of
private keys required to access our digital assets and cyberattacks or other data loss relating to our
digital assets, including smart contract related losses and vulnerabilities.

•         We could be materially adversely affected by health concerns such as, or similar to, the COVID-
19 pandemic, food-borne illnesses, and negative publicity regarding food quality, illness, injury or
other health concerns.

•         We face experienced and well capitalized competition and could lose market share to these
competitors.

•         We could fail to attract, retain, motivate or integrate our personnel.

•         We may not be able to maintain and continue developing our reputation and brand recognition.

•         We could fail to maintain our company culture as we grow, which could negatively affect our
business.

•         Our growth strategy will subject us to additional costs, compliance requirements, and risks.

•         We could fail to effectively manage our growth and optimize our organizational structure.

•         There may be uncertainties with respect to the legal systems in the jurisdictions in which we
operate.

•         As we expand our product offerings, we may become subject to additional laws and regulations.

•         We may be subject to claims, lawsuits, government investigations, and other proceedings.

•         Our failure to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights could harm our business.

•         Claims by others that we infringed their intellectual property rights could harm our business.

•         Changes in laws relating to privacy and data protection could adversely affect our business.

•         We are subject to changing laws regarding regulatory matters, corporate governance, and public
disclosure that could adversely affect our business or operations.

•         We could lose momentum with our TBN efforts, or fail to secure substantial numbers of new
agreements, or fail to maintain the agreements we already have. As it relates to TBN, we could
also see a degradation of our brand if we cannot ensure product quality and consistency
throughout all locations.

•         Our failure to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting could
adversely affect our ability to present accurately our financial statements and could materially and
adversely affect us, including our business, reputation, results of operations, financial condition or
liquidity.
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Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company and a Smaller Reporting Company

We qualify as an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups
Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. For as long as we remain an emerging growth company, we may take
advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public
companies. These provisions include, but are not limited to:

•         being permitted to have only two years of audited financial statements and only two years of
related selected financial data and management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition
and results of operations disclosure;

•         an exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our
internal control over financial reporting pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended,
or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

•         reduced disclosure about executive compensation arrangements in our periodic reports,
registration statements, and proxy statements; and

•         exemptions from the requirements to seek non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation
or golden parachute arrangements.

In addition, the JOBS Act permits emerging growth companies to take advantage of an extended
transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies. We are
not choosing to “opt out” of this provision. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of
(i) the end of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our November 2024 initial
public offering, (ii) the first fiscal year after our annual gross revenues exceed $1.235 billion, (iii) the date on
which we have, during the immediately preceding three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-
convertible debt securities or (iv) the end of any fiscal year in which the market value of our common stock
held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of the second quarter of that fiscal year.

We are also a “smaller reporting company,” meaning that the market value of our stock held by non-
affiliates plus the proposed aggregate amount of gross proceeds to us as a result of this offering is less than
$700 million and our annual revenue is less than $100 million during the most recently completed fiscal year.
We may continue to be a smaller reporting company after this offering if either (i) the market value of our
stock held by non-affiliates is less than $250 million or (ii) our annual revenue is less than $100 million
during the most recently completed fiscal year and the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates is less
than $700 million. If we are a smaller reporting company at the time we cease to be an emerging growth
company, we may continue to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are available to
smaller reporting companies. Specifically, as a smaller reporting company, we may choose to present only the
two most recent fiscal years of audited financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and, similar
to emerging growth companies, smaller reporting companies have reduced disclosure obligations regarding
executive compensation.

Our Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware on April 25, 2019. Heritage Distilling Company, Inc.
(“HDC”) was incorporated in the State of Washington on July 19, 2011 to own and operate a network of craft
distilleries for the purpose of creating products and services around craft distilling, blending, bottling and
marketing premium distilled spirits. HDC’s first distillery began production in late 2012 in Gig Harbor,
Washington. On March 4, 2019, as part of a corporate restructuring, HDC became our wholly-owned
subsidiary.

In September 2025, in connection with the amendment to our cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy,
we formed IP Strategy, LLC (“IP Strategy Sub”) in the State of Nevada to conduct our $IP Token staking
business and we filed in Delaware to do business under the name IP Strategy. We have since started to brand
our company as IP Strategy while maintaining Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc. as our registered
corporate name. On September 22, 2025, we also changed our common stock ticker symbol on the Nasdaq
stock market from CASK to IPST.

As a result of such restructuring, we are now a holding company and IP Strategy Sub, HDC and
Thinking Tree Spirits are our operating subsidiaries through which all of our business is conducted. Our
principal executive offices are located at 9668 Bujacich Road, Gig Harbor, Washington 98332, and our
telephone number is (253) 509-0008. Our website address is www.HeritageDistilling.com. Information on our
website is not part of this prospectus.
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About This Offering

Common stock outstanding prior to this offering   9,559,321 shares.

Shares of common stock offered by the Selling
Stockholders

 
Up to 21,092,156 shares of common stock, including
(i) 7,925,128 outstanding shares of common stock, (ii)
13,042,028 shares of common stock issuable upon the
exercise of outstanding warrants held by certain of the
Selling Stockholders, including 13,019,528 shares
issuable upon the exercise of warrants with an exercise
price of $0.20 or less, and (iii) 125,000 shares of
common stock issuable upon the vesting and
settlement of restricted stock units held by certain of
the Selling Stockholders.

Common stock to be outstanding after this offering
 

22,726,349 shares, assuming the issuance of common
stock to be sold hereunder upon the exercise of
warrants and the vesting and settlement of restricted
stock units held by the Selling Stockholders.

Use of proceeds   We are not selling any common stock under this
prospectus and will not receive any proceeds from the
sale or other disposition of shares by the Selling
Stockholders. We will, however, receive the net
proceeds of any warrants exercised for cash.

Terms of this offering
 

The Selling Stockholders, including their respective
transferees, donees, pledgees, assignees, and
successors-in-interest, may sell, transfer, or otherwise
dispose of any or all of the shares of common stock
offered by this prospectus from time to time on the
Nasdaq Capital Market or any other stock exchange,
market or trading facility on which the shares are
traded or in private transactions. The shares of
common stock may be sold at fixed prices, at market
prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to
prevailing market price or at negotiated prices.

Nasdaq symbol
 

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital
Market under the symbol “IPST.”

Risk Factors   Investing in our securities involves significant risks.
Before making a decision whether to invest in our
securities, please read the information under the
heading “Risk Factors” in this prospectus and under
similar headings in other documents filed after the
date hereof that supplement this prospectus. See
“Where You Can Find More Information.”

Shares of our common stock to be outstanding upon completion of this offering are based on 9,559,321
shares of our common stock outstanding as of November 25, 2025, assumes the issuance of the shares of
common stock to be sold by the Selling Stockholders hereunder upon the exercise of warrants and the vesting
and settlement of restricted stock units held by the Selling Stockholders, and excludes as of such date:

•         Up to 991,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants with an exercise
price of $6.00 per share that are exercisable at any time unless such exercise would cause the
holder to beneficially own more than 4.99% of our outstanding shares of common stock and that
expire between August 2028 and August 2029;
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•         114 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options issued under
our 2019 Equity Incentive Plan with an exercise price of $3,157.80 per share that expire between
December 2025 and September 2026;

•         Up to 31,180 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants that will be
exercisable, if at all, when the volume weighted average price per share (“VWAP”) of our
common stock over a 10-trading-day period reaches $160.00 per share, provided the warrant
holder continuously holds the shares such holder owned on May 31, 2023 through the date the
warrant is exercised, and that will expire on November 25, 2026;

•         Up to 62,470 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants that will be
exercisable, if at all, when the VWAP of our common stock over a 10-trading-day period reaches
$240.00 per share, provided the warrant holder continuously holds the shares such holder owned
on May 31, 2023 through the date the warrant is exercised, and that will expire on May 25, 2027;

•         Up to 78,108 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants that will be
exercisable, if at all, when the VWAP of our common stock over a 10-trading-day period reaches
$400.00 per share, provided the warrant holder continuously holds the shares such holder owned
on May 31, 2023 through the date the warrant is exercised, and that will expire on November 25,
2029;

•         Up to 44,191 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants when the VWAP of
our common stock over a 10-trading-day period reaches $160.00 per share, provided the warrant
holder continuously holds the shares such holder acquired after May 31, 2023 through the date
the warrant is exercised, and that will expire on April 1, 2028;

•         Up to 6,498 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants with an exercise price
of $80.00 per share that are exercisable at any time unless such exercise would cause the holder to
beneficially own more than 4.99% of our outstanding shares of common stock and that expire in
June 2029;

•         Up to 35,042 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants with an exercise
price of $0.20 per share that are exercisable at any time unless such exercise would cause the
holder to beneficially own more than 4.99% of our outstanding shares of common stock;

•         Up to 4,211 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants with an exercise price
of $80.00 per share that expire in November 2029; and

•         Up to 42,405 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of our outstanding shares of
Series A Preferred Stock (including any bonuses and dividends accrued through November 25,
2025), which shares are convertible at any time unless such conversion would cause the holder to
beneficially own more than 4.99% of our outstanding shares of common stock.

Except as otherwise noted, all information in this prospectus:

•         gives effect to the 0.57-for-one reverse stock split of our outstanding shares of common stock that
occurred on May 14, 2024 and the one-for-20 reverse stock split of our outstanding shares of
common stock that occurred on November 5, 2025; and

•         assumes no exercise of the outstanding options and warrants described above.
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following
information about these risks, together with the other information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus,
including our financial statements, the notes thereto and the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” before deciding to invest in our securities. The
occurrence of any of the following risks could have a material and adverse effect on our business, reputation,
financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects, as well as our ability to accomplish our
strategic objectives. As a result, the trading price of our securities could decline, and you could lose all or part
of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem
immaterial may also impair our business operations and stock price.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Capital Needs

We have a history of losses and our profitability may be subject to large swings in the future due to changes
in the value of the $IP Tokens we own based on their value in the market.

We have a history of operating losses, including operating losses of $10,248,970, $6,604,653,
$14,918,810, and $11,264,559 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 and the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and have incurred net losses in each prior year since our inception
other than in 2021, the year in which we sold a controlling interest in our B S B — B rown S ugar B ourbon
(“Flavored Bourbon”) brand. While we had an operating profit of $1,855,202 and net income of $196,263,893
for the three month period ended September 30, 2025 due primarily to our recognition of crypto and other
related revenues from our recently-created validator operations and staking rewards) and as a result of the
increase in the fair value of our $IP Token investment, for which we recognized a $245,841,410 gain on change
in fair value of intangible digital assets, there can be no assurance that we will continue to produce sufficient
revenue from our crypto and related operations and/or spirits operations or to recognize continued or consistent
gains on our $IP Token treasury reserve to support our costs. We must continue to generate and sustain higher
revenue levels (and/or lower cost levels) in future periods to remain profitable, and, even if we do, we may not
be able to maintain or increase our profitability. While we are implementing structural changes at the beginning
of 2026 in our spirits segment to reduce expenses and overhead, there can be no assurance that such changes
will make our spirits segment profitable. In addition, we expect to continue to incur substantial gains and losses
from changes in the fair value of our intangible digital assets for the foreseeable future. Our crypto and other
related revenue will also be expected to fluctuate as the value of the $IP Tokens, in which the revenue is paid,
fluctuates. We expect to continue to expend substantial financial and other resources on, among other things:

•         sales and marketing, including expanding our marketing programs, particularly for larger customers
and for expanding our Tribal Beverage Network efforts;

•         the development of new formulations and enhancements of our existing brands;

•         general administration, including legal, accounting and other expenses related to being a public
company;

•         Increases in insurance premiums related to our digital asset treasury holdings and strategy; and

•         Specific spirits-related wind-down expenses, equipment or tenant improvement write downs, or
adjustments for retail locations we plan to close or equipment we plan to take offline as we reduce
our real estate footprint, move to third-party production and work to get asset-light.

These expenditures may not result in additional revenue or the growth of our business. Accordingly, we
may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to offset our expected cost increases and achieve and sustain
profitability. If we fail to achieve and sustain profitability, the market price of our common stock could decline.
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Our historical financial statements do not reflect the potential variability in earnings that we may experience
in the future relating to our $IP Token holdings. Moreover, our quarterly operating results, revenues, and
expenses may fluctuate significantly, which could have an adverse effect on the market price of our common
stock.

Our historical financial statements do not reflect the potential variability in earnings that we may
experience in the future from holding or selling significant amounts of $IP Tokens.

The price of $IP Tokens is subject to dramatic price fluctuations and is highly volatile. For example, from
February 13, 2025 (the date $IP Tokens first became available on digital asset trading platforms) through
November 25, 2025, the price of $IP Tokens, as reported by Coinbase.com, ranged from a low of $1.246 to a
high of $14.933. We determine the fair value of our $IP Tokens based on prices reported by Coinbase.com, and
pursuant to Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-08 (“ASU 2023-08”), we are required to measure our $IP
Token holdings at fair value in our statement of financial position and to recognize gains and losses from
changes in the fair value of our $IP Tokens in net income each reporting period, which may create significant
volatility in our reported earnings and decrease the carrying value of our digital assets, which in turn could have
a material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock. Conversely, any sale of $IP Tokens at prices
above our carrying value for such assets would create a gain for financial reporting purposes even if we would
otherwise incur an economic or tax loss with respect to such transaction, which also may result in significant
volatility in our reported earnings.

Because we intend to purchase additional $IP Tokens in future periods and increase our overall holdings
of $IP Tokens, we expect that the proportion of our total assets represented by our $IP Token holdings will
increase in the future. As a result, volatility in our earnings may be significantly more than what we experienced
in prior periods.

For many reasons, including those described below, our operating results, revenues, and expenses may
vary significantly in the future from quarter to quarter. These fluctuations could have an adverse effect on the
market price of our listed securities.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate, in part, as a result of:

•         fluctuations in the price of $IP Tokens, of which we have significant holdings and with respect to
which we expect to continue to make significant future purchases, and potential fair value changes
associated therewith;

•         any sales by us of our $IP Tokens at prices above or below their carrying value, which would result
in our recording gains or losses upon sale of our $IP Tokens;

•         the incurrence of tax liabilities on future unrealized gains on our $IP Tokens pursuant to ASU 2023-
08;

•         regulatory, commercial, and technical developments related to $IP Tokens or the Story blockchain,
or digital assets more generally;

•         the impact of war, terrorism, infectious diseases (such as COVID-19), natural disasters and other
global events, and government responses to such events, on the global economy and the market for
and price of $IP Tokens;

•         our profitability and expectations for future profitability; and

•         increases or decreases in our unrecognized tax benefits.

We base our operating expense budgets on expected revenue trends and strategic objectives. Many of our
expenses, such as office leases and certain personnel costs, are relatively fixed. We may be unable to adjust
spending quickly enough to offset any unexpected shortfall in our cash flow. Accordingly, we may be required
to take actions to pay expenses, such as selling $IP Tokens or using proceeds from equity or debt financings,
some of which could cause significant variation in operating results in any quarter.
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Based on the above factors, we believe quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results are not a
good indication of our future performance. It is possible that in one or more future quarters, our operating
results may be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors. In that event, the market price of
our common stock may fall.

Risks associated with our net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards, tax liabilities and fluctuations between
reporting periods could adversely affect our results of operations and financing costs and the market price of
our common stock.

As of September 30, 2025, we recorded a provision for income taxes of 21% and a deferred income tax
liability of $49.4 million based on our 2025 year-to-date net income before income taxes. In recording the
deferred tax liability, we fully reserved against our net operating loss carryforwards without assuming the use of
any of our accrued loss carryforwards at this time. We are awaiting the completion of a Section 382 NOL review
to determine to what extent past NOLs can be used in the future, and if so, how much and over what period of
time they can be used. As of December 31, 2024, we had $61.2 million of federal NOL carryforwards, some or
all of which could be used to offset the currently-booked net income to reduce any possible tax liability. The
need for the Section 382 review was triggered by the size of our August 15, 2025 private placement of Pre-
Funded Warrants, the total number of new shares of common stock that are issuable as a result of such offering
relative to our previously outstanding shares of common stock and the potential ownership changes that would
result from the issuance of such shares. We anticipate the Section 382 report will be finalized prior to December
31, 2025, which would allow for a full-year tax and NOL reconciliation taking into account the value of our $IP
Tokens as of December 31, 2025 and any resulting gain or loss to be recognized based on that final value.

While we believe some amount of our NOLs will be available to use in the future, since the amount
cannot yet be quantified, we have elected to fully reserve against the use of any such tax benefits in our
financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2025. Further, the net income and the resulting
tax for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2025 was based on the fair value of $8.54 per $IP Token as
of September 30, 2025. Given the lowest closing price of the $IP Token of $1.48 subsequent to September 30,
2025 (at the close of December 22, 2025), the currently reported gain on change in fair value of intangible
digital assets reported for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2025 could be offset by losses on change
in fair value of intangible digital assets in the quarter ended December 31, 2025. We would then anticipate
reducing or eliminating any tax liability in the aggregate for the full year ending December 31, 2025.

There is a risk that we are not able to use all of our NOLs to offset income and other tax liabilities
resulting from our revenue and change in fair value of our intangible digital assets. There is also a risk that
because of the volatility of the $IP Token between reporting quarters, that large swings in the closing price of
the $IP Token at the end of each reporting period could result in large increases or decreases in the change in
fair value of those intangible digital assets. As a result, our estimate of a full year’s net income and resulting tax
liability at any one point in time during the tax year is subject to dramatic changes from reporting period to
reporting period and can only be known after the full year has ended. There could be large swings (both positive
and negative) between each quarter’s net income or loss due to the change in fair value of the intangible digital
asset, and such swings (both positive and negative) may not be fully representative of the actual full year’s net
income, nor the amount of tax due for the year.

Sustained or increasing inflation could adversely impact our operations and our financial condition.

The inflation rate could remain high or increase in the foreseeable future. This could put cost pressure on
our company faster than we can raise prices on our products. In such cases, we could lose money on products,
or our margins or profits could decline. In other cases, consumers may choose to forgo making purchases that
they do not deem to be essential, thereby impacting our growth plans. Likewise, labor pressures could continue
to increase as employees become increasingly focused on their own standard of living, putting upward labor
costs on our company before we have achieved some or all of our growth plans. Our management continues to
focus on cost containment and is monitoring the risks associated with inflation and will continue to do so for the
foreseeable future. However, sustained or increasing inflation could adversely impact our operations, results of
operations and financial condition.
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Small Business Association (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan repayment risk and timing.

In April 2022, we were advised we may have received a PPP loan over the amount we were qualified for
in Round 1 of that program, and in April 2023, we received a similar notification for our Round 2 PPP loan.
Those loans were part of the federal government’s relief package in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
SBA had forgiven both loans as we had followed all rules associated with the use of proceeds under that
program. It is possible that the SBA may determine that we must repay some of the amounts we received as PPP
loans. If a demand is made by the SBA for some repayment, it is unclear at this time what the payment term
length would be for such repayment and there is a risk that the SBA may require immediate payment or
payment on a timeline that is shorter than we anticipate. Any demand for repayment could reduce our working
capital and available cash in a way that adversely impacts on our ability to execute our business and operating
plans. If the SBA demands that we repay any amounts owed more than the amount of our available cash, it
could force us to raise new capital under less than favorable terms that could be dilutive to stockholders, or to
take on debt that could have higher borrowing costs. As of September 30, 2025, the total exposure for these two
loans was $2,269,456, plus accrued interest of $112,851.

Certain sales under our equity line of credit may adversely affect our business, market perception and stock
price.

Certain sales of our common stock under our equity line of credit could adversely impact our company.
On January 23, 2025, we entered into the ELOC Purchase Agreement with the ELOC Investor pursuant to
which we, subject to the restrictions and satisfaction of the conditions in the ELOC Purchase Agreement, have
the right, but not the obligation, to sell to the ELOC Investor, and the ELOC Investor is obligated to purchase,
up to $15.0 million of newly-issued shares of our common stock. On July 21, 2025, we and our placement
agents commenced the confidential marketing of our common stock and the Pre-Funded Warrants to a limited
number of institutional accredited investors and qualified institutional buyers. Between July 21, 2025 and
July 30, 2025, while such confidential marketing was in process and continuing, we sold to the ELOC Investor
an aggregate of 427,526 shares of common stock pursuant to the ELOC Purchase Agreement for aggregate
gross proceeds of approximately $3,396,161, at prices ranging from $6.40 to $9.00 per share. We ceased selling
shares of common stock under the ELOC Purchase Agreement on July 30, 2025, and no further sales have
occurred under the ELOC Purchase Agreement since that date. After giving effect to the sales of common stock
under the ELOC Purchase Agreement through July 30, 2025, we had 1,181,192 shares of common stock issued
and outstanding on such date. While we believe we acted in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws
and regulations in making such sales, it is possible that regulatory authorities or other parties could assert that
material non-public information may have existed at the time of such sales. If such claims were made or are
proven to be successful, such sales of common stock could result in regulatory inquiries, civil investigations,
cease-and-desist orders, other potential administrative actions or private litigation brought by investors or
damages resulting from such private actions. While we would vigorously defend our company in any such
matters, responding to or resolving such actions could involve costs, divert management resources, and
potentially impact our business, market perception and stock price.

We could be materially adversely affected by health concerns such as, or similar to, the COVID-19 pandemic,
food-borne illnesses, and negative publicity regarding food quality, illness, injury or other health concerns.

The United States and other countries have experienced, or may experience in the future, outbreaks of
viruses, such as the current outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, norovirus, Avian Flu or “SARS,” or H1N1. If
a virus is transmitted by human contact, our employees or customers may become infected, or may choose, or
be advised, to avoid gathering in public places, any of which may adversely affect the customer traffic of our
tasting rooms and our ability to adequately staff our tasting rooms, receive deliveries on a timely basis or
perform functions at the corporate level. We also may be adversely affected if jurisdictions in which we, or the
tribes in our TBN, have distilleries or tasting rooms impose mandatory closures, seek voluntary closures or
impose restrictions on operations. Even if such measures are not implemented and a virus or other disease does
not spread significantly, the perceived risk of infection or significant health risk may adversely affect our
business.

A health pandemic (such as the COVID-19 pandemic) is a disease outbreak that spreads rapidly and
widely by infection and affects many individuals in an area or population at the same time. Our tasting rooms
are places where people can gather for human connection. Customers might avoid public gathering
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places in the event of a health pandemic, and local, regional or national governments might limit or ban public
gatherings to halt or delay the spread of disease. The impact of a health pandemic on us might be
disproportionately greater than on other food service locations that have lower customer traffic and that depend
less on the gathering of people.

In addition, we cannot guarantee that our operational controls and employee training will be effective in
preventing food-borne illnesses, food tampering and other food safety issues that may affect our tasting rooms.
Food-borne illness or food tampering incidents could be caused by customers, employees or food suppliers and
transporters and, therefore, could be outside of our control. Any negative publicity relating to health concerns or
the perceived or specific outbreaks of food-borne illnesses, food tampering or other food safety issues attributed
to one or more of our tasting rooms, or the tasting rooms of any of the tribes in our TBN, could result in a
significant decrease in guest traffic in all of our tasting rooms or the tasting rooms of the tribes in our TBN, and
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. Furthermore, similar publicity or occurrences
with respect to other tasting rooms or restaurants could also decrease our guest traffic and have a similar
material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

COVID-19 did not have a material impact on our operations, supply chain, liquidity or capital resources
in 2023 as all state restrictions were lifted in 2022. However, future shutdowns related to additional or increased
outbreaks could have a negative impact on our operations, including voluntary or mandatory temporary closures
of our facilities or offices; interruptions in our supply chain, which could impact the cost or availability of raw
materials; disruptions or restrictions on our ability to travel or to market and distribute our products; reduced
consumer demand for our products or those of our customers due to bar and restaurant closures or reduced
consumer traffic in bars, restaurants and other locations where our products or those of our customers are sold;
and labor shortages. Because of our industry, we were deemed an “essential business” in the states in which we
operate (Washington and Oregon), which allowed us to remain open during the COVID-19 pandemic. In the
event of future shutdowns related to additional or increased outbreaks of COVID-19 or any other health crises,
we expect that we would qualify for the same “essential business” designation, which would allow us to remain
operational and limit the impact to our business of any such shutdowns.

Furthermore, our facilities and those of our customers and suppliers have been required to comply with
additional regulations and may be required to comply with new regulations imposed by state and local
governments in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, including COVID-19 safety guidance for production and
manufacturing facilities. Compliance with these measures, or new measures, may cause increases in the cost, or
delays or a reduction in the volume of products produced at our facilities or those of the TBN partners of
suppliers. The COVID-19 outbreak has also disrupted credit markets and may continue to disrupt or negatively
impact credit markets, which could adversely affect the availability and cost of capital. Such impacts could limit
our ability to fund our operations and satisfy our obligations.

The extent of the impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations from any future
shutdowns is dependent on the length of time in which society, consumers, the supply chain and markets return
to pre-shutdown “normal” levels of operations, if they do at all, and whether we qualify for “essential business”
designation in the states in which we operate. The response to any future shutdowns may adversely impact our
business, financial condition, and results of operations in one or more ways not identified to date.

Our failure to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting could adversely affect
our ability to present accurately our financial statements and could materially and adversely affect us,
including our business, reputation, results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

Our independent registered public accounting firm identified material weaknesses in our internal controls
over financial reporting in connection with the preparation of our financial statements and audit as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2024, which relate to a deficiency in the design and operation of our financial
accounting and reporting controls. Specifically, the material weaknesses resulted from (i) a lack of segregation
of duties within the financial accounting and reporting processes due to limited personnel and (ii) a lack of
adequate and precise review of account reconciliations and journal entries resulting in audit adjustments. A
material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting,
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
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We have begun to address and remediate such material weaknesses by hiring a Chief Financial Officer
with significant accounting and public company financial reporting and compliance experience and by placing
an experienced member of our finance team in the role of Controller. While we intend to implement additional
measures to remediate the material weaknesses, there is no guarantee that they can be remediated in a timely
fashion or at all. Our failure to correct these material weaknesses could result in inaccurate financial statements
and could also impair our ability to comply with the applicable financial reporting requirements on a timely
basis. While we believe we have addressed any regulatory or financial reporting issues highlighted by our
auditor, such compliance issues, should they materialize or persist, could cause investors to lose confidence in
our reported financial information and may result in volatility in and a decline in the market price of our
securities, as well as adverse directions from federal, state and local regulatory authorities.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act will require that we include a report from management on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in our annual report on Form 10-K. It may take us
time to develop the requisite internal control framework. Our management may conclude that our internal
control over financial reporting is not effective, or the level at which our controls are documented, designed or
reviewed is not adequate, and may result in our independent registered public accounting firm issuing a report
that is qualified. In addition, the reporting obligations may place a significant strain on our management,
operational and financial resources and systems for the foreseeable future. We may be unable to complete our
evaluation testing and any required remediation promptly.

Risks Related to Our Cryptocurrency Treasury Reserve Strategy and $IP Tokens

In relation to our acquisition, accumulation, holding, storing, selling, transferring or otherwise using any
cryptocurrencies, there is a risk that rules or regulations could change, impacting the value of any such
cryptocurrencies we hold and our ability to continue to use them or how we recognize, use and value them.

As cryptocurrencies are relatively novel and the application of state and federal securities laws and other
laws and regulations to cryptocurrencies are unclear in certain respects, it is possible that regulators in the
United States or foreign countries may interpret or apply existing laws and regulations in a manner that
adversely affects the price of cryptocurrencies. The U.S. federal government, states, regulatory agencies, and
foreign countries may also enact new laws and regulations, or pursue regulatory, legislative, enforcement or
judicial actions, that could materially impact the price of cryptocurrencies or the ability of individuals or
institutions such as us to own or transfer cryptocurrencies.

If cryptocurrencies are determined to constitute a security for purposes of the federal securities laws, the
additional regulatory restrictions imposed by such a determination could adversely affect the market price of
cryptocurrencies and in turn adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Moreover, the risks of us
engaging in a cryptocurrency treasury strategy have created, and could continue to create complications due to
the lack of experience that third parties have with companies engaging in such a strategy, such as increased
costs of director and officer liability insurance or the potential inability to obtain such coverage on acceptable
terms in the future. Additional risks include, but are not limited to, changes in how we must value any
cryptocurrencies we hold, which could impact our balance sheet and income statement, or our ability to hold,
use or dispose of them. In addition, new forms of taxation on the receipt, accumulation, acquisition, holding,
storing, transferring, selling or otherwise using cryptocurrencies could alter, diminish or destroy the value
proposition for such cryptocurrencies or how we value any cryptocurrencies we may hold at that time, which
could negatively impact our balance sheet or income statement.

Declines in the broader cryptocurrency market could adversely affect the $IP Token, our business and the
value of our digital assets.

The market prices of cryptocurrencies, including $IP Tokens and any others that we may hold or use in
connection with our products and services, have historically been subject to extreme volatility. Broad declines in
cryptocurrency values — whether due to regulatory developments, macroeconomic conditions, reduced
adoption, security breaches, market manipulation, or other factors — could materially and adversely affect
demand for our offerings, our financial condition, and the fair value of any digital assets we hold. Sustained or
significant
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downturns in the cryptocurrency market could reduce customer activity, impair our ability to raise capital, and
lead to write-downs or other non-cash charges, any of which could negatively impact our business and operating
results and the trading price of our common stock.

A principal component of our cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy is the acquisition of $IP Tokens, the
price of which has been, and will likely continue to be, highly volatile. Our operating results and share price
may significantly fluctuate due to the highly-volatile nature of the price of such digital assets and erratic
market movements.

In connection with the consummation of our recent offering of Pre-Funded Warrants, we acquired over
53 million $IP Tokens for the establishment of our cryptocurrency treasury operations. Digital assets generally
are highly volatile assets. For example, from February 13, 2025 (the date $IP Tokens first became available on
digital asset trading platforms) through November 25, 2025, the price of $IP Tokens, as reported by
Coinbase.com, ranged from a low of $1.246 to a high of $14.933. In addition, digital assets do not pay interest
or returns other than staking rewards and so the ability to generate a return on investment from the net proceeds
of any financings will depend on whether there is appreciation in the value of digital assets following our
purchases of digital assets with the net proceeds from such financings. We plan to treat the unlocking of tokens
via staking on our validator as a form of yield for revenue purposes, consistent with GAAP. Future fluctuations
in digital asset trading prices may result in our converting digital assets into cash with a value substantially
below what we paid for such digital assets. If investors perceive our share price as a proxy for $IP Tokens, the
lack of a continuous redemption/creation arbitrage can cause persistent, material premiums or discounts to
intrinsic value. While staking of $IP Token held by us can generate a return, there is no guarantee a market for
staking of $IP Tokens will continue or expand or that the yield on such staking will remain at current levels.

We plan to engage in derivatives transactions, including for the purpose of generating yield by the sale of
covered call options on our $IP Tokens, and such transactions may expose us to material risks that could
adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Derivatives transactions are financial contracts whose value depends on, or is derived from, the price or
level of some other underlying product, asset, rate, or index, such as the value of a particular commodity.
Derivatives transactions include, but are not limited to, swaps, options and futures. Derivatives transactions may
be employed for different purposes, including hedging or mitigating exposure to a particular asset or risk;
obtaining or creating investment exposure; and monetizing and generating yield on an existing asset or position.

As discussed above, in September 2025, the Digital Assets Committee of our Board approved our sale of
covered call options using less than 2% of the total amount of $IP Tokens we own. By selling such covered call
options, we will be paid option premia in exchange for which the option counterparty will obtain the right, but
not the obligation, to purchase a specified amount of our $IP Tokens at a designated option strike price. We
expect to sell call options that can be exercised if the price of the $IP Token in the market reaches a price that is
25% above the $IP Token price at the time the option is sold. In this way, we expect to earn yield through the
receipt of option premia while retaining ownership of the $IP Tokens underlying such options unless the price of
the $IP Token in the open market reaches the designated option strike price and the call option is exercised by
the buyer. There is no guarantee that engaging in such a covered call option selling strategy will be effective to
generate yield or will result in improved overall performance than if we had not engaged in such strategy.
Moreover, because these covered call options will grant the option buyers the right to purchase the specified
amount of $IP Tokens at the designated strike price, temporary fluctuations in the market price of $IP Tokens
could result in us being obligated to sell $IP Tokens in circumstances where our overall strategy would
otherwise be to hold and not sell $IP Tokens.

Derivatives transactions, including call option transactions, are complex, carry their own special risks, and
may expose us to significant risk of loss. The risks generally associated with derivatives include the risk that:
(1) the value of the derivative will change in a detrimental manner; (2) before purchasing a derivative, we will
not have the opportunity to observe its performance under all market conditions; (3) counterparty credit risk, in
that another party to the derivative (especially where the derivative is entered into on a bilateral or over-the-
counter basis) may fail to comply with the terms of the derivative contract; (4) liquidity risk, in that the
derivative may be difficult to purchase
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or sell or we may otherwise encounter difficulties exiting or closing a position; and (5) the derivative may
involve leverage, such that adverse changes in the value of the underlying asset could result in a loss
substantially greater than the amount invested in the derivative itself or in heightened price sensitivity to market
fluctuations.

Our common stock may trade at a substantial premium or discount to the value of the $IP Tokens we hold,
and our stock price may be more volatile than the price of $IP Tokens.

The market price of our common stock reflects many factors that do not affect the spot price of $IP
Tokens and may therefore diverge materially — positively or negatively — from the per-share value of our $IP
Token holdings (net of cash, other assets and liabilities). These factors include, among others: our corporate-
level expenses; taxes; the timing, size and pricing of equity or debt financings (including at-the-market
offerings, equity line financings or convertible securities), equity awards and other sources of dilution;
expectations about our future purchases or sales of $IP Tokens or staking activity; our liquidity and public float;
differences in trading hours and market microstructure between our common stock and spot markets for $IP
Tokens; changes in index inclusion, analyst coverage or investor sentiment toward us as an operating company;
our corporate governance, financial reporting, and any actual or perceived operational, custody, technology or
regulatory risks specific to us; and broader equity-market conditions independent of crypto-asset markets. As a
result, our common stock may trade at a premium or discount to the value of our $IP Token holdings for
extended periods, and may be more volatile than the price of $IP Tokens. Accordingly, investors could lose all
or a substantial part of their investment even if the market price of $IP Tokens does not decline, and investors in
our company may not benefit commensurately from increases in the market price of $IP Tokens.

$IP Tokens and other digital assets are novel assets and are subject to significant legal, commercial, tax,
regulatory and technical uncertainty, which could materially adversely affect our financial position,
operations and prospects.

$IP Tokens and other digital assets are relatively novel and are subject to significant uncertainty, which
could adversely impact their price. The application of state and federal securities laws, taxes and other laws and
regulations to digital assets is unclear in certain respects, and it is possible that regulators and tax authorities in
the United States or foreign countries may interpret or apply existing laws and regulations in a manner that
adversely affects the price of $IP Tokens or other digital assets, or the revenue derived therefrom.

The U.S. federal government, states, regulatory agencies, and foreign countries may also enact new laws
and regulations, or pursue regulatory, legislative, enforcement or judicial actions, that could materially impact
the price of $IP Tokens or the ability of individuals or institutions such as us to own or transfer $IP Tokens. For
example, the U.S. executive branch, the SEC, the European Union’s Markets in Crypto Assets Regulation,
among others, have been active in recent years, and in the U.K., the Financial Services and Markets Act 2023,
or FSMA 2023, became law. Moreover, on July 18, 2025, President Trump signed into law the GENIUS Act,
establishing a legislative framework for the regulation of payment stablecoins and marking the first federal
legislation for the regulation of digital assets in the U.S. On July 17, 2025, the U.S. House of Representatives
passed the Digital Asset Market Clarity Act of 2025 (the “CLARITY Act”), a comprehensive digital asset
market structure and regulation bill. The CLARITY Act, and other digital asset market structure and regulation
bills, remain under consideration and continue to evolve in the U.S. Senate. It is not possible to predict whether,
or when, any of these developments will lead to Congress granting additional authorities to the SEC, the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”), or other regulators, or whether, or when, any other federal,
state or foreign legislative bodies will take any similar actions. Changes in administration or legislative
priorities can upend permissive or neutral stances toward crypto, stablecoins, staking, or Layer1s apart from $IP,
producing sudden compliance burdens or bans. Statutes governing fiat backed stablecoins, digital asset market
structure, and custody (including potential CFTC or SEC jurisdictional recuts) could materially alter liquidity,
pricing, and our ability to hedge.

It is also not possible to predict the nature of any such additional authorities, how additional legislation or
regulatory oversight might impact the ability of digital asset markets to function or the willingness of financial
and other institutions to continue to provide services to the digital assets industry, nor how any new regulations
or changes to existing regulations might impact the value of digital assets generally and $IP Tokens specifically.
Enforcement actions against digital asset issuers, trading platforms and staking providers demonstrate shifting,
sometimes inconsistent judicial and regulatory approaches. Even where complaints have been narrowed or
dismissed, future administrations or courts may take a different view, and previously “safe”
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assets or strategies may be recharacterized retroactively. Even if we initially comply, later guidance (e.g., on
crypto custody, staking, stablecoins, DeFi) could force costly remediation or unwinds. The consequences of
increased regulation of digital assets and digital asset activities could adversely affect the market price of $IP
Tokens and the value of $IP Tokens on our balance sheet and, in turn, adversely affect the market price of our
common stock.

Moreover, the risks of engaging in a digital asset treasury strategy are relatively novel and have created,
and could continue to create, complications due to the lack of experience that third parties have with companies
engaging in such a strategy, such as increased costs of director and officer liability insurance, cybercrime
insurance or the potential inability to obtain such coverage on acceptable terms in the future.

The growth of the digital assets industry in general, and the use and acceptance of $IP Tokens in
particular, may also impact the price of $IP Tokens and is subject to a high degree of uncertainty. The pace of
worldwide growth in the adoption and use of $IP Tokens may depend, for instance, on public familiarity with
digital assets, ease of buying, accessing or gaining exposure to $IP Tokens, institutional demand for $IP Tokens
as an investment asset, the participation of traditional financial institutions in the digital assets industry,
consumer demand for $IP Tokens as a means of payment, and the availability and popularity of alternatives to
$IP Tokens. Even if growth in the adoption of $IP Tokens occurs in the near or medium-term, there is no
assurance that the usage of $IP Tokens will continue to grow over the long-term.

Because $IP Tokens have no physical existence beyond the record of transactions on the Story Network, a
variety of technical factors related to Story Network could also impact the price of $IP Tokens. For example,
malicious attacks by validators, inadequate rewards to incentivize validating of $IP Tokens transactions, hard
“forks” of the Story Network into multiple blockchains, and advances in digital computing, algebraic geometry,
and quantum computing could undercut the integrity of the Story Network and negatively affect the price of $IP
Tokens. Similarly, the open-source nature of the Story Network means the contributors and developers of the
Story Network are generally not directly compensated for their contributions in maintaining and developing the
blockchain, and any failure to properly monitor and upgrade the Story Network could adversely affect the Story
Network and negatively affect the price of $IP Tokens. The veracity or accuracy of third-party validators of the
Story Network and its related transactions could come into question, thereby creating doubt in the market about
the overall security of the data on the blockchain.

The liquidity of $IP Tokens may also be reduced and damage to the public perception of $IP Tokens may
occur, if financial institutions were to deny or limit banking services to businesses that hold $IP Tokens, provide
$IP Tokens-related services or accept $IP Tokens as payment, which could also decrease the price of $IP
Tokens. A number of companies and individuals or businesses associated with digital assets may have had, and
may continue to have, their existing banking services discontinued with financial institutions. Although
U.S. banking regulators have recently rescinded prior guidance that emphasized the risks associated with digital
asset businesses, it is possible that some banking institutions may remain unwilling to provide services to
companies in the digital asset space. Loss of access to fiat rails (after failures of crypto friendly banks or policy
shifts) may delay settlements, tax payments, or vendor obligations, impairing liquidity.

The liquidity of $IP Tokens may also be impacted to the extent that changes in applicable laws and
regulatory requirements negatively impact the ability of exchanges and trading venues to provide services for
$IP Tokens and other digital assets.

Our shift towards an $IP-focused strategy requires substantial changes in our day-to-day operations and
exposes us to significant operational risks.

We operate our own validator on the Story Network and do not “delegate” our $IP Tokens to third party
validation service providers. In either case, staking increases the risk of loss of $IP Tokens, including through
slashing penalties and through increasing vulnerabilities to hacking in the staking smart contracts. Validators
also need to maintain uptime in order to maximize their rewards. In addition, the $IP ecosystem may rapidly
evolve, with frequent upgrades and protocol changes that may require significant adjustments to our operational
setup. The upgrades and protocol changes may require that we incur unanticipated costs and it could cause
temporary service disruptions. Technical failures or operational errors could impact our ability to obtain $IP
Token rewards or gas fees,
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which could result in our failure to meet our financial projections. Alternatively, if we had chosen to use a third-
party validation service, we would have had to share our staking rewards with that third-party validator, but that
third-party validator may have more sophisticated technology which would enable those rewards to be greater.

Staked $IP Tokens are also subject to lock-up periods during which it cannot be withdrawn or sold. This
lack of liquidity could limit our ability to respond to market changes or our financial needs. It is possible that we
may in the future seek to mitigate this risk through so-called “liquid staking” arrangements, where we deposit
$IP Tokens into a smart contract and receive in exchange a “liquid staking token” that would allow us to
withdraw our $IP Tokens and associated rewards. The smart contract would then automatically delegate our $IP
Tokens to a third-party staking service provider. We could then engage in other DeFi activities with liquid
staking tokens. While we anticipate that the price of liquid staking tokens will correlate to the price of $IP
Tokens, there is a possibility that prices will diverge. This could especially happen if the validators deployed by
the liquid staking contract are subject to slashing penalties, in which case we may be able to withdraw fewer $IP
Tokens than we originally deposited.

Any of these operational risks could materially and adversely affect our ability to execute our $IP Tokens
strategy and may prevent us from realizing positive returns and could severely hurt our financial condition.

We plan to purchase additional digital assets using primarily proceeds from equity and debt financings, but
we may be unable to obtain such financings on favorable terms.

Our ability to achieve the objectives of our digital asset acquisition strategy depends in significant part on
our ability to obtain equity and debt financing. The terms of debt or equity securities that we issue may require
us to make periodic payments to the holders of those securities. If we are unable to obtain equity or debt
financing on favorable terms or at all, we may not be able to successfully execute on our digital asset
acquisition strategy.

Our ability to obtain equity or debt financing may in turn depend on, among other factors, the value of our
digital asset holdings, investor sentiment and the general public perception of $IP Tokens and other digital
assets, our strategy and our value proposition. Accordingly, a significant decline in the market value of our
digital asset holdings, our inability to monetize our $IP Tokens through staking or decentralized finance, or a
negative shift in these other factors may create liquidity and credit risks, as such a decline or such shifts may
adversely impact our ability to secure sufficient equity or debt financing to satisfy our financial obligations,
including any debt and cash dividend obligations.

$IP Tokens constitute the vast bulk of assets on our balance sheet. If we are unable to secure equity or
debt financing in a timely manner, on favorable terms, or at all, we may be required to sell $IP Tokens to satisfy
our financial obligations, and we may be required to make such sales at prices below our cost basis or that are
otherwise unfavorable. Any such sale of $IP Tokens may have a material adverse effect on our operating results
and financial condition, and could impair our ability to secure additional equity or debt financing in the future.
Our inability to secure additional equity or debt financing in a timely manner, on favorable terms or at all, or to
sell our $IP Tokens in amounts and at prices sufficient to satisfy our financial obligations, including any debt
service and cash dividend obligations, could cause us to default under such obligations. Any default on our
future indebtedness or any newly issued preferred stock could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition. Such actions could cause significant variation in our operating results in any quarter.

In connection with our focus on $IP Tokens, we expect to interact with various smart contracts deployed on
the Story Network, which may expose us to risks and technical vulnerabilities.

In connection with our $IP Token strategy, we expect to interact with various smart contracts deployed on
the Story Network in order to optimize our strategy. Smart contracts are self-executing code that operate without
human intervention once deployed. Although smart contracts are integral to the functionality of staking deposit
contracts and other functionality on blockchain networks, they are subject to many known risks such as
technical vulnerabilities, coding errors, security flaws, and exploits. We expect our smart contract interactions to
be limited to use of the Story Network’s native staking contract to (i) bond/unbond $IP Tokens that we hold,
(ii) manage validator parameters (e.g., commissions on rewards related to delegated tokens), and (iii) receive
protocol-defined block rewards and fees. Any vulnerability in a smart contract we interact with could result in
the loss or theft of $IP Tokens or other digital assets, which could have a materially adverse impact on our
business. A vulnerability in a smart
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contract could create an unintended and unforeseeable consequence that has adverse financial consequences,
such as the inability to access funds. There is no assurance that the smart contracts we integrate with or rely
upon will function as intended or remain secure. Exploitation of such vulnerabilities could have a material
adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

Transactions using $IP Tokens or on the Story Network require the payment of “gas fees,” which are subject
to fluctuations that may result in high transaction fees.

Transactions using $IP Tokens, including purchases, sales and staking and other activities on the Story
Network, require the payment of “gas fees” in $IP Tokens. Gas fees are payments made by the user to
compensate for the computational energy required to process and validate transactions, such as purchases, sales
and staking, on the Story Network. These fees can fluctuate and can be very expensive relative to the cost of the
transaction depending upon congestion and demand on the network. If fees are high, the cost of a transaction
will potentially decrease the return of the investment, which could be negative. High gas fees may also cause
delays in the execution of a transaction, which could affect the preferred timing of execution and may lead to
execution of a transaction during inopportune times. In addition, gas fees are paid in $IP Tokens, which would
require that sufficient $IP Token balances are maintained. Future upgrades to the Story Network, regulatory
changes, or technical issues could also adversely impact the cost of gas fees and could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, treasury and prospects.

Changes in regulatory interpretations could require us to register as a money services business or money
transmitter, leading to increased compliance costs or operational shutdowns.

The regulatory regime for digital assets in the U.S. and elsewhere is uncertain. We may be unable to
effectively react to proposed legislation and regulation of digital assets, which could adversely affect our
business.

The Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, a division of the U.S. Treasury Department (“FinCEN”),
regulates providers of certain services with respect to “convertible virtual currency,” including $IP Tokens.
Businesses engaged in the transfer of convertible virtual currencies are subject to registration and licensure
requirements at the U.S. federal level and also under U.S. state laws. There is a risk that if we decide to provide
staking services to third parties, FinCEN or other regulators could view such services as the provision of money
transmission activities subject to regulations.

If regulatory changes or interpretations require us to register as a money services business with FinCEN
under the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, or as a money transmitter under state laws, we may be subject to extensive
regulatory requirements, resulting in significant compliance costs and operational burdens. In such a case, we
may incur extraordinary expenses to meet these requirements or, alternatively, may determine that continued
operations are not viable. If we decide to cease certain operations in response to new regulatory obligations,
such actions could occur at a time that is unfavorable to investors.

Multiple states have implemented or proposed regulatory frameworks for digital asset businesses.
Compliance with such state-specific regulations may increase costs or impact our business operations. Further,
if we or our service providers are unable to comply with evolving federal or state regulations, we may be forced
to dissolve or liquidate certain operations, which could materially impact our investors.

There is a possibility that $IP Tokens may be classified as a “security.” If $IP Tokens are classified as a
“security,” that would subject us to additional regulation and could materially impact the operations of our
treasury strategy and our business.

None of the SEC or any other U.S. federal or state regulator has publicly stated whether they agree that
$IP Tokens are a “security,” and $IP Tokens have not yet been classified with respect to the U.S. federal
securities laws. Although we believe that $IP Tokens are not a “security” within the meaning of the U.S. federal
securities laws, and that registration of our company or our treasury under the Investment Company
Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”), is therefore not required under applicable securities
laws, we acknowledge the uncertainty that a regulatory body or federal court may determine otherwise in the
future. If this occurs, we may face legal or regulatory action, even if our beliefs were reasonable under the
circumstances, and we could be required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company
Act.
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As part of our ongoing review of applicable securities laws, we take into account a number of factors,
including the various definitions of “security” under such laws, including but not limited to the Investment
Company Act, and federal court decisions interpreting the elements of these definitions, such as the
U.S. Supreme Court’s decisions in the Howey and Reves cases. We also consider court rulings, reports, orders,
press releases, public statements, and speeches by the SEC Commissioners and SEC Staff providing guidance
on when a digital asset or a transaction to which a digital asset may relate may be a security for purposes of
U.S. federal securities laws. Our position that $IP Tokens are not a “security” is premised, among other reasons,
on our conclusion that $IP Tokens do not appear to meet certain elements of the Howey test, such as that holders
of $IP Tokens do not have a reasonable expectation of profits from the efforts of any identifiable third party or
group in respect of their holding of $IP Tokens.

We acknowledge, however, that the SEC, a federal court or another relevant entity could take a different
view. The regulatory treatment of $IP Tokens is such that it has drawn significant attention from legislative and
regulatory bodies, including the SEC. The application of securities laws to the specific facts and circumstances
of digital assets is complex and subject to change. Our conclusion, even if reasonable under the circumstances,
would not preclude legal or regulatory action based on a finding that $IP Tokens, or any other digital asset we
might hold, are a “security.” Therefore, as described below under “If we were deemed to be an investment
company under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions likely would make it impractical for us to
continue segments of our business as currently contemplated”, we are at risk of enforcement proceedings
against us, which could result in potential injunctions, cease-and-desist orders, fines, penalties or other damages
if $IP Tokens were determined to be a security by a regulatory body or a court.

Further, if $IP Tokens are viewed as a security, it may become more difficult to purchase and sell $IP
Tokens, as they could only be traded through SEC-registered broker-dealers or exchanges. This would make it
more difficult for us to continue our $IP treasury strategy, or to monetize $IP Tokens that we hold in the event
we need to do so for working capital purposes. Such developments could adversely affect our business, results
of operations, financial condition, treasury operations and prospects.

If we were deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions
likely would make it impractical for us to continue segments of our business as currently contemplated.

Under Sections 3(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Investment Company Act, a company generally will be deemed
to be an “investment company” if (i) it is, or holds itself out as being, engaged primarily, or proposes to engage
primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities or (ii) it engages, or proposes to
engage, in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding, or trading in securities and it owns or
proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets
(exclusive of U.S. government securities, shares of registered money market funds under Rule 2a-7 of the
Investment Company Act, and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis. Rule 3a-1 under the Investment
Company Act generally provides that notwithstanding the Section 3(a)(1)(C) test described in clause (ii) above,
an entity will not be deemed to be an “investment company” for purposes of the Investment Company Act if no
more than 45% of the value of its assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities, shares of registered money
market funds under Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act, and cash items) consists of, and no more than
45% of its net income after taxes (for the past four fiscal quarters combined) is derived from, securities, as
defined under the Investment Company Act (“40 Act Securities”), other than U.S. government securities, shares
of registered money market funds under Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act, securities issued by
employees’ securities companies, securities issued by qualifying majority owned subsidiaries of such entity, and
securities issued by qualifying companies that are controlled primarily by such entity. We do not believe that we
are an “investment company” as such term is defined in either Section 3(a)(1)(A) or Section 3(a)(1)(C) of the
Investment Company Act.

With respect to Section 3(a)(1)(A) of the Investment Company Act, a substantial majority of the proceeds
from our recent private placement offering of Pre-Funded Warrants have been used to acquire $IP Tokens,
which is an amount in excess of 40% of our total assets. We believe $IP Tokens are not a 40 Act Security; as
such, we do not hold ourselves out as being engaged primarily, or propose to engage primarily, in the business
of investing, reinvesting, or trading in 40 Act Securities within the meaning of Section 3(a)(1)(A) of the
Investment Company Act. With respect to Section 3(a)(1)(C) of the Investment Company Act, we believe we
satisfy the elements of Rule 3a-1 and therefore are deemed not to be an investment company under, and we
intend to conduct our operations such that
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we will not be deemed an investment company under, Section 3(a)(1)(C). We believe that we are not an
investment company pursuant to Rule 3a-1 under the Investment Company Act because, on a consolidated basis
with respect to wholly-owned subsidiaries but otherwise on an unconsolidated basis, no more than 45% of the
value of our total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities, shares of registered money market funds
under Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act, and cash items) consists of, and no more than 45% of our net
income after taxes (for the last four fiscal quarters combined) is derived from, 40 Act Securities other than
U.S. government securities, shares of registered money market funds under Rule 2a-7 of the Investment
Company Act, securities issued by employees’ securities companies, securities issued by qualifying majority-
owned subsidiaries of our company, and securities issued by qualifying companies that are controlled primarily
by the Company.

$IP Tokens and other digital assets, as well as new business models and transactions enabled by
blockchain technologies, present novel interpretive questions under the Investment Company Act. There is a
risk that assets or arrangements that we have concluded are not securities could be deemed to be securities by
the SEC or another authority for purposes of the Investment Company Act, which would increase the percentage
of 40 Act Securities held by us for Investment Company Act purposes. If we were deemed to be an investment
company, Rule 3a-2 under the Investment Company Act is a safe harbor that provides a one-year grace period
for transient investment companies that have a bona fide intent to be engaged primarily, as soon as is reasonably
possible (in any event by the termination of such one-year period), in a business other than that of investing,
reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities, with such intent evidenced by the company’s business
activities and an appropriate resolution of its board of directors. The grace period is available not more than
once every three years and runs from the earlier of (i) the date on which the issuer owns securities and/or cash
having a value exceeding 50% of the issuer’s total assets on either a consolidated or unconsolidated basis or
(ii) the date on which the issuer owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding
40% of the value of such issuer’s total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an
unconsolidated basis. Accordingly, the grace period may not be available at the time that we seek to rely on
Rule 3a-2; however, Rule 3a-2 is a safe harbor and we may rely on any exemption or exclusion from investment
company status available to us under the Investment Company Act at any given time. Furthermore, reliance on
Rule 3a-2, Section 3(a)(1)(C), or Rule 3a-1 could require us to take actions to dispose of securities, limit our
ability to make certain investments or enter into joint ventures, or otherwise limit or change our service
offerings and operations. If we were to be deemed an investment company in the future, restrictions imposed by
the Investment Company Act — including limitations on our ability to issue different classes of stock and equity
compensation to directors, officers, and employees and restrictions on management, operations, and transactions
with affiliated persons — likely would make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated, and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, treasury and
prospects.

If the SEC determines that we are an unregistered investment company, there would be a risk that we
would be subject to monetary penalties and injunctive relief in an action brought by the SEC, that we would
potentially be unable to enforce contracts with third parties and that third parties could seek to obtain rescission
of transactions undertaken during the period for which it was established that we were an unregistered
investment company. There is also a risk the SEC or Nasdaq could move to delist us from the exchange.

The availability of spot exchange-traded products (“ETPs”) for digital assets may adversely affect the market
price of our listed securities.

Although bitcoin and other digital assets have experienced a surge of investor attention since bitcoin was
invented in 2008, until recently investors in the United States had limited means to gain direct exposure to
digital assets through traditional investment channels, and instead generally were only able to hold digital assets
through “hosted” wallets provided by digital asset service providers or through “unhosted” wallets that expose
the investor to risks associated with loss or hacking of their private keys. Given the relative novelty of digital
assets, general lack of familiarity with the processes needed to hold digital assets directly, as well as the
potential reluctance of financial planners and advisers to recommend direct digital asset holdings to their retail
customers because of the manner in which such holdings are custodied, some investors have sought exposure to
digital assets through investment vehicles that issue shares representing fractional undivided interests in their
underlying digital asset holdings.
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On January 10, 2024, the SEC approved the listing and trading of spot bitcoin ETPs, the shares of which
can be sold in public offerings and are traded on U.S. national securities exchanges. The SEC has also approved
spot ETPs for Ethereum and other digital assets. The listing and trading of spot ETPs for digital assets offers
investors another alternative to gain exposure to digital assets, which could result in a decline in the price of our
listed securities relative to the value of our digital assets.

Although we are an operating company, and we believe we offer a different value proposition than an
investment vehicle such as a spot digital asset ETP, investors may nevertheless view our securities as an
alternative to an investment in an ETP, and choose to purchase shares of an ETP instead of our securities. They
may do so for a variety of reasons, including if they believe that ETPs offer a “pure play” exposure to digital
assets that is generally not subject to federal income tax at the entity level as we are, or the other risk factors
applicable to an operating business, such as ours. Additionally, unlike spot digital asset ETPs, we (i) do not seek
for our common stock to track the value of the underlying digital assets we hold before payment of expenses
and liabilities, (ii) do not benefit from various exemptions and relief under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, including Regulation M, and other securities laws, which enable ETPs to continuously align the
value of their shares to the price of the underlying assets they hold through share creation and redemption,
(iii) are a Delaware corporation rather than a statutory trust, and do not operate pursuant to a trust agreement
that would require us to pursue one or more stated investment objectives, and (iv) are not required to provide
daily transparency as to our digital asset holdings or our daily NAV. Based on how we are viewed in the market
relative to ETPs, and other vehicles which offer economic exposure to digital assets, such as futures exchange-
traded funds (“ETFs”), leveraged futures ETFs, and similar vehicles offered on international exchanges, any
premium or discount in our common stock relative to the value of our digital asset holdings may increase or
decrease in different market conditions.

As a result of the foregoing factors, availability of spot ETPs for bitcoin and other digital assets could
have a material adverse effect on the market price of our listed securities.

We are not subject to legal and regulatory obligations that apply to investment companies such as mutual
funds and exchange-traded funds, or to obligations applicable to investment advisers.

Mutual funds, exchange-traded funds and their directors and management are subject to extensive
regulation as “investment companies” and “investment advisers” under U.S. federal and state law; this
regulation is intended for the benefit and protection of investors. We are not subject to, and do not otherwise
voluntarily comply with, these laws and regulations. This means, among other things, that the execution of or
changes to our digital asset treasury strategy, our use of leverage, the manner in which our digital assets are
custodied, our ability to engage in transactions with affiliated parties and our operating and investment activities
generally are not subject to the extensive legal and regulatory requirements and prohibitions that apply to
investment companies and investment advisers. For example, although a significant change to our treasury
reserve policy would require the approval of our Board of Directors, no shareholder or regulatory approval
would be necessary. Consequently, our Board of Directors has broad discretion over the investment, leverage
and cash management policies it authorizes, whether in respect of our $IP Token holdings or other activities we
may pursue, and has the power to change our current policies, including our strategy of acquiring and holding
digital assets.

Legislative or regulatory change regarding the regulation of “commodities” by the CFTC and the regulation
of digital assets as “digital commodities” could subject us to additional regulatory burdens and oversight by
the CFTC and could adversely affect the market price of $IP Tokens and the market price of our listed
securities.

The CFTC has stated and judicial decisions involving CFTC enforcement actions have confirmed that at
least some digital assets fall within the definition of a “commodity” under the U.S. Commodities
Exchange Act of 1936 (the “CEA”) and the rules promulgated by the CFTC thereunder (“CFTC Rules”). While
the CFTC has enforcement authority to police against fraud and manipulation in spot commodity markets
(including the spot market for digital assets that are commodities), the CFTC currently only has regulatory and
supervisory jurisdiction with respect to “commodity interest” transactions, such as futures, options, and swaps
on a commodity (including a digital asset commodity) and certain leveraged, margined, or financed transactions
in commodities involving retail customers. Accordingly, we are not currently regulated or supervised by the
CFTC and are not subject to the legal and regulatory obligations that are applicable to CFTC-registered entities
under the CEA and CFTC Rules.
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As discussed above, the regulation of digital assets in the U.S. is subject to change as a result of the
enactment and adoption of new laws and regulations and changes in agency and judicial interpretation of
existing laws and regulations. For example, the proposed CLARITY Act recently passed by the U.S. House of
Representatives and other draft digital asset market structure and regulation bills have proposed granting the
CFTC additional regulatory and supervisory powers with respect to spot digital assets as “digital commodities.”
While it is not possible to predict whether and in what form such proposals will be adopted, changes to or
expansion of the jurisdiction of the CFTC with respect to activities in spot digital assets, including $IP Tokens,
could result in the imposition of additional regulatory obligations and burdens, which could include registration,
disclosure, reporting, and business conduct requirements. Such additional regulatory burdens and oversight
could materially increase the cost of our business, could adversely affect the market price of $IP Tokens, and in
turn could adversely affect the market price of our listed securities.

We may be deemed to be a “commodity pool” under CEA and CFTC Rules as a result of our commodity
interest trading, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

The CEA and CFTC Rules define a “commodity pool” as any investment trust, syndicate, or similar form
of enterprise operated for the purpose of trading in “commodity interests,” such as swaps, futures, and options
on an underlying commodity (including any digital asset that constitutes a commodity). The CFTC has
previously interpreted “for the purpose of trading” as being triggered where only one swap is executed. The
legal and regulatory landscape of CFTC commodity pool regulation is currently unclear as applied to digital
asset treasury companies. Accordingly, (i) no person is registered with the CFTC as a commodity pool operator
(“CPO”) or a commodity trading adviser (“CTA”) with respect to our company; and (ii) our stockholders will
not have the regulatory protections provided to investors in a commodity pool operated or advised by a
registered CPO or CTA, as applicable.

If our company were determined to be a “commodity pool,” including as a result of any future change in
legislation, regulation, or interpretation, we may be subject to additional regulatory requirements which may be
burdensome or costly or that could make it impractical or impossible for us to continue our business as currently
contemplated. For example, a commodity pool must generally be operated as a separately cognizable entity
from its CPO and any person acting as a CPO or CTA with respect to a commodity pool must be registered with
the CFTC and as a member of the National Futures Association (“NFA”). Absent an applicable exemption, a
registered CPO or CTA must generally provide investors with a “disclosure document” in compliance with the
CFTC Rules and the requirements of the NFA, and must comply with a range of ongoing reporting and
recordkeeping requirements on registered and certain exempt commodity pool operators. Registration can be
time-consuming, expensive and restrictive, and compliance with these additional regulatory requirements could
result in substantial, non-recurring expenses, adversely affecting an investment in our securities. If we
determine not to comply with such regulations, we may be forced to cease or modify certain of our operations,
which could negatively impact our investors.

Due to the unregulated nature and lack of transparency surrounding the operations of many digital asset
trading venues, digital asset trading venues may experience greater fraud, security failures or regulatory or
operational problems than trading venues for more established asset classes, which may result in a loss of
confidence in digital asset trading venues and adversely affect the value of digital assets, and our financial
position, operations and prospects.

Cryptocurrency markets, including spot markets for $IP Tokens, are growing rapidly. The digital asset
trading platforms through which $IP Tokens and other cryptocurrencies trade are new and largely unregulated or
may not be complying with existing regulations. These markets are local, national and international and include
a broadening range of cryptocurrencies and participants. Significant trading may occur on systems and
platforms with minimum predictability. Spot markets may impose daily, weekly, monthly or customer-specific
transactions or withdrawal limits or suspend withdrawals entirely, rendering the exchange of $IP Tokens for fiat
currency difficult or impossible. Participation in spot markets requires users to take on credit risk by transferring
$IP Tokens from a personal account to a third-party’s account.
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Digital asset trading platforms may not be subject to, or may not comply with, regulations in a manner
similar to other regulated trading platforms, such as national securities exchanges or designated contract
markets. Many digital asset trading platforms are unlicensed, are unregulated, operate without extensive
supervision by governmental authorities, and do not provide the public with significant information regarding
their ownership structure, management team, corporate practices, cybersecurity, and regulatory compliance. In
particular, those located outside the United States may be subject to significantly less stringent regulatory and
compliance requirements in their local jurisdictions. Digital asset trading platforms may be out of compliance
with existing regulations.

As a result, trading activity on or reported by these digital asset trading platforms is generally
significantly less regulated than trading in regulated U.S. securities and commodities markets and may reflect
behavior that would be prohibited in regulated U.S. trading venues. Furthermore, many digital asset trading
platforms lack certain safeguards put in place by more traditional exchanges to enhance the stability of trading
on the platform and prevent flash crashes, such as limit-down circuit breakers. As a result, the prices of
cryptocurrencies such as $IP Tokens on digital asset trading platforms may be subject to larger and/or more
frequent sudden declines than assets traded on more traditional exchanges. Tools to detect and deter fraudulent
or manipulative trading activities (such as market manipulation, front-running of trades, and wash-trading) may
not be available to or employed by digital asset trading platforms or may not exist at all. As a result, the
marketplace may lose confidence in, or may experience problems relating to, these venues.

No digital asset trading platform on which cryptocurrency trades is immune from these risks. The closure
or temporary shutdown of digital asset trading platforms due to fraud, business failure, hackers or malware, or
government-mandated regulation may reduce confidence in cryptocurrency and can slow down the mass
adoption of it. Further, digital asset trading platform failures can have an adverse effect on cryptocurrency
markets and the price of cryptocurrency and could therefore have a negative impact on the performance of our
listed securities.

Negative perception, a lack of stability in the digital asset trading platforms, manipulation of
cryptocurrency trading platforms by customers and/or the closure or temporary shutdown of such trading
platforms due to fraud, business failure, hackers or malware, or government-mandated regulation may reduce
confidence in cryptocurrency generally and result in greater volatility in the market price of $IP Tokens and
other cryptocurrency and our listed securities. Furthermore, the closure or temporary shutdown of a
cryptocurrency trading platform may impact the Company’s ability to determine the value of its cryptocurrency
holdings.

Digital asset holdings are less liquid than cash and cash equivalents and may not be able to serve as a source
of liquidity for us to the same extent as cash and cash equivalents.

Historically, the digital asset market has been characterized by significant volatility in price, limited
liquidity and trading volumes compared to sovereign currencies markets, thin order books on smaller venues,
relative anonymity, a developing regulatory landscape, potential susceptibility to market abuse and
manipulation, including momentum pricing and “short squeezes”, compliance and internal control failures at
exchanges, and various other risks inherent in its entirely electronic, virtual form and decentralized network,
any of which may cause severe drawdowns that materially impair our equity value. During times of market
instability, we may not be able to sell our digital assets at favorable prices or at all. Large holders (including
Story Foundation, venture capitalists, or early insiders) could sell into thin liquidity, significantly impacting
price. Companies financing crypto acquisitions with layered convertibles, preferred stock or margin loans face
liquidity squeezes, forced sales, or dilutive recapitalizations if equity prices or token prices fall. As a result,
digital asset holdings may not be able to serve as a source of liquidity for us to the same extent as cash and cash
equivalents.

Additionally, we may be unable to enter into term loans or other capital raising transactions collateralized
by our unencumbered digital assets or otherwise generate funds using our digital asset holdings, including in
particular during times of market instability or when the price of digital assets has declined significantly. If we
are unable to sell our digital assets, enter into additional capital raising transactions, including capital raising
transactions using $IP Tokens as collateral, or otherwise generate funds using our $IP Tokens holdings, or if we
are forced to sell our digital assets at a significant loss, in order to meet our working capital requirements, our
business and financial condition could be negatively impacted.
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Transacting in digital assets exposes us to counterparty credit risk.

We may transact with private counterparties or on digital asset exchanges. We are required to prefund
these transactions, which causes us to take on credit risk every time we purchase or sell digital assets, and our
contractual rights with respect to such transactions could be limited. Our agreements with our contractual
counterparties may not include provisions sufficient to clarify that the assets associated with our prefunded
trades remain our property even when held by the counterparty, and in the event of an insolvency of one of our
counterparties it is possible that any digital assets or cash that we have prefunded could be viewed as part of
their bankruptcy estate, leaving us in the status of an unsecured creditor as discussed below under “We face risks
relating to the custody of our digital assets, including the loss or destruction of private keys required to access
our digital assets and cyberattacks or other data loss relating to our digital assets, including smart contract
related losses and vulnerabilities.”

Although we are not initially planning to lend $IP Tokens, from time to time, we may generate income
through lending of digital assets, which carries significant risks. The volatility of such digital assets increases
the likelihood that borrowers may default due to market downturns, liquidity crises, fraud or other financial
distress. These lending transactions may be unsecured, and so may be subordinated to secured debt of the
borrower. If a borrower becomes insolvent, we may be unable to recover the loaned $IP Tokens, leading to
substantial financial losses.

Additionally, digital asset lending platforms are vulnerable to operational and cybersecurity risks.
Technical failures, software bugs or system outages could disrupt lending activities, delay transactions or result
in inaccurate record-keeping. Cybersecurity threats, including hacking, phishing and other malicious attacks,
pose further risks, potentially leading to the loss, theft or misappropriation of our loaned $IP Tokens. A
successful cyberattack or security breach could materially and adversely impact our financial position,
reputation and ability to conduct future lending activities.

Cybersecurity risks associated with digital assets and decentralized protocols could result in significant
losses.

Digital assets are secured by “private keys” which correspond to a “public key,” which is the address on
the digital asset network. In order to transfer digital assets from one wallet to another, the user must “sign” the
transaction with the relevant private key. The storage for these private keys is typically referred to as a “wallet.”
To the extent the private key(s) for a digital wallet are lost, destroyed, or otherwise compromised and no backup
of the private key(s) is accessible, we will be unable to access the digital assets held in the related digital wallet.
Furthermore, we cannot provide assurance that our digital wallets, nor the digital wallets that any custodians
may hold on our behalf, will not be compromised as a result of a cyberattack. Blockchain ledgers have been,
and may in the future be, subject to security breaches, cyberattacks, or other malicious activities.

As part of our treasury management strategy, we may engage in staking, restaking, or other activities that
involve the use of “smart contracts” or decentralized applications. The use of smart contracts or decentralized
applications entails certain risks including risks stemming from the existence of an “admin key” or coding flaws
that could be exploited, potentially allowing a bad actor to issue or otherwise compromise the smart contract or
decentralized application, potentially leading to a loss of our $IP Tokens. In addition, many decentralized
applications are controlled by token holders through a public governance process, and there can be no assurance
that these applications will continue to operate as they do when we initially begin using them. Like all software
code, smart contracts are exposed to risk that the code contains a bug or other security vulnerability, which can
lead to loss of assets that are held on or transacted through the contract or decentralized application. Smart
contracts and decentralized applications may contain bugs, security vulnerabilities or poorly designed
permission structures that could result in the irreversible loss of $IP Tokens or other digital assets. Exploits,
including those stemming from admin key misuse, admin key compromise, or protocol flaws, have occurred in
the past and may occur in the future.

Intellectual property disputes related to the open-source structure of digital asset networks exposes us to risks
related to software development, security vulnerabilities and potential disruptions to digital asset technology
could threaten our ability to operate.

Digital asset networks are open-source projects and, although there may be an influential group of leaders
in the network community, generally there is no official developer or group of developers that formally controls
the digital asset network. Without guaranteed financial incentives, there may be insufficient resources to address
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emerging issues, upgrade security or implement necessary improvements to the network in a timely manner. If
the digital asset network’s software is not properly maintained or developed, it could become vulnerable to
security threats, operational inefficiencies and reduced trust, all of which could negatively impact the digital
assets’ long-term viability and our business.

The lack of legal recourse and insurance for digital assets increases the risk of total loss in the event of theft
or destruction.

Digital assets that we acquire will not be insured against theft, loss or destruction. If an event occurs
where we lose our digital assets, whether due to cyberattacks, fraud or other malicious activities, we may not
have any viable legal recourse or ability to recover the lost assets. Unlike funds held in insured banking
institutions, our digital assets are not protected by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Securities
Investor Protection Corporation. If our digital assets are lost under circumstances that render another party
liable, there is no guarantee that the party responsible will have the financial resources to compensate us. As a
result, we and our stockholders could face significant financial losses.

We face risks relating to the custody of our digital assets, including the loss or destruction of private keys
required to access our digital assets and cyberattacks or other data loss relating to our digital assets,
including smart contract related losses and vulnerabilities.

We currently hold our digital assets in “self-custody,” which means our digital assets are held in wallets in
which we control the private keys, as compared to solutions in which the keys are controlled by a regulated
custodian. Self-custody requires us and our advisers to implement robust security measures to protect our digital
assets from theft, loss, or unauthorized access. We maintain a number of security measures to manage and
protect the keys for our digital asset wallets, including, but not limited to, the use of cold wallets, multi-
signature protocols, access limited to select senior executives and experienced advisors, and various physical
safeguards such as geographically dispersed multisig holders across North America. Despite these measures,
there is no guarantee that we will be able to prevent all security breaches, which could result in significant
financial loss. The management of digital assets through self-custody necessitates specialized knowledge and
expertise. Any errors or failures in our self-custody processes, such as the loss of private keys or incorrect
transaction execution, could lead to the permanent loss of digital assets.

We intend to enter into custodial agreements with one or more regulated custodians that have duties to
safeguard the private keys used to transact in our digital assets. Prior to our transfer of our digital assets to
custodial accounts, we will be subject to risks associated with self-custody, including the risks that our security
controls will be insufficient to protect the digital assets that we hold. However, the use of digital asset
custodians also may involve risks, as described under “The use of digital asset custodians could expose us to
additional risks related to custodian insolvency, as well as cybersecurity and concentration risk.”

Cybercriminals may attempt to deceive individuals into revealing sensitive information, such as private
keys or passwords, through phishing emails or social engineering tactics. These attacks can be sophisticated and
difficult to detect, posing a significant risk to the security of self-custodied digital assets. Devices used for self-
custody, such as computers or smartphones, can be targeted by malware or hacking attempts designed to gain
unauthorized access to digital assets. Finally, mistakes made by individuals managing self-custodied digital
assets, such as sending assets to the wrong address or mishandling private keys, can result in significant losses.
Because transactions on blockchains such as the Story Network are irreversible, such a mistransmission of
digital assets could result in permanent loss.

Even though we maintain cyber risk insurance, this insurance may not be sufficient to cover all our losses
in the event of any loss of digital assets. In addition, such insurance may not be available to us in the future on
economically reasonable terms, or at all. Further, our insurance may not cover all claims made against us and
could have high deductibles.

Attacks upon systems across a variety of industries, including the digital asset industry, are increasing in
frequency, persistence, and sophistication, and, in many cases, are being conducted by sophisticated, well-
funded and organized groups and individuals, including state actors. The techniques used to obtain
unauthorized, improper or illegal access to systems and information (including personal data and digital assets),
disable or degrade services,
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or sabotage systems are constantly evolving, may be difficult to detect quickly, and often are not recognized or
detected until after they have been launched against a target. These attacks may occur on our systems or those of
our third-party service providers or partners. We may experience breaches of our security measures due to
human error, malfeasance, insider threats, system errors or vulnerabilities or other irregularities. In particular,
unauthorized parties have attempted, and we expect that they will continue to attempt, to gain access to our
systems and facilities, as well as those of our partners and third-party service providers, through various means,
such as hacking, social engineering, phishing and fraud. In the past, hackers have successfully employed social
engineering attacks resulting in misappropriation of digital assets held by various digital asset treasury
companies. Threats can come from a variety of sources, including criminal hackers, hacktivists, state-sponsored
intrusions, industrial espionage, and insiders. In addition, certain types of attacks could harm us even if our
systems are left undisturbed. For example, certain threats are designed to remain dormant or undetectable,
sometimes for extended periods of time, or until launched against a target and we may not be able to implement
adequate preventative measures. Further, there has been an increase in such activities due to the increase in
work-from-home arrangements since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. The risk of cyberattacks could also
be increased by cyberwarfare in connection with geopolitical conflicts, such as the ongoing Russia-Ukraine
conflict, including potential proliferation of malware into systems unrelated to such conflicts. Any future breach
of our operations or those of others in the digital asset industry, including third-party services on which we rely,
could materially and adversely affect our business.

The use of digital asset custodians could expose us to additional risks related to custodian insolvency, as well
as cybersecurity and concentration risk.

While we will conduct due diligence on our custodians and any smart contract platforms we may use,
there can be no assurance that such diligence will uncover all risks, including operational deficiencies, hidden
vulnerabilities or legal noncompliance. The large volumes of digital assets held by custodial platforms makes
them an attractive target for hackers. For example, the digital asset exchange ByBit was recently the subject of a
hack in which over $1.5 billion of customer digital assets were lost. While ByBit was able to make all of its
customers whole through use of reserves and insurance policies, there is no contractual guarantee that our
custodians will do the same. We intend to contract with custodians whose insurance policies cover losses of
digital assets, but these policies may cover only a fraction of the value of the entirety of our digital asset
holdings and the holdings of their other customers, and there can be no guarantee that such insurance will be
maintained as part of the custodial services we have or that such coverage will cover losses with respect to our
digital assets.

If we engage third-party custodians to hold our digital assets, this will expose us to the risk that one or
more of our custodians could become subject to insolvency proceedings. Applicable insolvency law is not fully
developed with respect to the holding of digital assets in custodial accounts, but it is possible that a bankruptcy
court or trustee could take the view that we are a general unsecured creditor of the custodian, inhibiting our
ability to exercise ownership rights with respect to such digital assets. For example, a bankruptcy court in
Delaware ruled on July 18, 2025 that the digital assets held by Prime Trust LLC, a Nevada trust company and a
subsidiary of Prime Core Technologies Inc., on behalf of users would be distributed proportionately to all
unsecured creditors as such assets were part of the debtors’ bankruptcy estate because of commingling between
customer accounts and those of the debtors. This exposes us to the risk that a bankruptcy court might take a
similar view in connection with a bankruptcy of one of our custodians, and that our claims on our digital assets
might be limited to those of an unsecured creditor.

Any contested bankruptcy claim could result in significant delays in our ability to access our digital
assets, and any loss associated with such insolvency proceedings is unlikely to be covered by any insurance
coverage that we might purchase or maintain related to our digital assets. Digital assets we hold with custodians
and transact with our trade execution partners does not enjoy the same protections as are available to cash or
securities deposited with or transacted by institutions subject to regulation by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation or the Securities Investor Protection Corporation. Thus, in the event of an insolvency of one of our
custodians, we will also not be protected by these schemes.
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We will face risks relating to the custody of our digital assets. If we or our third-party service providers
experience a security breach or cyberattack and unauthorized parties obtain access to our digital assets, or if
our private keys are lost or destroyed, or other similar circumstances or events occur, we may lose some or all
of our digital assets and our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely
affected.

We expect our primary counterparty risk with respect to our $IP Tokens will be custodian performance
obligations under the custody arrangements we enter into. A series of recent high-profile bankruptcies, closures,
liquidations, regulatory enforcement actions and other events relating to companies operating in the digital asset
industry, the closure or liquidation of certain financial institutions that provided lending and other services to the
digital assets industry, SEC enforcement actions against other providers, or placement into receivership or civil
fraud lawsuit against digital asset industry participants have highlighted the perceived and actual counterparty
risk applicable to digital asset ownership and trading.

Additionally, if we pursue any strategies to create income streams or otherwise generate funds using our
$IP Tokens holdings, we would become subject to additional counterparty risks. We will need to carefully
evaluate market conditions, including price volatility as well as service provider terms and market reputations
and performance, among others, prior to implementing any such strategy, all of which could affect our ability to
successfully implement and execute on any such future strategy. These risks, along with any significant non-
performance by counterparties, including in particular the custodian or custodians with which we will custody
substantially all of our $IP Tokens, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial
condition, and operating results.

The irreversibility of digital asset transactions exposes us to risks of theft, loss and human error, which could
negatively impact our business.

Digital asset transactions are not, from an administrative perspective, reversible without the consent and
active participation of the recipient of the transaction or, in theory, control or consent of a majority of the
processing power on that digital asset network. Once a transaction has been verified and recorded in a block that
is added to the blockchain, an incorrect transfer of digital assets or a theft of digital assets generally will not be
reversible, and we may not be capable of seeking compensation for any such transfer or theft.

Although we plan to regularly transfer digital assets to or from vendors, consultants and services
providers, it is possible that, through computer or human error, or through theft or criminal action, such assets
could be transferred in incorrect amounts or to unauthorized third parties.

To the extent we are unable to seek a corrective transaction to identify the third party which has received
our digital assets through error or theft, we will be unable to revert or otherwise recover the impacted digital
assets, and any such loss could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We will be subject to significant competition in the growing digital asset industry and our business, operating
results, and financial condition may be adversely affected if we are unable to compete effectively.

Following the launch of our proposed digital asset treasury strategy, we will operate in a competitive
environment and will compete against other companies and other entities with similar strategies, including
companies with significant holdings in $IP Tokens and other digital assets, and our business, operating results,
and financial condition may be adversely affected if we are unable to compete effectively.

As seen in other crypto treasury models, continued issuance of debt or equity to buy more tokens can
become self-reinforcing — until market sentiment turns — at which point liquidity may evaporate, causing
distressed financings or forced liquidations. As more public companies pursue token reserve business models,
investors may discount our equity unless we can demonstrate durable competitive advantages, risk controls, and
sustainable economics. The continued development, security, and governance of the Story Protocol may depend
on a small number of contributors or a foundation. Loss of these contributors — or strategic disagreements
(including over forks) — could impair $IP Token’s value.
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The emergence or growth of other digital assets, including those with significant private or public sector
backing, including by governments, consortiums or financial institutions, could have a negative impact on
the price of $IP Tokens and adversely affect our securities.

As a result of our $IP Tokens strategy, we expect our assets to be concentrated in $IP Tokens holdings.
Accordingly, the emergence or growth of digital assets other than $IP Tokens may have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition.

Alternative digital assets that compete with $IP Tokens in certain ways include “stablecoins,” which are
designed to maintain a constant price related to or based on some other asset or traditional currency because of,
for instance, their issuers’ promise to hold high-quality liquid assets (such as U.S. dollar deposits and short-term
U.S. treasury securities) equal to the total value of stablecoins in circulation. In June 2025, the U.S. Senate
passed the “GENIUS Act,” which would establish a federal framework for “payment stablecoins,” treating them
as payment systems, not securities, and mandating fiat-backed reserves, monthly disclosures, anti-money
laundering safeguards, and similar measures. Stablecoins have grown rapidly as an alternative to $IP Tokens
and other digital assets as a medium of exchange and store of value, particularly on digital asset trading
platforms, and their use as an alternative to $IP Tokens could expand further if the GENIUS Act is enacted as
law. As of July 31, 2025, two of the seven largest digital assets by market capitalization were U.S. dollar-pegged
stablecoins.

Additionally, central banks in some countries have started to introduce digital forms of legal tender. For
example, China’s central bank digital currency (“CBDC”) project was made available to consumers in
January 2022, and governments including the United States, the United Kingdom, the European Union, and
Israel have been discussing the potential creation of new CBDCs. Whether or not they incorporate blockchain or
similar technology, CBDCs, as legal tender in the issuing jurisdiction, could also compete with, or replace, $IP
Tokens and other digital assets as a medium of exchange or store of value.

Finally, a number of other blockchain-based or digital asset-oriented protocols also function as intellectual
property rights management systems, including Audius, LBRY and Royal.io. The emergence or growth of
competitive digital assets could cause the market price of $IP Tokens to decrease, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results.

We may be subject to risks associated with the provision and use of validator services.

In connection with our proposed activities regarding the Story Protocol (as defined below), we will
operate a validator to secure the network, and other users can delegate their $IP Tokens to our validator. In the
past, the SEC has asserted that the offering of validator services to third parties constitutes an offer to the public
of unregistered securities. While the SEC has recently released a statement stating that, in the views of its
Division of Trading and Markets, it will not consider staking and the provision of validator services to constitute
an offering of securities, this statement is not a rule, regulation, guidance, or statement of the SEC and does not
alter applicable law.

Concentration of stake or validator collusion could censor transactions, cause chain reorganizations, or
enable double spends — potentially irreversibly impairing the value of $IP Tokens. If we choose to operate our
own validator or delegate or $IP Tokens to another validator, we may suffer slashing or forfeiture of rewards
due to downtime, misconfiguration, or malicious software, materially reducing the value of our treasury
holdings.

Complex valuation controls and benchmark dependence may lead to restatements or control deficiencies.

Reliance on third-party reference rates, principal market determinations or bespoke methodologies
introduces risk if those benchmarks are disrupted, manipulated, or fail benchmark principles set by the
International Organizational of Securities Commissions. Net asset value or fair value determinations of our $IP
Tokens could be challenged, leading to restatements or control deficiencies with respect to our financial
statements.

Fair value, complex custody arrangements, staking reward recognition, fork/airdrop accounting, and tax
characterization increase the risk of material weaknesses, in our accounting controls and procedures,
restatements of our financial statements, and adverse auditor opinions, all of which could potentially impair our
access to capital markets and adversely affect our business and financial condition and the market price of our
common stock.
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The Story Network is a relatively new protocol and could be subject to risks inherent in new technologies.

The Story Network is a purpose-build layer 1 blockchain designed to allow owners of intellectual
property to register their ownership on-chain and add usage terms for licensees. This functionality is new and
may not function as intended. For example, its technical mechanisms designed to represent and enforce digital
intellectual property rights may malfunction or otherwise fail to adhere to the unique intellectual property
requirements of the content they are intended to administer. In addition, there may be flaws in the cryptography
underlying the Story protocol including flaws that affect functionality of the Story Network or make the
network vulnerable to attack. The development of the Story Network is ongoing and any disruption could have
a material adverse effect on the value of IP and an investment in the Shares. In addition, the Story Protocol’s
smart contract-based intellectual property rights management may not be recognized by courts or regulators. For
instance, registering authorship or licensing rights on the Story Network does not constitute formal registration
with the U.S. Copyright Office or any analogous body in other jurisdiction. Finally, there can be no absolute
assurance that persons registering and monetizing intellectual property on the Story Network are the actual
owners of such intellectual property. This could lead to disputes, claims or litigation involving intellectual
property rights. While there are internal processes to prevent such issues, it is incumbent upon the applications
to adopt such processes, and the failure to do so may adversely affect the value and or the use of the $IP Token
and the platform as a whole. Any of the foregoing could result in decreased adoption of the Story Protocol.

$IP Token-based applications may rely on off chain data, cross chain bridges, or composable contracts, all
of which have shown high exploit frequency. The Story Protocol’s claims about enforceable intellectual
property licenses could conflict with national intellectual property laws, treaty obligations, or public policy, and
invite litigation or regulatory scrutiny that depresses adoption of the Story Protocol.

The Story Protocol relies on active engagement by users to function and decentralize, and such
engagement is key to driving the value of $IP Tokens, and any failure to achieve adoption could undermine the
core value proposition of $IP Tokens, thus causing their price to decrease. Story Protocol changes, contentious
forks, or airdrops can create legal, tax, accounting, and operational uncertainty. We may forego, abandon or be
unable to claim certain forked assets, leading to opportunity cost or disputes over entitlement.

Because of the pseudonymous nature of blockchain transactions, we may inadvertently and without
knowledge, directly or indirectly engage in transactions with or for the benefit of prohibited persons under
U.S. or foreign sanctions laws.

We are subject to the rules enforced by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the
Treasury (“OFAC”), including prohibitions on conducting direct or indirect business with persons named on, or
owned by persons named on, OFAC’s various sanctions lists, including the Specially Designated Nationals and
Blocked Persons list. We are also prohibited from direct or indirect dealings with persons located in, organized
in, or nationals of, jurisdictions subject to U.S. embargos (as of today, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Syria, the so-
called Donetsk People’s Republic, the so-called Luhansk People’s Republic, and the Crimea region of Ukraine),
and may be prohibited from dealing with persons in other jurisdictions subject to targeted U.S. sanctions such as
Venezuela, Russia, and Belarus. U.S. sanctions compliance obligations apply to transactions in digital assets and
U.S. sanctions authorities have in recent years directed significant attention to sanctions compliance among the
digital asset industry. Because of the pseudonymous nature of blockchain transactions and decentralized
applications, we may inadvertently and without knowledge, directly or indirectly engage in transactions with or
for the benefit of prohibited persons, especially when engaging in defi activities where it may be impossible for
us to determine the identity of our counterparties. Civil liability for OFAC sanctions violations are typically
regarded as “strict liability” violations, meaning we may be held responsible for transacting with prohibited
parties even if we have no knowledge that a particular counterparty is a prohibited person under the OFAC
sanctions regulations. In addition, we may be subject to non-U.S. economic sanctions laws and regulations to
the extent we conduct activity within the jurisdiction of other sanctions regimes, including those of the
European Union and United Kingdom.

OFAC and other governmental authorities have significant discretion in the interpretation and
enforcement of sanctions laws and regulations. Moreover, economic sanctions laws and regulations continue to
evolve, often with little or no notice, which could raise operational or compliance challenges. If it is determined
that we have transacted with prohibited persons, even inadvertently, this could result in substantial reputational
harm, fines or penalties, and costs associated with governmental inquiries and investigations. Any or all of the
foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, operations or financial condition.
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We may be subject to securities or corporate governance litigation, which is expensive and could divert our
management’s attention.

Shareholders, token purchasers, protocol participants, or IP rights holders could bring claims alleging
securities violations, misstatements, IP infringement, or governance misconduct — potentially resulting in
material damages, rescission, or injunctive relief. It could be alleged that by holding $IP Tokens or using $IP
Tokens to vote on governance proposals in relation to the Story Protocol, the holders of $IP Tokens, including
our Company, have entered into a general partnership, unincorporated association, or some other form of legal
entity or association with other $IP Token holders or a group of such holders. If this were to be found or alleged
with respect to the Story Protocol and holders of $IP Tokens, we could be held responsible for the actions of the
other members of the unincorporated association or general partnership, or the Story Protocol itself, and subject
to up to unlimited liability with respect to those actions.

Risks Related to Our Craft Spirits Business

We face significant competition with an increasing number of products and market participants that could
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial results.

Our industry is intensely competitive and highly fragmented. Our craft spirits compete with many other
domestic and foreign premium whiskies and other spirits. Our products also compete with popularly-priced
generic whiskies and with other alcoholic and, to a lesser degree, non-alcoholic beverages, for drinker
acceptance and loyalty, shelf space and prominence in retail stores, presence and prominence on restaurant
alcoholic beverage lists and for marketing focus by our distributors, many of which carry extensive portfolios of
spirits and other alcoholic beverages. We compete on the basis of product taste and quality, brand image, price,
service and ability to innovate in response to consumer preferences. This competition is driven by established
companies and new entrants in our markets and categories. In the United States, spirits sales are relatively
concentrated among a limited number of large suppliers, including Diageo plc (NYSE: DEO), Pernod Ricard
SA, E & J Gallo Winery, Proximo Spirits, Sazerac Company, MGP, and Constellation Brands, Inc.
(NYSE: STZ), among others. These and our other competitors may have more robust financial, technical,
marketing and distribution networks and public relations resources than we have. As a result of this intense
competition, combined with our growth goals, we have experienced and may continue to face upward pressure
on our selling, marketing and promotional efforts and expenses. There can be no assurance that in the future we
will be able to successfully compete with our competitors or that we will not face greater competition from
other distilleries, producers and beverage manufacturers.

If we are unable to successfully compete with existing or new market participants, or if we do not
effectively respond to competitive pressures, we could experience reductions in market share and margins that
could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial results.

We compete in an industry that is brand-conscious, so brand name recognition and acceptance of our
products are critical to our success.

Our business is substantially dependent upon awareness and market acceptance of our products and
brands by our targeted consumers. In addition, our business depends on the acceptance by our independent
distributors of our brands as beverage brands that have the potential to provide incremental sales growth rather
than reduce distributors’ existing beverage sales. Although we believe we have been successful in establishing
our brands as recognizable brands in the regional Pacific Northwest premium craft spirits industry, we may be
too early in the product life cycle of these brands to determine whether our products and brands will achieve and
maintain satisfactory levels of acceptance by independent distributors, retail customers and consumers. We
believe the success of our brands will also be substantially dependent upon acceptance of our product name
brands. Accordingly, any failure of our brands to maintain or increase acceptance or market penetration would
likely have a material adverse effect on our revenues and financial results.
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A reduction in consumer demand for whiskey, vodka, gin, RTDs and other spirits, which may result from a
variety of factors, including demographic shifts and decreases in discretionary spending, could materially
and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial results.

We rely on consumers’ demand for our craft spirits. While over the past several years there have been
modest increases in consumption of beverage alcohol in most of our product categories and geographic markets,
there have been periods in the past in which there were substantial declines in the overall per capita
consumption of beverage alcohol products in the U.S. and other markets in which we participate or plans to
participate. Consumer preferences may shift due to a variety of factors, including changes in demographic or
social trends, changes in discretionary income, public health policies and perceptions and changes in leisure,
dining and beverage consumption patterns. Our success will require us to anticipate and respond effectively to
shifts in consumer behavior and drinking tastes. If consumer preferences were to move away from our Heritage
Distilling or other brands, our results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

A limited or general decline in consumer demand could occur in the future due to a variety of factors,
including:

•         a general decline in economic or geopolitical conditions;

•         a general decline in the consumption of alcoholic beverage products in on-premises establishments,
such as those that may result from smoking bans and stricter laws relating to driving while under the
influence of alcohol and changes in public health policies, including those implemented to address
the COVID-19 pandemic;

•         a generational or demographic shift in consumer preferences away from whiskies and other spirits
to other alcoholic beverages or non-alcoholic beverages;

•         increased activity of anti-alcohol groups;

•         increased regulation placing restrictions on the purchase or consumption of alcoholic beverage
products;

•         concern about the health consequences of consuming alcoholic beverage products; and

•         increased federal, state, provincial, and foreign excise, or other taxes on beverage alcohol products
and increased restrictions on beverage alcohol advertising and marketing.

Demand for premium spirits brands, like ours, may be particularly susceptible to changing economic
conditions and consumer tastes, preferences and spending habits, particularly among younger demographic
groups, which may reduce our sales of these products and adversely affect our profitability. For instance, a
reduction in the overall number of consumers over the legal drinking age, but who are relatively new to the
market, may choose to consume less alcohol, or to stop consuming alcohol altogether. An unanticipated decline
or change in consumer demand or preference could also materially impact on our ability to forecast future
production requirements, which could, in turn, impair our ability to effectively adapt to changing consumer
preferences. Any reduction in the demand for our spirits products would materially and adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial results.

Adverse public opinion about alcohol could reduce demand for our products.

In the past, anti-alcohol groups have advocated successfully for more stringent labeling requirements,
higher taxes and other regulations designed to discourage alcohol consumption. More restrictive regulations,
negative publicity regarding alcohol consumption and/or changes in consumer perceptions of the relative
healthfulness or safety of beverage alcohol could decrease sales and consumption of alcohol and thus the
demand for our products. This could, in turn, significantly decrease both our revenues and our revenue growth,
causing a decline in our results of operations.
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We could see structural changes in the amount of alcohol purchased and consumed in our markets as the
use of GLP-1 and similar weight loss drugs increase among the population, which could create more pricing
competition or an overall reduction in sales and revenues associated with alcohol.

An increasing number of Americans are using GLP-1 or similar drugs as a primary means of losing
weight. These drugs work by mimicking or enhancing the GLP-1 hormone produced by the body to lower blood
sugar, reduce appetite, slow gastric emptying or reduce glucagon, each of which taken by themselves, or when
working together, ends up curbing the appetite of patients. There are different types of GLP-1s, including
semaglutide, dulaglutide, and liraglutide among others. Common brand names of such drugs include Ozempic,
Wegovy, Victoza, Trulicity and Zepbound, to name a few. Patients who use these drugs report nausea, worsened
or prolonged hangovers, faster intoxication and other negative side effects if they consume alcohol while using
a GLP-1.

Two recent studies (Keiser Family Foundation and RAND Corporation) indicate that nearly 12% of the
adult U.S. population (one in eight American adults) reported taking GLP-1 drugs in 2025, a nearly doubling of
the 6% who reported taking such drugs in 2024. Drug makers are working on cheaper pill-forms of GLP-1s for
mass release and based on this development, one leading trade association (the Bullvine) predicts more than
20% of American adults will be using some form of GLP-1 by 2027 (one in five American adults). If the current
usage rate of GLP-1 drugs of approximately 12% stays steady or increases, a significant portion of the
American alcohol consuming population may be removed from the buying pool so long as they are taking these
drugs. This could lead to long-term structural changes in the entire alcohol industry impacting all sectors —
beer, wine, spirits, hard cider and RTDs. This type of change would likely have an adverse impact on our spirits
business as we compete with large and small brands alike for the consumer’s attention and money.

Due to the three-tier alcohol beverage distribution system in the United States, we are heavily reliant on our
distributors that resell alcoholic beverages in all states in which we do business. Our inability to obtain
distribution in some states, or a significant reduction in distributor demand for our products, would
materially and adversely affect our sales and profitability.

Due to regulatory requirements in the United States, we sell a significant portion of our craft spirits to
wholesalers for resale to retail accounts. A change in the relationship with any of our significant distributors
could harm our business and reduce our sales. The laws and regulations of several states prohibit changes of
distributors, except under certain limited circumstances, making it difficult to terminate or otherwise cease
working with a distributor for poor performance without reasonable justification, as defined by applicable
statutes. Any difficulty or inability to replace a distributor, poor performance of our major distributors or our
inability to collect accounts receivable from our major distributors could harm our business. In addition, an
expansion of the laws and regulations limiting the sale of our spirits would materially and adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial results. There can be no assurance that the distributors and accounts
to which we sell our products will continue to purchase our products or provide our products with adequate
levels of promotional support, which could increase competitive pressure to increase sales and marketing
spending and could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial results.

Failure of third-party distributors upon which we rely could adversely affect our business.

We rely heavily on third-party distributors for the sale of our products to retailers, restaurants, bars, hotels,
casinos, entertainment venues and other accounts. We expect sales to distributors to represent an increasingly
substantial portion of our future net sales as we continue to grow our network of wholesale distributors.
Consolidation among distributors or the loss of a significant distributor could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our distributors may also provide distribution
services to competing brands, as well as larger, national or international brands, and may be to varying degrees
influenced by their continued business relationships with other larger beverage, and specifically, craft spirits
companies. Our independent distributors may be influenced by a large competitor if they rely on that competitor
for a significant portion of their sales. There can be no assurance that our distributors will continue to
effectively market and distribute our products. The loss of any distributor or the inability to replace a poorly-
performing distributor in a timely fashion, or our inability to expand our distribution network into states in
which we do not currently have distribution, could slow our growth and have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, no assurance can be given that we will
successfully attract new distributors as we increase our presence in their existing markets or expand into new
markets.
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We incur significant time and expense in attracting and maintaining key distributors.

Our marketing and sales strategy depends largely on our independent distributors’ availability and
performance. We currently do not have, nor do we anticipate in the future that we will be able to establish, long-
term contractual commitments or agreements from some of our distributors and some of our distributors may
discontinue their relationship with us on short notice. Some distributors handle several competitive products. In
addition, our products are a small part of our distributors’ business. We may not be able to maintain our current
distribution relationships or establish and maintain successful relationships with distributors in new geographic
distribution areas. Moreover, there is the additional possibility that we may have to incur additional costs to
attract and maintain key distributors in one or more of our geographic distribution areas to profitably exploit our
geographic markets.

The marketing efforts of our distributors are important for our success. If our brands prove to be less
attractive to our existing distributors and/or if we fail to attract additional distributors, and/or our distributors do
not market and promote our products above the products of our competitors, our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be adversely affected.

It is difficult to predict the timing and amount of our sales because our distributors and their accounts are
not required to place minimum orders with us.

Our independent distributors and their accounts are not required to place a minimum of monthly or annual
orders for our products. To reduce their inventory costs, independent distributors typically order products from
us on a “just in time” basis in quantities and at such times based on the demand for the products in a particular
distribution area. For products in higher demand, there is typically a minimum par level held in distributors’
warehouses, and only once the inventory falls below that par level will a reorder be triggered. Accordingly, we
cannot predict the timing or quantity of purchases by any of our independent distributors or whether any of our
distributors will continue to purchase products from us in the same frequencies and volumes as they may have
done in the past. Additionally, our larger distributors and partners may make orders that are larger than we have
historically been required to fill. Shortages in inventory levels, supply of raw materials or other key supplies
could negatively affect us.

The sales of our products could decrease significantly if we cannot secure and maintain listings in the
control states.

In the control states, the state liquor commissions act in place of distributors and decide which products
are to be purchased and offered for sale in their respective states, and at what prices they will be offered to
consumers. Products selected for listing must generally reach certain volumes and/or profit levels to maintain
their listings. Products are selected for purchase and sale through listing procedures that are generally made
available to new products only at periodically-scheduled listing intervals. Products not selected for listings can
only be purchased by consumers in the applicable control state through special orders, if at all. If, in the future,
we are unable to maintain our current listings in the control states, or secure and maintain listings in those states
for any additional products we may produce or acquire, sales of our products could decrease significantly.

The privatization of a control state could adversely impact our sales and our results of operations.

Once products are approved for sale by the state liquor commission in a control state, the products move
through the normal state warehousing, wholesale, distribution and retail sales channels established under such a
system. State owned, managed or regulated stores set the prices for the products and there are rules and
regulations regarding shelf placement, samplings and retail sales to consumers and bars and restaurants. In these
markets, the approval for shelf space and pricing is conducted through the state process. In some control states,
there are increasing levels of discussion about privatization, either because of negative views toward state
ownership of the liquor system, the need for states to generate cash through the one-time sale of assets, or due to
other political pressures in those states. Once a state privatizes its liquor system it creates significant disruption
during the transition period towards privatization as distributors need to set up new warehouses and sales teams
and new delivery routes, and bars and restaurants who were required to focus on purchasing only from their
local state liquor store now must navigate a new distribution system, sometimes with new pricing and new
taxes. Likewise, if spirits
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sales move into private stores and major retail chains, new challenges are created for small or new brands like
ours which then must compete for shelf space with larger, more established or better funded brands. If we are
successful in growing our brand approval and sales in control states and one or more of those control states
privatizes its liquor system, our sales, revenue and profitability derived from sales in those states may be
disrupted.

Substantial disruption at the distilleries and distribution facilities with which we contract or partner for our
production could occur.

A disruption in production at the distilleries or third-party production facilities with which we partner or
contract could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, a disruption could occur at any of our
other facilities or those of our suppliers, bottlers, co-packers or distributors. The disruption could occur for
many reasons, including a full production schedule, fire, natural disasters, weather, water scarcity,
manufacturing problems, disease, strikes, transportation or supply interruption, government regulation,
cybersecurity attacks or terrorism. Alternative facilities with sufficient capacity or capabilities may not be
available, may cost substantially more or may take a significant time to start production, each of which could
negatively affect our business and financial performance.

Disruption within our supply chain, contract manufacturing or distribution channels could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The prices of ingredients, other raw materials, packaging materials, aluminum cans, glass bottles and
other containers fluctuate depending on market conditions, governmental actions, climate change and other
factors beyond our control. Substantial increases in the prices of our ingredients, other raw materials, packaging
materials, aluminum cans and other containers, to the extent they cannot be recouped through increases in the
prices of finished beverage products, could increase our operating costs and reduce our profitability. Increases in
the prices of our finished products resulting from a higher cost of ingredients, other raw materials, packaging
materials, aluminum cans and other containers could affect affordability in some markets and reduce our sales.
In addition, some of our ingredients as well as some packaging containers, such as aluminum cans and glass
bottles, are available from a limited number of suppliers. We and our suppliers and co-packers may not be able
to maintain favorable arrangements and relationships with these suppliers, and our contingency plans may not
be effective in preventing disruptions that may arise from shortages of any ingredients that are available from a
limited number of suppliers. Adverse weather conditions may affect the supply of other agricultural
commodities from which key ingredients for our products are derived. An increase in the cost, a sustained
interruption in the supply, or a shortage of some of these ingredients, other raw materials, packaging materials,
aluminum cans and other containers that may be caused by changes in or the enactment of new laws and
regulations; a deterioration of our relationships with suppliers; supplier quality and reliability issues; trade
disruptions; changes in supply chain; and increases in tariffs; or events such as natural disasters, widespread
outbreaks of infectious diseases, power outages, labor strikes, political uncertainties or governmental instability,
or the like could negatively impact our net operating revenues and profits.

Our reliance on distributors, retailers and brokers, or our inability to expand the TBN, could affect our
ability to efficiently and profitably distribute and market our products, maintain our existing markets and
expand our business into other geographic markets.

Our ability to maintain and expand our existing markets for our products, and to establish markets in new
geographic distribution areas, is dependent on our ability to establish and maintain successful relationships with
reliable distributors, retailers and brokers strategically positioned to serve those areas, and our ability to expand
the reach of the TBN. Most of our distributors, retailers and brokers sell and distribute competing products and
our products may represent a small portion of their business. This network’s success will depend on the
performance of its distributors, retailers and brokers. There is a risk that the mentioned entities may not
adequately perform their functions within the network by, without limitation, failing to distribute to sufficient
retailers or positioning our products in localities that may not be receptive to our product. Our ability to
incentivize and motivate distributors to manage and sell our products is affected by competition from other
beverage companies who have greater resources than we do. To the extent that our distributors, retailers and
brokers are distracted from selling our products or do not employ sufficient efforts in
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managing and selling our products, including re-stocking the retail shelves with our products, our sales and
results of operations could be adversely affected. Furthermore, the financial position or market share of such
third parties may deteriorate, which could adversely affect our distribution, marketing and sales activities.

We also expect to expand our business into other geographic markets by expanding our TBN network and
entering new relationships or joint ventures with additional North American Indian tribes. While we believe we
have a significant first mover advantage in our ability to attract and expand the interest of North American
Indian tribes in establishing distilleries on tribal lands, it is possible that the interest of tribes in the construction
or operation of distilleries will not develop as expected or will develop at a slower pace. To the extent we are
unable to expand the TBN in a timely manner or at all, our sales and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Our ability to maintain and expand our distribution network and attract additional distributors, retailers
and brokers, and to expand the TBN will depend on many factors, some of which are outside our control. Some
of these factors include:

•         the level of demand for our brands and products in a particular distribution area;

•         our ability to price our products at levels competitive with those of competing products; and

•         our ability to deliver products in quantity and at the time ordered by distributors, retailers and
brokers.

We may not be able to successfully manage all or any of these factors in any of our current or prospective
geographic areas of distribution. Our inability to achieve success regarding any of these factors in a geographic
distribution area will have a material adverse effect on our relationships in that geographic area, thus limiting
our ability to maintain or expand our market, which will likely adversely affect our revenues and financial
results.

Our TBN efforts may not be successful.

Our business plan includes licensing our products, services and concepts to certain third parties, including
tribal business entities or American Indian tribes as part of the TBN. As planned, we would receive royalties
associated with revenues earned through non-exclusive limited licenses for the right to use, sell and assign
certain of our patents, trademarks, brands, recipes and other protected assets. However, these efforts may not be
successful. While the current plan does not envision us providing any capital to build out and operate these
licensed locations, our involvement in these efforts will require the time and efforts of our employees and
executives, which may detract from their time spent building our brand and value as a standalone entity. The
risks associated with our TBN plan, which individually or in the aggregate, could harm our overall brand,
reputation, perception in the market and financial position, include:

•         Sovereign Immunity and Choice of Venue — Tribes enjoy sovereign immunity for certain activities
that take place on trust land. Since it is envisioned that these partnerships will occur on trust land,
we intend to seek a waiver of sovereign immunity. There can be no assurance that such a waiver
will be granted, or if it would be interpreted as enforceable later. Likewise, unless a tribe grants us a
waiver to seek relief in a federal or state court, there is a risk that a dispute must be heard in Tribal
court, which may not provide us with a fair hearing.

•         Right of entry — In the event we secure a waiver of sovereign immunity or the right to seek a venue
for hearing in federal or state courts, there is no guarantee that we will secure an adequate right of
entry onto Tribal land to enforce our rights. Such rights could include recovery of intellectual
property, personal property or other property, goods, equipment, stock or other tangible assets owed
to us. Even if we secure a right of entry, there can be no assurance that we will be respected or
enforced by proper authorities with jurisdiction over the matter.

•         Product Quality — There can be no assurance that our Tribal partners will adequately follow each
of our prescribed procedures, recipes and protocols to ensure compliance with labeling standards or
the quality of product that we otherwise insist on or they may not keep sufficiently detailed records
for state and federal auditing purposes. Either event could cause products to be redistilled, dumped,
impounded or disposed of in a way that adversely impacts our operating results and financial
condition.
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•         Failure to Produce — Our Tribal partners might fail to produce the amount of product required to
meet demand, fulfill contracts or propose new products to distribution outlets. Further, equipment,
raw ingredients and/or finished ingredients or goods may not be readily available for licensed
partners at any given time, which could negatively impact the cash flow and deliverability of an
operation, the licensed partners and/or our brand.

•         Cross Sales into Distribution Channels — Our Tribal partners might attempt to directly sell into the
market in violation of our distribution agreements, or attempt to compete with us in distribution
outside the context of a formal company-wide distribution plan, which could disrupt our contractual
or legal obligations, undercut us in the market, flood the market with product or cause confusion
within distribution channels.

•         Change of leadership — Tribal organizations have regular elections for leadership positions. It is
almost certain that at some point during the negotiation, design, construction or operation of a
location that a change in Tribal governance will conflict with the operation of the business to the
detriment of us. This could result in our decision to seek early termination of a contract to avoid
disruptions in other parts of our business or to protect the integrity of our brand and reputation if the
relationship with a Tribal partner materially deteriorates.

•         Failure to resell the concept — The initial Tribes with which we work may not inspire other Tribes
to join the TBN, thereby impacting the future number of TBN locations and future anticipated
growth plans. Accordingly, an insufficient number of Tribal partners may decide to join the TBN, or
such licensees may have an insufficient level of sales to justify or sustain continued operations.

•         Failure to take our management input into account — Tribal partners may not consider our desire or
input with respect to production, branding, marketing, sales and distribution.

•         Failure to have adequate oversight over employees, personnel, product — As the actual employer
of employees operating the new locations, tribes may not consider our hiring input or guidance as it
relates to customer service, technical and quality assurance, documentation and compliance, among
other issues. In such an event, we would have little recourse to remove Tribal employees from key
positions.

•         Failure to have access to the books and records — Tribal partners might withhold financial
information from us such that we cannot adequately determine sales, costs and net revenues, among
other financial metrics.

•         Interpretation of federal or state law; failure to follow the law — We are one of the first entities
attempting to license spirits manufacturing. There is a risk that federal, state and/or local regulators
may view this activity as a violation of applicable laws, rules or regulations, such that we and our
licensed partners must adapt our business plans and strategies, or to abandon our TBN plans
altogether. There is also a risk that a member tribe in our TBN may not follow the law.

•         Community backlash — Before, during or after our partnerships, Tribal or non-Tribal members
might accuse us of engaging in activities that enhance or promote alcoholism and our impact on
Indian communities. Such a campaign could tarnish our brand and put pressure on us or our Tribal
partners to terminate our arrangements.

•         Failure to be perceived as authentically “local” — Some consumers may not view the idea of
licensed distilleries as being authentically “local,” such that our brand reputation and products may
be diminished in a particular region.

A non-profit or charitable partner could act in a way that damages our brand.

We currently partner with non-profits and charitable organizations to market some of our products to
generate sales for our company and raise donations for charities. There is a risk one or more of these entities, or
specific people within their groups, could misuse donations we provide them or act in a way not in conformity
with the goals or mission of the partnership. This could cause reputational damage to us or to our brands,
particularly to our brands, that may be associated with the non-profit efforts and may make it more difficult for
us to secure future partners.
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If we do not adequately manage our inventory levels, our operating results could be adversely affected.

We need to maintain adequate inventory levels to be able to deliver products to distributors on a timely
basis. Our inventory supply depends on our ability to correctly estimate demand for our products. Our ability to
estimate demand for our products is imprecise, particularly for new products, seasonal promotions and new
markets. If we materially underestimate demand for our products or are unable to maintain sufficient inventory
of raw materials, we might not be able to satisfy demand on a short-term basis. If we overestimate distributor or
retailer demand for our products, we may end up with too much inventory, resulting in higher storage costs,
increased trade spending and the risk of inventory spoilage. If we fail to manage our inventory to meet demand,
we could damage our relationships with our distributors and retailers and could delay or lose sales opportunities,
which would unfavorably impact our future sales and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, if the
inventory of our products held by our distributors and retailers is too high, they will not place orders for
additional products, which would also unfavorably impact our sales and adversely affect our operating results.

We may not be able to replicate the flavor profiles of our products.

We may develop a following for one or more products in which we might not be able to replicate the
recipe or flavor profile. Our super premium aged whiskeys, rums and brandies take time to age, and we follow
specific steps in our recipes. There is a chance a particular step is not taken properly or is missed entirely. In this
case, it might be years before we find the impact of such actions on the final product and by that time, we may
not be able to use that product for our intended purposes, which could impact our business plans and/or revenue
targets. It could also mean a product we were planning to age to meet future plans might not be available, which
could impact future revenues or value.

There is a long lead time for the production of our products due to the aging process for spirits.

There is a significant lead time required for us to age products to scale up for increased demand. As our
footprint and sales grow, it may be difficult for us to produce and adequately age certain of our products to meet
or sustain demand. Likewise, if we find suppliers of adequate supplies in the marketplace, there is no guarantee
such supplies will remain available, or that if they are available, that the price for such items will be
commercially reasonable.

We have a minority ownership interest in another brand, the value of which may never be realized or
monetized, or which could be significantly reduced or written down.

While we have a minority interest in Flavored Bourbon LLC (“FBLLC”), the owner of the Flavored
Bourbon brand, there is no guarantee that such brand will ever grow in value or retain its current value or any
value at all. The management team of FBLLC could fail in their efforts to grow the Flavored Bourbon brand
and our investment in such a brand may never be monetized. The majority owners of FBLLC, or FBLLC’s
management team, could fail to adhere to their contractual obligations to us as they relate to future distributions
or payments, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. If an investor
invests in us assuming a certain return or share in proceeds from the growth or sale of such brand, such investor
may never realize such returns, or the value of such investor’s investment in us could decrease materially.

In addition, a well-known actor and celebrity is a co-owner of FBLLC and has been publicly and
prominently involved in marketing the Flavored Bourbon brand to consumers. If any celebrity associated with
the brand falls ill and cannot fully recover, or he or she fully recovers and chooses to disengage from continuing
to market the Flavored Bourbon brand, it could severely impact the planned growth for the brand and cause the
anticipated future value to never be realized. It could also impact the ability of the Flavored Bourbon brand to
be monetized. If an investor invests in us assuming a certain return or share in proceeds from the growth or sale
of such brand because of the co-ownership and marketing support of such actor, such investor may never realize
such returns, or the value of such investor’s investment in us could decrease materially.

In addition, if any celebrity associated with the brand is accused of making comments or engaging in any
activity that is offensive, dangerous or illegal, it could materially impact the value of the Flavored Bourbon
brand and an investor’s expectation of returns from the possible sale of such brand.
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Some of our future earnings from any sale of FBLLC have been pledged as inducements to secure past
financings, which could reduce or eliminate our receipt of gains from the future sale of FBLLC for the
benefit of our company or our investors.

As an inducement to obtain financing in 2022 and 2023 through the sale of convertible notes, we agreed
to pay to the investors in such financings a portion of the proceeds we may receive from the sale of FBLLC or
the Flavored Bourbon brand in the amount of 150% of their subscription amounts. For additional information
regarding such payment obligation, see Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 included elsewhere in this prospectus. As a result of such payment obligation,
purchasers of our common stock who may have anticipated a certain return, or expected to share in our
proceeds, from the growth or sale of FBLLC or the Flavored Bourbon brand may never realize such returns, or
the value of such purchasers’ investment in us could decrease materially after required payments to our creditors
are made.

Our interest in FBLLC or any future brand or entity in which we invest could be subject to dilution if there is
a capital call in which we do not participate.

As a minority owner in FBLLC, we do not control the budget, spending or planning associated with the
Flavored Bourbon brand, nor do we control whether there is a capital call, nor the terms of any offering that
would result from a capital call. A capital call by FBLLC for which we do not have the resources to participate
in full, or at all, could lead to dilution of our ownership in the Flavored Bourbon brand. A capital call by
FBLLC could also have terms that put us in a less favorable financial position regarding any future potential
earnings of the brand if we do not or cannot participate in such capital call. Conversely, if we choose to
participate in a capital call, there is no guarantee of success or a return on such an investment. If an investor
invests in us assuming a certain return or share in proceeds from the growth or sale of the Flavored Bourbon
brand because of our current ownership level in FBLLC, such investor may never realize such returns, or the
value of such investor’s investment in us could decrease materially. In the first quarter 2024, FBLLC completed
approximately $10 million of a planned $12 million capital call to fund growth in its operations and marketing.
We have no view to when, or if, the final $2 million will be raised via this facility and there should be no
expectation that we will participate in the remainder of that offering if they elect to complete it.

An interruption of our operations or a catastrophic event at our facilities or the facilities of a partner or
supplier could negatively affect our business.

Although we maintain insurance coverage for various property damage and loss events, an interruption in
or loss of operations at any of our distilleries or other production facilities could reduce or postpone production
of our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or financial
condition. To the extent that our premium or value-added products rely on unique or proprietary processes or
techniques, replacing lost production by purchasing from outside suppliers would be difficult.

Part of our business plan contemplates our customers storing barreled inventory of aged premium
whiskeys, rums and brandies at our barrel storage facility in Gig Harbor, Washington. If a catastrophic event
were to occur at this facility or at our warehouses, our customers’ products or business could be adversely
affected. The loss of a significant amount of aged inventory at these facilities through fire, natural disaster or
otherwise could result in customer claims against us, liability for customer losses, and a reduction of warehouse
services revenue.

We also store a substantial amount of our own inventory at our distribution warehouses in Gig Harbor,
Washington and Eugene, Oregon. In addition, we store finished goods and merchandise at all of our retail
locations. Some of our raw inputs are stored at supplier warehouses until we are ready to receive them. At times
we have raw goods, work-in-progress inventory, or finished goods at third-party production or co-packing
facilities, or in transit between any number of locations. If a catastrophic event were to occur at any of these
locations or while in transit or storage, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be
adversely affected. The loss of a significant amount of our aged inventory at these facilities through fire, natural
disaster or otherwise could result in a reduction in supply of the affected product or products and could affect
our long-term performance of affected brands.
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Likewise, the facility of a TBN partner or supplier producing or storing product, inventory or aging
inventory could suffer an uninsured or underinsured loss that impacts our business. This could result in a
reduction in supply of the affected product or products and could materially adversely affect the long-term
performance of certain of our brands.

The formulas, recipes and proportions used in the production of our products may differ materially from
those we have assumed for purposes of our business plan.

The assumed formulas, recipes and proportions in our business plan, and the resulting product yields,
revenues and profits, could greatly differ from what we assumed. As a result, our financial projections could
change dramatically overall and on a per-bottle or per-unit basis. Such changes could result in significant
reductions in the assumptions for sales, profits and distributions for stockholders, thereby negatively impacting
potential returns for investors or putting the investors’ investments at risk.

We may be disparaged publicly or in the press for not being authentically “craft.”

Having multiple distillery locations, increasing the scale of our operations, collaborating with larger
partners to achieve our goals, licensing our brand to third parties for production, or becoming a publicly-traded
company could, individually or in the aggregate, impact how and whether consumers, competitors, regulators
and the media, among others, perceive us as a “craft” distiller. In addition, because we are permitted to, and
often do, source intermediate and finished spirits materials in bulk, such as whiskeys and neutral grain spirits,
for blending, flavoring, bottling, mixing or aging, a public accusation or pronouncement by a third party or the
press of such a practice as not “craft” could cause us to come under intense scrutiny in the market such that we
lose our perception as a “craft” distiller, which could result in consumer backlash, negative news stories, the
removal of our products from bars, restaurants and retail stores and the dropping of our products by distributors
and wholesalers. Any such scenario would likely cause significant hardship for us and could cause an
investment in us to lose all or some of its value.

We are subject to seasonality related to sales of our products.

Our business is subject to substantial seasonal fluctuations. Historically, a significant portion of our net
sales and net earnings has been realized during the period from June through August and in November and
December. Accordingly, our operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter. Our operating
results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of any other results. If for any reason our sales were to be
substantially below seasonal norms, our annual revenues and earnings could be materially and adversely
affected.

If our inventory is lost due to theft, fire or other damage or becomes obsolete, our results of operations would
be negatively impacted.

We expect our inventory levels to fluctuate to meet customer delivery requirements for our products. We
are always at risk of loss of that inventory due to theft, fire or other damage, and any such loss, whether insured
against or not, could cause us to fail to meet our orders and harm our sales and operating results. Also, our
inventory may become obsolete as we introduce new products, cease to produce old products or modify the
design of our products’ packaging, which would increase our operating losses and negatively impact our results
of operations.

Weather conditions may have a material adverse effect on our sales or on the price of raw materials used to
produce spirits.

We operate in an industry in which performance is affected by the weather. Extreme changes in weather
conditions may result in lower consumption of craft spirits and other alcoholic beverages. Unusually cold spells
in winter or high temperatures in the summer can result in temporary shifts in customer preferences and impact
demand for the alcoholic beverages we produce and distribute. Similar weather conditions in the future may
have a material adverse effect on our sales, which could affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, inclement weather may affect the availability of grain used to produce raw spirit, which
could result in a rise in raw spirit pricing that could negatively affect margins and sales.
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Climate change, or legal, regulatory or market measures to address climate change, may negatively affect
our business, operations or financial performance, and water scarcity or poor quality could negatively impact
our production costs and capacity.

Our business depends upon agricultural activity and natural resources. There has been much public
discussion related to concerns that carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere may have an
adverse impact on global temperatures, weather patterns and the frequency and severity of extreme weather and
natural disasters. Severe weather events and climate change may negatively affect agricultural productivity in
the regions from which we presently source our agricultural raw materials. Decreased availability of our raw
materials may increase the cost of goods for our products. Severe weather events, or changes in the frequency or
intensity of weather events, can also disrupt our supply chain, which may affect production operations,
insurance cost and coverage, as well as delivery of our products to wholesalers, retailers and consumers.

Water is essential in our product production and is a limited resource in some of the regions in which we
operate. If climate patterns change and droughts become more severe in any of the regions in which we operate,
there may be a scarcity of water or poor water quality which may affect our production costs or impose capacity
constraints. Such events could adversely affect the results of operations and financial condition.

During the fermentation process required to make spirits, carbon dioxide is produced and vented into the
atmosphere. Currently there are no regulations in the industry requiring capture of carbon dioxide. If a
government decided to implement such requirements, it might not be technically feasible for us to comply, or to
comply in a way that allows us to operate profitably. Failure to implement any such rules could result in
temporary or permanent loss of licenses, fines, penalties or other negative outcomes for us.

The equipment we or our third party producers use to make our products may not perform as planned or
designed.

The equipment we or our third party producers use to make our products may not perform as planned or
designed. Such failures could significantly extend the time required to make batches of products for sale. As
such, our reputation could suffer, thereby impacting future sales and revenues.

Further, equipment is subject to breakage and downtime, including after the lapse of a warranty period
related to such equipment, which could require us to expend unanticipated resources to repair or replace such
equipment, thereby delaying, reducing or otherwise impacting our anticipated revenues.

Temperature issues in fermentation vessels, bacteria or other contamination could negatively affect the
fermentation process for our products.

Our products require proper fermentation of grains or fruits. Temperature issues in fermentation vessels
could negatively affect the fermentation process, as could bacteria or other contamination. As such, faulty
fermentation or contamination could force us to discard batches of fermenting product before it can be distilled.
This would not only cost us in wasted fermenting products that must be disposed of, but would also extend the
sales cycle for the affected products, thereby delaying, reducing or otherwise impacting our anticipated
revenues.

We operate in highly-competitive industries, and competitive pressures could have a material adverse effect
on our business.

The alcoholic beverages production and distribution industries in our region are intensely competitive.
The principal competitive factors in these industries include product range, pricing, distribution capabilities and
responsiveness to consumer preferences, with varying emphasis on these factors depending on the market and
the product. The alcoholic beverage industry competes with respect to brand recognition, product quality, brand
loyalty, customer service and price. Our failure to maintain and enhance our competitive position could
materially and adversely affect our business and prospects for business. Wholesaler, retailer and consumer
purchasing decisions are influenced by, among other things, the perceived absolute or relative overall value of
our products, including our quality or pricing, compared to competitor’s products. Unit volume and dollar sales
could also be affected by pricing,
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purchasing, financing, operational, advertising or promotional decisions made by wholesalers, state and
provincial agencies, and retailers which could affect their supply of, or consumer demand for, our products. We
could also experience higher than expected selling, general and administrative expenses if we find it necessary
to increase the number of our personnel or our advertising or marketing expenditures to maintain our
competitive position or for other reasons.

Our failure to manage growth effectively or prepare for product scalability could have an adverse effect on
our employee efficiency, product quality, working capital levels and results of operations.

Any significant growth in the market for our products or our entry into new markets may require an
expansion of our employee base for managerial, operational, financial, and other purposes. During any period of
growth, we may face problems related to our operational and financial systems and controls, including quality
control and delivery and service capacities. We would also need to continue to expand, train and manage our
employee base. Continued future growth will impose significant added responsibilities upon the members of
management to identify, recruit, maintain, integrate and motivate new employees.

Aside from increased difficulties in the management of human resources, we may also encounter working
capital issues, as we will need increased liquidity to finance the marketing of the products we sell and the hiring
of additional employees. For effective growth management, we must continue to improve our operations,
management, and financial systems and controls. Our failure to manage growth effectively may lead to
operational and financial inefficiencies that will have a negative effect on our profitability. We cannot assure
investors that we will be able to timely and effectively meet that demand and maintain the quality standards
required by our existing and potential customers.

We may not be successful in introducing new products and services.

Our success in developing, introducing, selling and supporting new and enhanced products or services
depends upon a variety of factors, including timely and efficient completion of service and product design,
development and approval, and timely and efficient implementation of product and service offerings. Because
new product and service commitments may be made well in advance of sales, new product or service decisions
must anticipate changes in the industries served. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in
selecting, developing, and marketing new products and services or in enhancing our planned products or
services. Failure to do so successfully may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Further, new product and service introductions or enhancements by our competitors, or their use of other
novel technologies, could cause a decline in sales or a loss of market acceptance of our planned products and
services. Specifically, our competitors may attempt to install systems or introduce products or services that
directly compete with our planned products or service offerings with newer technology or at prices we cannot
meet. Depending on our customer arrangements then in effect, we could lose customers as a result.

Our management team may not be able to successfully implement our business strategies.

If our management team is unable to execute our business strategies, then our development, including the
establishment of revenues and our sales and marketing activities, would be materially and adversely affected. In
addition, we may encounter difficulties in effectively managing the budgeting, forecasting and other process
control issues presented by any future growth. We may seek to augment or replace members of our management
team, or we may lose key members of our management team, and we may not be able to attract new
management talent with sufficient skill and experience.

If we are unable to retain key executives and other key affiliates, our growth could be significantly inhibited
and our business harmed with a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our success is, to a certain extent, attributable to the management, sales and marketing, and operational
and technical expertise of certain key personnel. Justin Stiefel, our Chief Executive Officer, and Jennifer Stiefel,
our President, perform key functions in the operation of our business. The loss of either officer could adversely
affect
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our business, financial condition and results of operations. We do not maintain key-person insurance for
members of our management team beyond those two executive officers because it is cost prohibitive to do so at
this point. If we lose the services of any senior management, we may not be able to locate suitable or qualified
replacements and may incur additional expenses to recruit and train new personnel, which could severely
disrupt our business and prospects.

Our success in the future may depend on our ability to establish and maintain strategic alliances, and any
failure on our part to establish and maintain such relationships would adversely affect our market
penetration and revenue growth.

Due to the regulated nature of the alcoholic beverage industry, we must establish strategic relationships
with third parties. Our ability to establish strategic relationships will depend on many factors, many of which
are outside our control, such as the competitive position of our product and marketing plan relative to our
competitors. We may not be able to establish other strategic relationships in the future. In addition, any strategic
alliances that we establish may subject us to several risks, including risks associated with sharing proprietary
information, loss of control of operations that are material to developed business and profit-sharing
arrangements. Moreover, strategic alliances may be expensive to implement and subject us to the risk that the
third party will not perform its obligations under the relationship, which may subject us to losses over which we
have no control or expensive termination arrangements. As a result, even if our strategic alliances with third
parties are successful, our business may be adversely affected by factors outside of our control.

Our strategy may include acquiring companies or brands, which may result in unsuitable acquisitions or
failure to successfully integrate acquired companies or brands, which could lead to reduced profitability.

We may embark on a growth strategy through acquisitions of companies or operations that complement
our existing product lines, customers or other capabilities, such as our recent acquisition of Thinking Tree
Spirits. We may be unsuccessful in identifying suitable acquisition candidates or may be unable to consummate
desired acquisitions. To the extent any acquisitions are completed, we may be unsuccessful in integrating
acquired companies or their operations, or if integration is more difficult than anticipated, we may experience
disruptions that could have a material adverse impact on future profitability. Some of the risks that may affect
our ability to integrate, or realize any anticipated benefits from, acquisitions include:

•         unexpected losses of key employees or customers of the acquired company;

•         difficulties integrating the acquired company’s products, services, standards, processes, procedures
and controls;

•         difficulties coordinating new product and process development;

•         difficulties hiring additional management and other critical personnel;

•         difficulties increasing the scope, geographic diversity and complexity of our operations;

•         difficulties consolidating facilities or transferring processes and know-how;

•         difficulties reducing costs of the acquired company’s business;

•         diversion of management’s attention from our management; and

•         adverse impacts on retaining existing business relationships with customers.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. The
forward-looking statements are contained principally in the sections titled “Risk Factors,” “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Business,” but are also
contained elsewhere in this prospectus. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the
words “may,” “might,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “objective,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “project,” “potential,” “continue” and “ongoing,” or the negative
of these terms, or other comparable terminology intended to identify statements about the future, although not
all forward-looking statements contain these words. These statements relate to future events or our future
financial performance or condition and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that
could cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievement to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, but are
not limited to, statements about:

•         our ability to hire additional personnel and to manage the growth of our business;

•         our ability to continue as a going concern;

•         our reliance on our brand name, reputation and product quality;

•         our ability to adequately address increased demands that may be placed on our management,
operational and production capabilities;

•         the effectiveness of our advertising and promotional activities and investments;

•         our reliance on celebrities to endorse our products and market our brands;

•         general competitive conditions, including actions our competitors may take to grow their
businesses;

•         fluctuations in consumer demand for craft spirits;

•         overall decline in the health of the economy and consumer discretionary spending;

•         the occurrence of adverse weather events, natural disasters, public health emergencies, including the
COVID-19 pandemic, or other unforeseen circumstances that may cause delays to or interruptions
in our operations;

•         risks associated with disruptions in our supply chain for raw and processed materials, including
glass bottles, barrels, spirits additives and agents, water and other supplies;

•         the impact of COVID-19 on our customers, suppliers, business operations and financial results;

•         disrupted or delayed service by the distributors we rely on for the distribution of our products;

•         our ability to successfully execute our growth strategy, including continuing our expansion in our
TBN and direct-to-consumer sales channels;

•         quarterly and seasonal fluctuations in our operating results;

•         anticipated accounting recognition associated with reports generated for us by outside valuation
experts as they relate to the treatment of and accounting for the exchange of certain convertible
promissory notes into common stock and prepaid warrants;

•         our success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, our officers, key employees or
directors;

•         our ability to protect our trademarks and other intellectual property rights, including our brands and
reputation;

•         our ability to comply with laws and regulations affecting our business, including those relating to
the manufacture, sale and distribution of spirits and other alcoholic beverages;
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ISSUANCE OF SECURITIES TO SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

Offering of Pre-Funded Warrants

On August 15, 2025, we sold in a private placement to institutional and accredited investors Pre-Funded
Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 18,518,921 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $12.084 per
Pre-Funded Warrant, for an aggregate purchase price of $223.8 million, before deducting placement agent fees
and other offering expenses. Included among the purchasers in the offering were Story Foundation, which
purchased Pre-Funded Warrants to purchase 5,389,091 shares of common stock; Justin Stiefel, our Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer, who purchased Pre-Funded Warrants to purchase 165,480 shares of common
stock; and Andrew Varga, a director of our company, who purchased Pre-Funded Warrants to purchase 15,000
shares of common stock.

Of the total $223.8 million purchase price for the Pre-Funded Warrants, $35.5 million was paid in cash,
$59.5 million was paid in the cryptocurrency stablecoin commonly referred to as USDC (“USDC”), based on a
purchase price of $1.00 per USDC, and $128.8 million was paid in $IP Tokens, which were valued for purposes
of such offering at (i) $5.2413 (representing a 20% discount from the closing price of $IP Tokens on August 8,
2025 as reported by CoinMarketCap.com) in the case of the Story Core Contributors (as defined in the
subscription agreements for such offering), (ii) $3.40 (representing an approximately 48% discount from the
closing price of $IP Tokens on August 8, 2025 as reported by CoinMarketCap.com) in the case of Story
Foundation, or (iii) $6.5516 (the reported closing price of $IP Tokens on August 8, 2025 as reported by
CoinMarketCap.com) in the case of all other purchasers.

The Pre-Funded Warrants issued in the offering were originally exercisable to purchase an aggregate of
18,518,921 shares of common stock (the “Pre-Funded Warrant Shares”) at an exercise price of $0.002 per share.
Of such Pre-Funded Warrants, Pre-Funded Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 7,180,812 Pre-Funded Warrant
Shares were exercised on September 18, 2025 following receipt of the approval by our stockholders of the
issuance of the Pre-Funded Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrant Shares upon exercise thereof. The remaining
11,338,110 Pre-Funded Warrants outstanding are exercisable in cash or by means of a cashless exercise and will
not expire until the date the Pre-Funded Warrants are fully exercised. The exercise price of the Pre-Funded
Warrants is subject to adjustment for stock dividends, stock splits, recapitalizations and the like. A holder
(together with its affiliates) may not exercise any portion of a Pre-Funded Warrant to the extent that the holder
would own more than 4.99% of our outstanding common stock immediately after exercise (the “Beneficial
Ownership Limitation”), except that upon at least 61 days’ prior notice from the holder to us, the holder may
increase the amount of ownership of outstanding stock after exercising the holder’s Pre-Funded Warrants up to
19.99% of the number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the exercise, as
such percentage ownership is determined in accordance with the terms of the Pre-Funded Warrants. As a result
of the approval of the offering of Pre-Funded Warrants by our stockholders on September 18, 2025, a holder of
Pre-Funded Warrants may request the permanent suspension of the Beneficial Ownership Limitation from such
holder’s Pre-Funded Warrants.

We received net cash proceeds (inclusive of proceeds paid in USDC) of $95.0 million from the offering of
Pre-Funded Warrants and used (i) approximately $80.0 million of such net proceeds to purchase $IP Tokens
from Story Foundation at a price per $IP Token of $3.40, and (ii) approximately $7.0 million of such net
proceeds for the repayment of indebtedness. We used the remaining net proceeds for the payment of outstanding
trade payables, working capital and general corporate purposes, and for the establishment of our cryptocurrency
treasury operations to the extent consistent with our investment policy as amended or otherwise modified from
time to time.

In connection with the offering of Pre-Funded Warrants, we paid to Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and Roth
Capital Partners, LLC, as placement agents for the offering, a cash placement agent fee in the aggregate amount
of approximately $4.3 million and issued to such placement agents warrants (the “Placement Agent Warrants”)
to purchase an aggregate of 215,363 shares of common stock, initially with an exercise price of $0.20 per share
and a five-year term.

In anticipation of the offering, between June 19, 2025 and August 10, 2025, we entered into advisory and
implementation agreements (the “Advisory Agreements”) with Open World, Inc. and certain of its management
and affiliates, S.Y. Lee, the founder and chief executive officer of PIP Labs, the original creator of Story, and
certain other advisors to our company (collectively, the “Advisors”), pursuant to which the Advisors will
provide

66







Table of Contents

USE OF PROCEEDS

We are not selling any securities under this prospectus and will not receive any proceeds from the sale of
the common stock offered by this prospectus by the Selling Stockholders. However, we may receive proceeds
from the cash exercise of the outstanding warrants that are exercisable for a number of the shares of common
stock to be sold by the Selling Stockholders hereunder, which, if exercised in cash at the current exercise price
with respect to all such warrants, would result in gross proceeds to us of approximately $200,000. The proceeds
from such warrant exercises, if any, will be used for working capital and general corporate purposes. We cannot
predict when or whether any of such warrants will be exercised, and it is possible that some or all of such
warrants may expire unexercised. For information about the Selling Stockholders, see “Selling Stockholders.”

The Selling Stockholders will pay any underwriting discounts, and commissions and expenses incurred by
the Selling Stockholders for brokerage or legal services or any other expenses incurred by the Selling
Stockholders in disposing of the common shares offered hereby. We will bear all other costs, fees and expenses
incurred in effecting the registration of the common shares covered by this prospectus, including all registration
and filing fees and fees and expenses of our counsel and accountants.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We currently
intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to support our operations and finance the growth and
development of our business. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the
discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations,
financial condition, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, business prospects, the requirements of
current or then-existing debt instruments and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read
in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto and other financial
information included elsewhere in this prospectus and the section of this prospectus entitled “Business.” In
addition to historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include,
but are not limited to, those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus.
Unless the context otherwise requires, for the purposes of this section, “Heritage,” “we,” “us,” “our,” or the
“Company” refer to Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Reverse Stock Splits

On May 11, 2024, our Board and stockholders approved, and on May 14, 2024 we effected, a .57-for-1
reverse stock split. On September 18, 2025, our stockholders approved an amendment to our Certificate of
Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of our common stock at a reverse stock split ratio ranging from 1-for
5 to 1-for-20, without reducing the authorized number of shares of common stock, and to authorize the Board to
determine, at its discretion, the timing of the amendment and the specific ratio of the reverse stock split, without
further approval or authorization of our stockholders. On October 26, 2025, the Board approved, and on
November 5, 2025 we effected, a 1-for-20 reverse stock split. All share and per share numbers included in this
prospectus as of and for all periods presented reflect the effect of that such reverse stock split unless otherwise
noted.

All share and per share numbers presented in this prospectus have been rounded individually. As a result,
totals may reflect the effect of differences between: aggregating the individually rounded component numbers;
and the rounding of the total of the individual component numbers. In cases where rounding occurred, the
amount of the rounding difference is not material and are considered to be insignificant.

Business Overview

We are a craft distiller producer making, marketing and selling a diverse line of award-winning craft
spirits, including whiskeys, vodkas, gins, rums, and “ready-to-drink” canned cocktails. We recognize that taste
and innovation are key criteria for consumer choices in spirits and have developed differentiated products that
are responsive to consumer desires for rewarding and novel taste experiences.

In connection with the development of our cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy, on August 2025, we
completed a $223.8 million PIPE transaction pursuant to which we acquired 53.2 million $IP Tokens in our
digital asset treasury. The $IP Token is the native cryptocurrency of the Story Network, running on the Story IP
layer 1 blockchain. The $IP protocol and related $IP Tokens can be used to pay for computational services on
the Story Network, to mint or manage digital rights objects, or to transfer value in network-native transactions.
These tokens can also be exchanged for fiat currencies, such as the U.S. dollar, at rates determined on digital
asset trading platforms or in individual end-user-to-end-user transactions using decentralized trading protocols.
As part of our treasury reserve strategy, we set up a validator business as a reporting segment to generate
ongoing recurring revenue from activities associated with such validation efforts.

Our Spirits Business.    Our spirits business competes in the craft spirits segment, a growing segment of
the overall $288 billion spirits market. According to the American Craft Spirits Association, a craft distillery is
defined generally as a distillery that produces fewer than 750,000 gallons annually and holds an ownership
interest of 51% or more of a distilled spirits plant that is licensed by the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade
Bureau of the U.S. Department of the Treasury. According to Emergen Research, the global craft spirits market
was valued at $27.48 billion in 2024 and was forecasted to reach $260.65 billion by 2034.

Out of the more than 2,600 craft producers in North America, we have been recognized with more awards
for our products from the American Distilling Institute, the leading independent spirits association in the U.S.,
than any other North American craft distiller for a decade, plus numerous other Best of Class, Double Gold and
Gold medals from multiple national and international spirits competitions.

71









































































Table of Contents

BUSINESS

We are a spirits producer making, marketing and selling a diverse line of award-winning craft spirits,
including whiskeys, vodkas, gins, rums, and “ready-to-drink” canned cocktails. We recognize that taste and
innovation are key criteria for consumer choices in spirits and have developed differentiated products that are
responsive to consumer desires for rewarding and novel taste experiences.

Early in 2025, we determined to implement a procedure to accept cryptocurrency as a payment form for
our craft spirits products and developed a cash management and treasury strategy that included holding digital
currency assets directly on our balance sheet. In August 2025, we modified and updated our cryptocurrency
treasury reserve policy to focus our growing cryptocurrency efforts on the native cryptocurrency of the Story
Network, a decentralized peer-to-peer network of computers that operate on cryptographic protocols that allows
network participants to exchange tokens of value, called $IP Tokens, that are created, recorded and transmitted
on a public transaction ledger known as the Story Network that is intended to be optimized for the registration,
licensing and enforcement of intellectual property (“IP”) rights. In connection with the adoption of our modified
and updated cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy, we established as a new business segment a new validator
business in which we will stake the majority of the $IP Tokens in our treasury to earn a staking yield and turn
our treasury into a productive asset.

As part of our new digital asset strategy, in September 2025, we established a new validator business to
allow us to derive yield and revenue from our large $IP Token holdings. A cryptocurrency validator is like a
digital “notary” or “referee” in a blockchain network. Its job is to check that transactions on the network are real
and follow the network rules. Validators also are randomly selected to propose a new block of transactions to be
added to the blockchain. When a participant attempts a transaction, that participant is required to pay a
minimum “gas” fee. A participant can opt to pay an additional fee to ensure that its transaction is added to the
blockchain more quickly. These fees are denominated in the same cryptocurrency that is evidenced by the
blockchain. In the case of the Story Network, these fees are denominated in $IP Tokens. The validator chosen to
propose a block will (when that block is successfully confirmed by the other validator nodes) receive the gas
fees for all transactions in the block (known as “execution layer rewards”). In addition, the Story Network
automatically issues $IP Tokens as rewards to validators who successfully propose a block. We have elected to
continue operating our own validator services rather than to “delegate” our $IP Tokens to third party validation
service providers.

As a result of the recent expansion of our cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy and our decision to
establish a new validator business, we now report our business in two segments:

•         IP Management Infrastructure:    this segment executes and manages our treasury policy, operates
our validators and operates infrastructure to allow IP owners to manage, track and monetize their IP
through the $IP Token and the Story ecosystem; and

•         Craft Spirits:    this segment executes and manages our craft distillery business, including
producing, marketing and selling our lines of award-winning craft spirits and the development of
our Tribal Beverage Network.

Our Digital Asset Treasury Segment

Our Cryptocurrency Treasury Strategy

As discussed above, in August 2025, we modified and updated our cryptocurrency treasury reserve policy
to focus our growing cryptocurrency efforts on the Story Network, a decentralized layer 1 blockchain that
allows network participants to register, license and enforce IP assets, using the native utility token of the Story
Network, the $IP Token. This was a shift from our prior treasury reserve policy when we held excess cash
primarily in FDIC-insured interest-bearing accounts. The impetus to adopt this strategy resulted from our desire
to obtain the highest yield on excess cash. Under this approach, our digital asset treasury policy now focuses
primarily on holding $IP Tokens. Our approach involves applying a public-market treasury model to an asset
that we believe is earlier in its lifecycle with respect to both development and usage, as well as institutional
adoption, compared to other, more established cryptocurrencies, such as Bitcoin or Solana. The Digital Assets
Committee of our Board, which manages our treasury reserve policy, will focus efforts and attention on this
digital asset strategy and a significant portion of our balance sheet
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MANAGEMENT

Executive Officers and Directors

The following table provides information regarding our executive officers and directors:

Name   Age   Position(s)

Executive Officers        
Justin Stiefel   50   Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and Treasurer
Jennifer Stiefel   50   Director, President, and Secretary
Michael Carrosino   64   Executive Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Beth Marker   65   Senior Vice President of Retail Operations
Danielle Perkins   36   Senior Vice President of Wholesale Operations
Non-Employee Directors        
Troy Alstead   62   Director
Christopher H. Smith   87   Director
Matthew J. Swann   55   Director
Eric S. Trevan, Ph.D.   49   Director
Andrew Varga   60   Director
Jeffrey Wensel, M.D., Ph.D.   64   Director

Executive Officers

Justin Stiefel is a co-founder of our company and has been our Chief Executive Officer and a director
since 2011 and Treasurer and Chairman of the Board since 2022. Mr. Stiefel is the driving force behind our
focus on consumer-friendly products and experiences and is the creator of the TBN concept, having worked in
2018 to secure in Congress the repeal of an 1834 statute that prohibited distilling in Indian country. Prior to our
founding, Mr. Stiefel served as a top staff member in the United States Senate, first as Deputy Press Secretary,
then Legislative Aide, then Chief Counsel to the senior Senator for Alaska, Ted Stevens. He then became one of
the youngest Chiefs of Staff in the history of the U.S. Senate for Lisa Murkowski, the junior Senator for Alaska.
In 2004, Mr. Stiefel joined the international law firm of Dorsey and Whitney LLP as Of Counsel. Mr. Stiefel
later formed his own consulting firm assisting clients, individual businesses and tribes (American Indian,
Alaskan Native and Native Hawaiians), with their needs in advancing legislation, regulations and policy
initiatives in Washington, DC. Mr. Stiefel holds a BS in Chemical Engineering from the University of Idaho and
a Juris Doctor from Catholic University of America, where he graduated in the top ten in his class, Magna Cum
Laude. He has also completed coursework at the United States Naval War College, focused on strategic decision
making. He has served as a director for several non-profit organizations and sits on the Milgard Executive
Counsel at the Milgard School of Business at the University of Washington. Mr. Stiefel is a member of three bar
associations, in Washington State, Alaska and Washington, DC. He is active in advocating for legislative
modernization in spirits, liquor laws and regulations, including drafting and negotiating legislative and
regulatory changes at the state and federal levels on behalf of the craft spirits industry.

Jennifer Stiefel is a co-founder of our company, has been our President and a director since 2011 and
Secretary since 2022. She oversees our brand preservation and consumer experience portions of our operations
to ensure consistency and excellence throughout. She also is an instrumental part of the executive team focused
on growing the TBN. Prior to our founding, Ms. Stiefel served in the United States Senate as a staff member of
the Senate Appropriations Committee. She subsequently taught elementary school in Virginia, acting as team
lead for science. In her younger years she worked in her family’s manufacturing business in Alaska, growing up
to work in all facets of the company. She holds a BA in Elementary Education from the University of Idaho and
a Masters in Instructional Education from Central Michigan University. Ms. Stiefel is a director for several non-
profit organizations. Ms. Stiefel is the wife of Justin Stiefel, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

Michael Carrosino has served as our Executive Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer
since November 25, 2024. Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice President of Finance and Acting Chief
Financial Officer from June 2023 to November 2024. Mr. Carrosino is a veteran Finance and Operations
executive with over 40 years of experience across multiple public and private industries. Mr. Carrosino’s
functional experience
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides certain summary information concerning compensation awarded to, earned
by or paid to any individual who served as chief executive officer at any time during the year ended
December 31, 2024 and each other person who was serving as an executive officer of our company at the end of
such year whose total compensation exceeded $100,000. These individuals are referred to in this prospectus as
the “named executive officers”. For each executive officer who also served as a director of our private company,
we have included in such compensation: any compensation earned as stock awards: and deferred and accrued
cash fees for service as a director.

Name and Principal Position   Year   Salary(1)   Bonus(1)  
Stock

Awards(2)  
All Other

Compensation(3)  Total

Justin Stiefel   2024   $ 135,160  —  $ 168,000  $ 9,167  $ 312,327
Chief Executive Officer;
Treasurer  

2023     98,653  —    —    10,000    108,653

Jennifer Stiefel   2024     139,367  —    168,000    9,167    316,534
President; Secretary   2023     97,962  —    —    10,000    107,962

Michael Carrosino(4)   2024     210,674  —    —    —    210,674
Executive Vice President,
Finance; Chief Financial
Officer  

2023     35,464  —    —    —    35,464

Beth Marker   2024     175,639  —    6,000    —    181,639
SVP Retail Operations   2023     84,917  —    —    —    84,917

Danielle Perkins   2024     163,215  —    10,000    —    173,215
SVP Wholesale   2023     150,831  —    —    —    150,831

____________

(1)       Does not include deferred compensation from 2023 and 2024 that was paid in 2025, as follows:
•         $63,076 to Justin Stiefel;
•         $63,076 to Jennifer Stiefel;
•         $107,395 to Michael Carrosino;
•         $4,000 to Beth Marker;
•         $46,876 to Danielle Perkins.

(2)       Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock units granted to the executive officer during the
applicable fiscal year, computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. These amounts do not reflect the actual
value that will eventually be realized by the executive officer at the time the award becomes vested.

(3)       Other compensation consisted of deferred compensation payable for service as a director. Fees were paid out
following the closing of our November 2024 initial public offering. Since the closing of our initial public offering,
employee directors are no longer eligible to receive additional compensation for service on the board.

(4)       Michael Carrosino became our Executive Vice President of Finance and Acting Chief Financial Officer in June 2023
and became our Chief Financial Officer in November 2024.
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PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common
stock as of November 25, 2025 by:

•         each person known by us to be a beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding common
stock;

•         each of our directors and director nominees;

•         each of our named executive officers; and

•         all directors and executive officers as a group.

The amounts and percentages of common stock beneficially owned are reported based on regulations of
the SEC governing the determination of beneficial ownership of securities. Under the rules of the SEC, a person
is deemed to be a “beneficial owner” of a security if that person has or shares “voting power,” which includes
the power to vote or to direct the voting of such security, or “investment power,” which includes the power to
dispose of or to direct the disposition of such security. A person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any
securities of which that person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days after November 25,
2025. More than one person may be deemed a beneficial owner of the same securities, and a person may be
deemed a beneficial owner of securities as to which he or she has no economic interest. Except as indicated by
footnote, to our knowledge, the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with
respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them. We are not aware of any of our
stockholders that, as of November 25, 2025, beneficially owned more than 5% of our common stock.

In the table below, the beneficial ownership percentage of our common stock is based upon 9,559,321
shares of common stock outstanding as of November 25, 2025. Unless otherwise noted below, the address of the
persons listed on the table is c/o Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc., 11010 Harbor Hill Drive #B-308,
Gig Harbor, Washington 98332.

Name of Beneficial Owner  

Shares Beneficially Owned
Amount and

Nature of
Beneficial

Ownership  
Percentage of
Class (%)(1)

Named Executive Officers and Directors            
Justin Stiefel   181,629​(2)   1.90%
Jennifer Stiefel   16,391​(3)   *  
Michael Carrosino   21,246    *  
Beth Marker   5,302    *  
Danielle Perkins   5,646    *  
Troy Alstead   5,753​(4)   *  
Christopher (Toby) Smith   5,225    *  
Matthew J. Swann   5,980​(5)   *  
Eric S. Trevan, Ph.D.   5,369    *  
Andrew Varga   20,100​(6)   *  
Jeffrey Wensel, M.D., Ph.D.   7,571    *  

Executive Officers and Directors as a Group (11 persons)   280,212    2.93%

____________

*         less than 1%

​(1)      The percentages in the table have been calculated on the basis of treating as outstanding for a particular person, all
shares of our capital stock outstanding. To calculate a stockholder’s percentage of beneficial ownership, we include in
the denominator the common stock outstanding and in the numerator all shares of our common stock issuable to that
person in the event of the exercise of outstanding options and other derivative securities owned by that person that are
exercisable or will come into existence within 60 days of November 25, 2025. Common stock options and derivative
securities held by other stockholders are disregarded in this calculation. Therefore, the denominator used in
calculating beneficial ownership among our stockholders may differ. Unless we have indicated otherwise, each person
named in the table has sole voting power and sole investment power for the shares listed opposite such person’s name.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Procedures for Approval of Related Party Transactions

A “related party transaction” is any actual or proposed transaction, arrangement or relationship or series of
similar transactions, arrangements or relationships, including those involving indebtedness not in the ordinary
course of business, to which we or our subsidiaries were or are a party, or in which we or our subsidiaries were
or are a participant, in which the amount involved exceeded or exceeds the lesser of (i) $120,000 or (ii) one
percent of the average of our total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years and in which any
related party had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. A “related party” includes:

•         any person who is, or at any time during the applicable period was, one of our executive officers or
one of our directors;

•         any person who beneficially owns more than 5% of our common stock;

•         any immediate family member of any of the foregoing; or

•         any entity in which any of the foregoing is a partner or principal or in a similar position or in which
such person has a 10% or greater beneficial ownership interest.

In November 2024, our board of directors adopted a written related-party transactions policy. Pursuant to
this policy, the Audit Committee of our board of directors reviews all material facts of all related-
party transactions and either approves or disapproves entry into the related-party transaction. In determining
whether to approve or disapprove entry into a related-party transaction, our Audit Committee takes into account,
among other factors, the following: (i) the benefits of the transaction; (ii) the terms of the transaction; and
(iii) whether the transaction would impact the independence of a Related Party, as defined in the policy.

Related Party Transactions

With the exception of the compensation arrangements for our named executive officers and directors,
which are describe above, and the transactions set forth below, we were not a party to any related party
transactions during the year ended December 31, 2024 or since December 31, 2024, and there are no currently
proposed related-party transaction that is under consideration by us.

Transactions with Tiburon Opportunity Fund, L.P. Between April 19, 2022 and November 8, 2022,
Tiburon Opportunity Fund, L.P., as well as the general partner of Tiburon Opportunity Fund, L.P. individually
(together “Tiburon”), a related party that is a current stockholder of our company that owned more than 10% of
our outstanding common stock as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, purchased our unsecured convertible
promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $6,311,250 that bore interest at the rate of 29% per
annum and were to mature on July 31, 2024. In connection with the purchase of such unsecured convertible
promissory notes, we issued to Tiburon common stock purchase warrants to purchase up to 15,583 shares of
common stock at $150 per share. Under the terms of the October 2023 Subscription Exchange Agreement, we
amended the exercise price of such warrants (including those of the related party) to a fixed price of $120 per
share, which fixed the number of shares issuable upon the exercise of such warrants of the related party at
19,479 shares.

Additionally, in March 2023, Tiburon purchased from us an unsecured convertible promissory note in the
principal amount of $1,620,000 that bore interest at the rate of 29% per annum and was to mature on July 31,
2024. Between May 1, 2023 and September 30, 2023, Tiburon (as well as the lead investor in Tiburon)
purchased from us unsecured convertible promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $2,362,500 that
bore interest at the rate of 10% per annum and were to mature on July 31, 2024. Between October 1, 2023 and
April 17, 2024, Tiburon purchased from us additional unsecured convertible promissory notes in the aggregate
principal amount of $3,247,425 ($2,405,500 of principal before exchange into common stock) that bore interest
at the rate of 12.5% per annum and were to mature on August 29, 2026. We did not make any payments of
principal or interest on the promissory notes issued to Tiburon (or the lead investor in Tiburon). On
November 1, 2023, the convertible promissory notes issued to Tiburon (as well as the lead investor in Tiburon)
in 2022 and prior to August 29, 2023 were exchanged (contingent upon the consummation of the IPO we
completed in November 2024, which contingency is now lifted) for an aggregate of 85,877 shares of our
common stock. On April 18, 2024, the remaining
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following is a summary of the rights of our common stock, certain provisions of our second amended
and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, and our amended and restated bylaws and applicable law.
This summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the provisions of our second
amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, and amended and restated bylaws, copies of
which have been filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

Our authorized capital stock consists of 995,000,000 shares of capital stock, of which 985,000,000 shares
are common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and 10,000,000 shares are preferred stock, par value $0.0001
per share, of which 500,000 shares have been designated Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and 850,000
shares have been designated Series B Convertible Preferred Stock.

Common Stock

Voting, Dividend and Other Rights.     Each outstanding share of common stock entitles the holder to one
vote on all matters presented to the shareholders for a vote. Holders of shares of common stock have no
cumulative voting, pre-emptive, subscription or conversion rights. All shares of common stock to be issued
pursuant to this registration statement will be duly authorized, fully paid and non-assessable. Our board of
directors determines if and when distributions may be paid out of legally available funds to the holders. To date,
we have not declared any dividends with respect to our common stock. Our declaration of any cash dividends in
the future will depend on the determination of our board of directors as to whether, considering our earnings,
financial position, cash requirements and other relevant factors existing at the time, it appears advisable to do
so. We do not anticipate paying cash dividends on the common stock in the foreseeable future.

Rights Upon Liquidation.     Upon liquidation, subject to the right of any holders of preferred stock to
receive preferential distributions, each outstanding share of common stock may participate pro rata in the assets
remaining after payment of, or adequate provision for, all our known debts and liabilities.

Majority Voting.     The holders of one-third of the outstanding shares of common stock constitute a
quorum at any meeting of the stockholders. A plurality of the votes cast at a meeting of shareholders elects our
directors. The common stock does not have cumulative voting rights. Therefore, the holders of a majority of the
outstanding shares of common stock can elect all of our directors. In general, a majority of the votes cast at a
meeting of shareholders must authorize shareholder actions other than the election of directors.

Preferred Stock

Authority of Board of Directors to Create Series and Fix Rights.     Under our second amended and
restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, our board of directors is authorized to issue up to
10,000,000 shares of preferred stock from time to time in one or more series. The board of directors is
authorized to fix by resolution as to any series the designation and number of shares of the series, the voting
rights, the dividend rights, the redemption price, the amount payable upon liquidation or dissolution, the
conversion rights, and any other designations, preferences or special rights or restrictions as may be permitted
by law. Unless the nature of a particular transaction and the rules of law applicable thereto require such
approval, our board of directors is authorized to issue shares of preferred stock without shareholder approval.

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

In May 2024, our board of directors designated 500,000 shares of our authorized shares of preferred stock
as Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Series A Preferred Stock”). The
Series A Preferred Stock has a stated value of $12.00 per share (the “Series A Stated Value”). As of November
25, 2025, 210,700 shares of Series A Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding.

Dividends.    The holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, out of funds legally available
therefor, cumulative dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock at the rate of 15% per annum of the Series A
Stated Value (or $1.80 per share) payable if and when declared by our board of directors or upon conversion or
redemption of the Series A Preferred Stock. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock may be paid by us in
cash, by delivery of shares of common stock or through a combination of cash and shares of common stock. If
paid in common stock,
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SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The table below sets forth the following information regarding the Selling Stockholders as of November
25, 2025:

•         the number of shares of common stock owned by each Selling Stockholder prior to this offering,
giving effect to the beneficial ownership limitations, if any, contained in any securities that may be
exercised to purchase or converted into shares of common stock owned by each Selling
Stockholder;

•         the number of shares of common stock to be offered by each Selling Stockholder in this offering;

•         the number of shares of common stock to be owned by each Selling Stockholder assuming the sale
of all of the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus; and

•         the percentage of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock to be owned by each Selling
Stockholder assuming the sale of all of the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus, after
giving effect to the beneficial ownership limitations, if any, contained in any securities that are
convertible into, or exercisable to purchase, shares of common stock, based on the number of shares
of common stock issued and outstanding as of November 25, 2025.

Except as described above, the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by each Selling
Stockholder has been determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act and includes, for such
purpose, shares of common stock that the Selling Stockholder has the right to acquire within 60 days of
November 25, 2025.

The outstanding shares of common stock that may be offered by certain Selling Stockholders hereunder,
and the shares of common stock that may be offered by certain Selling Stockholders hereunder upon the
exercise by such Selling Stockholders of outstanding warrants or the settlement of outstanding restricted stock
units, were previously issued in private placement transactions by our company. Descriptions of the private
placement transactions in which we issued such outstanding shares of common stock, warrants or restricted
stock units are set forth above under the caption “Issuance of Securities to Selling Stockholders.”

All information with respect to the common stock ownership of each Selling Shareholder has been
furnished by or on behalf of the Selling Stockholder. We believe, based on information supplied by the Selling
Shareholders, that except as may otherwise be indicated in the footnotes to the table below, each Selling
Stockholder has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares of common stock reported as
beneficially owned by it. Because the Selling Stockholders may sell some or all of the shares of common stock
beneficially owned by them and covered by this prospectus, and because there are currently no agreements,
arrangements or understandings with respect to the sale of any of the shares of common stock, no estimate can
be given as to the number of shares of common stock available for resale hereby that will be held by the Selling
Stockholders upon termination of this offering. In addition, the Selling Stockholders may have sold, transferred
or otherwise disposed of, or may sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, at any time and from time to time, the
shares of common stock it beneficially owns in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act after the date on which it provided the information set forth in the table below. We have,
therefore, assumed for the purposes of the following table, that each Selling Stockholder will sell all of the
shares of common stock owned beneficially by it that are covered by this prospectus, but will not sell any other
shares of common stock that it presently owns. No Selling Stockholder has held any position or office, or has
otherwise had a material relationship, with us or any of our subsidiaries within the past three years other than as
a result of the ownership of our shares of common stock or other securities.

The term “Selling Stockholders” also includes any pledgees, donees, transferees or other successors in
interest to the Selling Stockholders named in the table below. Unless otherwise indicated, to our knowledge,
each person named in the table below has voting power and investment power (subject to applicable community
property laws) with respect to the shares of common stock set forth opposite such person’s name. We will file a
supplement to this prospectus (or a post-effective amendment hereto, if necessary) to name successors to any
named Selling Stockholders who are able to use this prospectus to resell the securities registered hereby.

Any Selling Stockholders who are broker-dealers or affiliates of broker-dealers and any participating
broker-dealers may be deemed to be “underwriters” within the meaning of the Securities Act, and any
commissions or discounts given to any such Selling Stockholder or broker-dealer may be regarded as
underwriting commissions
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We are registering the shares of common stock previously issued and the shares of common stock issuable
upon exercise of certain warrants previously issued to permit the resale of these shares of common stock by the
holders of the common stock and warrants from time to time after the date of this prospectus. We will not
receive any of the proceeds from the sale by the Selling Stockholders of the shares of common stock. We will
bear all fees and expenses incident to our obligation to register the shares of common stock.

The Selling Stockholders may sell all or a portion of the shares of common stock held by them and
offered hereby from time to time directly or through one or more underwriters, broker-dealers or agents. If the
shares of common stock are sold through underwriters or broker-dealers, the Selling Stockholders will be
responsible for underwriting discounts or commissions or agent’s commissions. The shares of common stock
may be sold in one or more transactions at fixed prices, at prevailing market prices at the time of the sale, at
varying prices determined at the time of sale or at negotiated prices. These sales may be effected in transactions,
which may involve crosses or block transactions, pursuant to one or more of the following methods:

•         on any national securities exchange or quotation service on which the securities may be listed or
quoted at the time of sale;

•         in the over-the-counter market;

•         in transactions otherwise than on these exchanges or systems or in the over-the-counter market;

•         through the writing or settlement of options, whether such options are listed on an options exchange
or otherwise;

•         ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;

•         block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the shares as agent but may position and
resell a portion of the block as principal to facilitate the transaction;

•         purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;

•         an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;

•         privately negotiated transactions;

•         short sales made after the date the registration statement, of which this prospectus forms a part, is
declared effective by the SEC;

•         agreements between broker-dealers and the selling security holders to sell a specified number of
such shares at a stipulated price per share;

•         a combination of any such methods of sale; and

•         any other method permitted pursuant to applicable law.

The Selling Stockholders may also sell shares of common stock under Rule 144 promulgated under the
Securities Act, if available, rather than under this prospectus. In addition, the Selling Stockholders may transfer
the shares of common stock by other means not described in this prospectus. If the Selling Stockholders effect
such transactions by selling shares of common stock to or through underwriters, broker-dealers or agents, such
underwriters, broker-dealers or agents may receive commissions in the form of discounts, concessions or
commissions from the Selling Stockholders or commissions from purchasers of the shares of common stock for
whom they may act as agent or to whom they may sell as principal (which discounts, concessions or
commissions as to particular underwriters, broker-dealers or agents may be in excess of those customary in the
types of transactions involved). In connection with sales of the shares of common stock or otherwise, the Selling
Stockholders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers, which may in turn engage in short sales
of the shares of common stock in the course of hedging in positions they assume. The Selling Stockholders may
also sell shares of common stock short and deliver shares of common stock covered by this prospectus to close
out short positions and to return borrowed shares in connection with such short sales. The Selling Stockholders
may also loan or pledge shares of common stock to broker-dealers that in turn may sell such shares.
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LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters with respect to the shares of common stock offered hereby will be passed upon by
Pryor Cashman LLP, New York, New York.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc. as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 and for the years then ended have been audited by Marcum LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which includes an explanatory paragraph regarding our ability
to continue as a going concern, appearing herein. Such consolidated financial statements are included in this
prospectus and registration statement in reliance upon the report of Marcum LLP appearing elsewhere herein,
and upon the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to
the securities offered in this prospectus. This prospectus, which constitutes a part of the registration statement,
does not contain all the information set forth in the registration statement and its exhibits and schedules,
portions of which have been omitted as permitted by the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further
information about us and our common stock, we refer you to the registration statement and to its exhibits and
schedules. Statements in this prospectus about the contents of any contract, agreement or other document is not
necessarily complete and, in each instance, we refer you to the copy of such contract, agreement or document
filed as an exhibit to the registration statement, with each such statement being qualified in all respects by
reference to the document to which it refers. You may inspect the registration statement and its exhibits and
schedules and other information on SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

We also maintain a website at www.heritagedistilling.com, at which you may access our SEC filings free
of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The
information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference in, and is
not part of, this prospectus. You may also request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing to us at 9668
Bujacich Road, Gig Harbor, Washington 98332, or telephoning us at (253) 509-0008.
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(unaudited)

  September 30,
2025   December 31,

2024

ASSETS              

Current Assets              

Cash   $ 1,674,674  $ 453,162  

Accounts Receivable     202,775    638,890  

Inventory     2,280,270    2,471,567  

Other Current Assets     777,623    355,928  

Total Current Assets     4,935,342    3,919,547  

               

Long Term Assets              

Property and Equipment, net of Accumulated Depreciation     4,109,920    5,449,412  

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets, net     2,797,808    3,303,158  

Investment in Flavored Bourbon LLC     14,285,222    14,285,222  

Intangible Digital Assets (Note 7)     455,648,074    —  

Other Intangible Assets (Note 9)     394,171    421,151  

Goodwill (Note 9)     589,870    589,870  

Other Long Term Assets     17,965    31,666  

Total Long Term Assets     477,843,030    24,080,479  

Total Assets   $ 482,778,372  $ 28,000,026  

               

LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY/(DEFICIT)              

Current Liabilities              

Accounts Payable   $ 3,068,371  $ 4,979,353  

Accrued Payroll     1,572,591    950,974  

Accrued Tax Liability     1,449,351    1,535,628  

Other Current Liabilities     688,833    1,253,052  

Operating Lease Liabilities, Current     1,083,271    1,131,545  

Notes Payable, Current     2,358,574    3,758,595  

Accrued Interest     134,554    202,367  

Total Current Liabilities     10,355,545    13,811,514  

               

Long Term Liabilities              

Operating Lease Liabilities, net of Current Portion     2,325,584    2,810,015  

Notes Payable, net of Current Portion     238,053    9,482,339  

Accrued Interest, net of Current Portion     —    977,316  

Deferred Income Tax     49,426,794    —  

Other Long Term Liabilities     —    127,075  

Total Long-Term Liabilities     51,990,431    13,396,745  

Total Liabilities     62,345,976    27,208,259  

               

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11)              

               

Stockholders’ Equity/(Deficit)              
Preferred Stock – par value $0.0001 per share, 10,000,000 and

5,000,000 shares authorized as of September 30, 2025 and December 31,
2024, respectively:              
Series A Convertible, 500,000 shares designated; 210,700 and

494,840 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2025
and December 31, 2024, respectively     21    49  

Series B Convertible, 850,000 and 0 shares designated; 15,000 and 0 shares
issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2025 and December 31,
2024, respectively     2    —  

Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share; 985,000,000 and 70,000,000
shares authorized; 9,147,795 and 263,680 shares issued and outstanding as
of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively     18,323    556  

Additional Paid-In-Capital     308,612,299    74,925,180  

Retained Earnings/(Accumulated Deficit)     111,801,751    (74,134,018)

Total Stockholders’ Equity/(Deficit)     420,432,396    791,767  
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations

(unaudited)

 
For the Nine Months Ended

September 30,

    2025   2024

REVENUE                
Products   $ 2,714,012    $ 4,051,087  
Distillery Services     780,250      1,258,820  
Crypto and Related     1,908,544      —  

Total Net Revenues     5,402,806      5,309,907  

                 
COST OF REVENUE                

Products     2,972,030      3,428,979  
Services     46,458      94,852  
Crypto and Related     53,342      —  

Total Cost of Revenue     3,071,830      3,523,831  
Total Gross Profit     2,330,976      1,786,076  

                 
OPERATING EXPENSES                

Sales and Marketing     4,311,244      3,758,713  
General and Administrative     8,268,702      4,632,016  

Total Operating Expenses     12,579,946      8,390,729  
Operating Income/(Loss)     (10,248,970)     (6,604,653)

                 
OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE)                

Interest Expense     (1,616,498)     (1,897,299)
Change in Fair Value of Intangible Digital Assets    245,841,410      —  
Gain on Investment     —      3,421,222  
Gain on Extinguishment of Debt     1,673,127      —  
Change in Fair Value of Convertible Notes     —      8,324,198  
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities     —      1,734,308  
Change in Fair Value of Contingency Liability     (62,424)     457,127  
Other Income/(Expense)     (220,960)     656  

Total Other Income/(Expense)    245,614,655      12,040,212  
Income/(Loss) Before Income Taxes    235,365,685      5,435,559  
Income Taxes     (49,429,916)     (9,150)
Net Income/(Loss)   $ 185,935,769    $ 5,426,409  

                 
Net Income/(Loss) Per Share, Basic   $ 43.58    $ 247.40  

                 
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Basic     4,236,733      21,428  

                 
Net Income/(Loss) Per Share, Diluted (See Note 14)   $ 43.58    $ (62.42)

                 
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Diluted     4,236,733      228,991  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity/(Deficit)

(unaudited)

  Common Stock   Preferred
Stock – Series A   Preferred

Stock – Series B   Additional
Paid-in
Capital  

Retained
Earnings/

(Accumulated
Deficit)  

Total
Stockholders’

Equity/
(Deficit)    Number of

Shares   Par
Value   Number of

Shares   Par
Value   Number of

Shares   Par
Value  

Beginning Balance
December 31,
2024   263,680   $ 26  494,840   $ 49    —   $ —   $ 74,925,710   $ (74,134,018)  $ 791,767
PIPE Placement of

Prepaid
Warrants   —      —  —      —    —      —     215,198,048      —      215,198,048

PIPE Advisor
Common Stock
Compensation   323,854      32  —      —    —      —      3,499,431      —      3,499,463

PIPE Prepaid Warrants
Converted
to Common Stock   7,180,833      718  —      —    —      —      (718)     —      —

Private Placement of
Series B Preferred
Stock (and
warrants) (See
Note 8)   —      —  —      —    291,681      29      2,916,781      —      2,916,810

Exercise of ELOC
Commitment
Warrant   3,358      —  —      —    —      —      67      —      67

ELOC Agreement
Sales of
Common Stock   598,140      60  —      —    —      —      4,817,174      —      4,817,234

Exercise of Prepaid
Warrants to
Purchase Common
Stock   158,338      16  —      —    —      —      84      —      100

Exercise of Common
Warrants to
Purchase Common
Stock   18,728      2  —      —    —      —      186      —      188

Exchange of Prepaid
Warrants to
Purchase Common
Stock for Series B
Preferred Stock   —      —  —      —    55,917      4      (4)     —      —

Exchange of Series A
Preferred Stock and
Related Warrants
for Series B
Preferred Stock   —      —  (284,140)     (28)   409,256      43      (14)     —      1

Exchange of Series B
Preferred Stock for
Common Stock   213,409      21  —      —    (741,854)     (74)     53      —      —

Issued Prepaid
Warrants in
exchange for debt   —      —  —      —    —      —      4,097,287      —      4,097,287

Exercise of Debt
Exchange
Warrants to
Purchase Common
Stock   198,000      20  —      —    —      —      (20)     —      —

Exercise of Series B
Preferred Warrants
to Purchase
Common Stock   5,033      1  —      —    —      —      (1)     —      —

RSUs Vested   138,646      14  —      —    —      —      (14)     —      —
RSU Share-based

Compensation   —      —  —      —    —      —      3,050,662      —      3,050,662
Issuance of Common

Stock in
Conjunction with
Purchase of
Thinking Tree
Spirits   40,672      4  —      —    —      —      (4)     —      —

Common Stock Issued
in Exchange for
Services   5,265      1  —      —    —      —      124,999      —      125,000

Effect of Reverse Split,
Fractional Shares
and Rounding   (161)     —  —      —    —      —      —      —      —

Net Income/(Loss)   —      —  —      —    —      —      —     185,935,769      185,935,769
Ending Balance

September 30, 2025   9,147,795   $ 915  210,700   $ 21    15,000   $ 2   $ 308,629,707   $ 111,801,751   $ 420,432,396
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(unaudited)

 
For the Nine Months Ended

September 30,

    2025   2024

Net Income/(Loss)   $ 185,935,769    $ 5,426,409  
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income/(Loss) to Net Cash Used in

Operating Activities:                
Depreciation Expense     832,476      984,329  
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets     304,217      365,088  
Loss on disposal of property and equipment     481,008      37,154  
Non-cash Warrant Issued     1,133,663      —  
Change in Fair Value of Intangible Digital Assets    (245,841,410)     —  
Gain on Investment     —      (3,421,222)
Change in Fair Value of Convertible Notes     —      (8,324,198)
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities     —      (1,734,308)
Change in Fair Value of Contingency Liabilities     62,424      (457,127)
Non-cash Interest Expense     (905,048)     312,571  
Non-cash Shares in lieu of Services     125,000      —  
Non-cash Share-based Compensation     3,050,662      —  
Non-cash Deferred Income Tax Expense     49,426,794      —  

                 
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:                

Accounts Receivable     436,115      421,444  
Inventory     191,297      286,343  
Other Current Assets     379,038      (36,518)
Other Long Term Assets     13,701      —  
Accounts Payable     (1,910,982)     473,729  
Intangible Digital Assets     (986,680)     —  
Other Current Liabilities     (28,878)     (134,204)
Operating Lease Liabilities     (331,571)     (427,373)
Other Long-Term Liabilities     (189,500)     —  

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities     (7,821,905)     (6,227,883)
                 
Cash Flow from Investing Activities                

Purchase of Intangible Digital Assets     (21,000,000)     —  
Proceeds from Purchase of Thinking Tree Spirits     —      5,090  
Purchase of Property and Equipment     (74,754)     (32,125)
Proceeds from Sale of Asset     127,741      —  

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Investing Activities     (20,947,013)     (27,035)

                 
Cash Flow from Financing Activities                

Proceeds from PIPE Sale of Prepaid Warrants,net     30,076,795      —  
Proceeds from Notes Payable (including factoring agreements)     —      694,914  
Proceeds from Whiskey Notes (including proceeds from related party

Whiskey Notes of $0 and $1,100,000 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively)     —      3,655,870  

Repayment of Notes Payable     (7,820,765)     (139,255)
Common Stock Shares Repurchased     —      (3,690)
Proceeds from Private Placement of Series A Preferred Stock (and

warrants)     —      2,025,000  
Proceeds from Private Placement of Series B Preferred Stock (and

warrants) (Note 8)     2,916,810      —  
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

NOTE 1 — DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Description of operations — Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc. (“HDHC” or the “Company”) is
a Delaware corporation that was formed for the purpose of investing in, managing, and/or operating businesses
that are engaged in the production, sale, or distribution of alcoholic beverages. The Company is headquartered
in Gig Harbor, Washington and has two wholly owned subsidiaries: Heritage Distilling Company, Inc. (“HDC”)
and IP Strategy, LLC (“IP Strategy LLC”) that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements.

HDC has operated since 2011 as a craft distillery making a variety of whiskeys, vodkas, gins and rums as
well as Ready-to-Drink (“RTD”) beverages and operates distillery tasting rooms in Washington and Oregon.

IP Strategy LLC was formed in September 2025 as a subsidiary of Heritage Distilling Holding Company,
Inc. to accumulate and hold Story $IP Tokens (“$IP Tokens”), the native cryptocurrency of the Story Network,
and to house validator and related cryptocurrency operations. Under the digital currency treasury strategy
adopted in 2025, the Company purchases and holds $IP Tokens for long term investment purposes.

Initial Public Offering — On November 25, 2024, the Company closed an initial public offering (“IPO”)
of 84,375 shares of common stock at $80 per share. Concurrently, the Company also closed a private offering of
19,110 common warrants to purchase shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.20 per share at
$79.80 per warrant. (See Note 8.)

Rebranding and Change in Ticker Symbol — In September 2025, the Company rebranded as “IP
Strategy”, reflecting its evolution into a public-market vehicle focused on the accumulation of $IP Tokens. In
connection with the rebranding, the Company’s Nasdaq ticker symbol was changed from “CASK” to “IPST”
and the Company commenced trading under the new symbol at the market open on September 22, 2025.

Registration of Common Stock — On January 24, 2025, the Company filed a Form S-1 Registration
Statement under the Securities Act of 1933 to register the resale of up to a maximum of 250,000 shares of
common stock and 3,358 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Commitment Warrants (as
defined below) of the up to $15,000,000 aggregate gross purchase price of shares of common stock (the “ELOC
Shares”) that have been or may be issued by us to the investor (the “ELOC Investor”) pursuant to the Securities
Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 23, 2025, between the Company and the ELOC Investor (the “ELOC
Purchase Agreement”), establishing a committed equity facility (the “Facility” or “Equity Line of Credit”). The
3,358 shares of common stock issuable to the Investor upon the exercise of a stock purchase warrants with an
exercise price of $0.02 per share (the “Commitment Warrants”) were issued pursuant to the ELOC Purchase
Agreement that the Company and the ELOC Investor entered into in a letter agreement dated January 23, 2025
under which the Investor shall not be allowed to exercise the Commitment Warrants for a number of shares of
common stock that would give it and its affiliates beneficial ownership of an amount of common stock greater
than 1% of the total outstanding common stock after giving effect to such conversion. In February 2025, the
ELOC Investor exercised the Commitment Warrants for $67.

On June 13, 2025, the Company filed a Form S-1 Registration Statement under the Securities Act of 1933
to register the resale of up to a maximum of an additional 500,000 ELOC Shares (the “June 2025 ELOC
Registration Statement”), for an aggregate of 750,000 ELOC Shares available under the ELOC Purchase
Agreement, which was approved by the shareholders on June 24, 2025.

Basis of Presentation — The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“U.S. GAAP”) and include the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in the consolidation process. Certain accounts relating to the prior year have been
reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the net
income/(loss) or net assets as previously reported.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Heritage Distilling Holding
Company, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity/(deficit) and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion,
the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the
period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements were prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going
concern. As more fully described in Note 1, the Company has a significant working capital deficiency, has
incurred significant losses and needs to raise additional funds to meet its obligations and sustain its operations.
These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Management’s plans regarding these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required
to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are
required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management and the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2022.

Costa Mesa, California
April 28, 2025, (except for the effects of the reverse stock-split described in Note 1, as to which the date is
December 12, 2025)
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

 
As of

December 31,

    2024   2023

ASSETS            
Current Assets            

Cash   $ 453,162  $ 76,878
Accounts Receivable     638,890    721,932
Inventory     2,471,567    2,756,350
Other Current Assets     355,928    1,717,650

Total Current Assets     3,919,547    5,272,810
             

Long Term Assets            
Property and Equipment, net of Accumulated Depreciation     5,449,412    6,428,112
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets, net     3,303,158    3,658,493
Investment in Flavored Bourbon LLC     14,285,222    10,864,000
Intangible Assets (Note 10)     421,151    —
Goodwill (Note 10)     589,870    —
Other Long Term Assets     31,666    44,817

Total Long Term Assets     24,080,479    20,995,422
Total Assets   $ 28,000,026  $ 26,268,232

             
LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY/(DEFICIT)            

Current Liabilities            
Accounts Payable   $ 4,979,353  $ 5,228,786
Accrued Payroll     950,974    1,321,298
Accrued Tax Liability     1,535,628    1,468,994
Other Current Liabilities     1,253,052    1,827,013
Operating Lease Liabilities, Current     1,131,545    1,294,706
Notes Payable, Current     3,758,595    14,270,956
Convertible Notes Payable (2022 and 2023 Convertible Notes)

(including related party convertible notes of $0 and $17,220,203 as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively) (See Notes 5 and 15)     —    36,283,891

Accrued Interest     202,367    1,152,998
Total Current Liabilities     13,811,514    62,848,642

             
Long Term Liabilities            

Operating Lease Liabilities, net of Current Portion     2,810,015    3,081,924
Notes Payable, net of Current Portion     9,482,339    —
Convertible Notes Payable (Whiskey Notes) (including a related party

convertible note of $0 and $390,607 as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively)     —    1,452,562

Warrant Liabilities (2022 and 2023 Convertible Notes) (including a
related party warrant liability of $0 and $340,918 as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively)     —    794,868

Warrant Liabilities (Whiskey Notes) (including a related party warrant
liability of $0 and $406,774 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively)     —    1,512,692

Accrued Interest, net of Current Portion     977,316    —
Other Long Term Liabilities     127,075    —

Total Long-Term Liabilities     13,396,745    6,842,046
Total Liabilities     27,208,259    69,690,688
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Operations

 
For the Years Ended

December 31,

    2024   2023

NET SALES                
Products   $ 6,614,933    $ 5,136,482  
Services     1,787,555      2,834,742  

Total Net Sales     8,402,488      7,971,224  
                 
COST OF SALES                

Products     6,173,189      4,963,176  
Services     103,452      857,007  

Total Cost of Sales     6,276,641      5,820,183  
Gross Profit     2,125,847      2,151,041  

                 
OPERATING EXPENSES                

Sales and Marketing     6,038,636      5,938,315  
General and Administrative     11,006,021      7,477,285  

Total Operating Expenses     17,044,657      13,415,600  
Operating Loss    (14,918,810)     (11,264,559)

                 
OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE)                

Interest Expense     (2,535,701)     (2,526,740)
Gain on Investment     3,421,222      —  
Change in Fair Value of Convertible Notes     14,028,067      (22,764,854)
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities     736,580      (240,159)
Other Income/(Expense)     (11,750)     4,893  

Total Other Income/(Expense)     15,638,418      (25,526,860)
Income/(Loss) Before Income Taxes     719,608      (36,791,419)
Income Taxes     (9,150)     (7,000)
Net Income/(Loss)   $ 710,458    $ (36,798,419)

Net Income/(Loss) Per Share, Basic   $ 0.98    $ (1,928.94)
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Basic     64,067      19,077  
Net Income/(Loss) Per Share, Diluted (See Note 16)   $ (39.46)   $ (1,928.94)
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Diluted     353,887      19,077  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity/(Deficit)

 

Common Stock  
Preferred

Stock – Series A   Additional
Paid-in
Capital  

Accumulated
Equity/
(Deficit)  

Total
Stockholders’

Equity/
(Deficit)

Number of
Shares  

Par
Value  

Number of
Shares  

Par
Value  

Beginning Balance
December 31, 2023   19,074   $ 2    — $ — $31,422,018   $(74,844,476)  $(43,422,456)
Acquisition of Thinking

Tree Spirits   2,547      —    —    —    670,686      —      670,686  
Private Placement of

Preferred Stock –
 Series A   —      —    329,060    33    3,290,567      —      3,290,600  

Preferred Stock issued
in Exchange for
Factoring
Agreements   —      —    71,991    7    719,912      —      719,919  

Preferred Stock issued
in Exchange for
Warrants   —      —    93,789    9    (9)             —  

Initial Public Offering
of Common Stock   84,375      8    —    —    3,592,071      —      3,592,079  

Private Placement of
Common Warrants   —      —    —    —    1,397,998      —      1,397,998  

Issuance of Warrants to
Purchase Common
Stock   —      —    —    —    8,828      —      8,828  

Exercise of Warrants to
Purchase Common
Stock   15,892      2    0    —    (2)     —      —  

Common Stock
Exchanged
for Prepaid Warrants   (1,636)         —    —    —      —      —  

2022 Convertible
Note Warrants
Reclassified from
Liability to Equity   —      —    —    ——    1,873,000      —      1,873,000  

Conversion of 2022 and
2023 Convertible
Notes to Equity   190,977      19          —   15,278,149      —      15,278,168  

Common Stock
Exchanged
for Prepaid Warrants
– 2022 and 2023
Convertible Notes   (96,390)     (10)   —    —    10      —      —  

Conversion of Whiskey
Notes and Related
Warrant Liabilities to
Equity   147,300      15    —    —   11,784,053      —      11,784,068  

Common Stock
Exchanged for
Prepaid Warrants –
 Whiskey Notes and
related Warrant
Liabilities   (98,459)     (10)   —    —    10      —      —  

Shares Repurchased   (1)     —    —    —    (3,690)     —      (3,690)
Share-based

Compensation           —    —    —    4,892,110      —      4,892,110  
Effect of Reverse Split

and Fractional Shares   1      —    —    —    (1)     —      —  
Net Income   —      —    —    —    —      710,458      710,458  

Ending Balance
December 31, 2024   263,680   $ 26    494,840 $ 49 $74,925,710   $(74,134,018)  $ 791,767  
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 
For the Twelve Months Ended

December 31,

    2024   2023

Net Income/(Loss)   $ 710,458    $ (36,798,419)
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income/(Loss) to Net Cash Used in

Operating Activities:                
Depreciation Expense     1,284,653      1,430,240  
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets     508,156      492,806  
Loss on disposal of property and equipment     241,541      43,290  
Non-cash Warrant Issued     8,828      —  
Gain on Investment     (3,421,222)     —  
Change in Fair Value of Convertible Notes    (14,028,067)     22,764,854  
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities     (736,580)     240,159  
Non-cash Interest Expense     346,436      435,373  
Non-cash Share-based Compensation     4,892,110      18,594  

                 
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:                

Accounts Receivable     83,042      (227,218)
Inventory     1,409,180      885,547  
Other Current Assets     (115,741)     61,230  
Other Long Term Assets     13,151      76,270  
Accounts Payable     (672,348)     1,078,467  
Other Current Liabilities     (1,151,329)     1,691,432  
Operating Lease Liabilities     (587,891)     (672,371)

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities    (11,215,623)     (8,479,746)
                 
Cash Flow (used in)/from Investing Activities                

Purchase of Property and Equipment     (106,421)     (26,512)
Proceeds from Sale of Asset     —      2,400  
Proceeds from Purchase of Thinking Tree Spirits     5,090      —  

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities     (101,331)     (24,112)

                 
Cash Flow from Financing Activities                

Proceeds from Notes Payable     694,914      250,000  
Proceeds from Whiskey Notes (including proceeds from related party

Whiskey Notes of $1,100,000 and $800,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively)     3,655,870      2,975,000  

Proceeds from Convertible Notes (including proceeds from related party
convertible notes of $0 and $4,675,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively)     —      5,590,000  

Repayment of Notes Payable     (1,723,386)     (183,062)
Proceeds from Initial Public Offering of Common Stock, net of

Underwriting Commission     5,960,000      —  
Expenses related to Initial Public Offering, recorded to Additional Paid-

in-Capital, net against IPO Proceeds     (313,467)     —  
Proceeds from Private Placement of Common Warrants     1,397,998      —  
Proceeds from Private Placement of Preferred Stock and warrants     2,025,000      —  
Deferred Transaction Costs associated with S-1 Filing     —      (262,896)
Common Stock Shares Repurchased     (3,690)     (11,340)

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities     11,693,239      8,357,702  
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash     376,284      (146,156)

Cash – Beginning of Period     76,878      223,034  
Cash – End of Period   $ 453,162    $ 76,878  
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Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 — DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Description of operations — Heritage Distilling Holding Company, Inc. (“HDHC” or the “Company”) is
a Delaware corporation, for the purpose of investing in, managing, and/or operating businesses that are engaged
in the production, sale, or distribution of alcoholic beverages. The Company is headquartered in Gig Harbor,
Washington and has one wholly owned subsidiary, Heritage Distilling Company, Inc. (“HDC”), that is included
in the consolidated financial statements.

HDC has operated since 2011 as a craft distillery making a variety of whiskeys, vodkas, gins and rums as
well as Ready-to-Drink (“RTD”) beverages and operates distillery tasting rooms in Washington and Oregon.

Initial Public Offering — On November 25, 2024, the Company closed an initial public offering (“IPO”)
of 84,375 shares of common stock at $80.00 per share. Concurrently, the Company also closed a private
offering of 19,110 common warrants to purchase shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.20 per
share at $79.80 per warrant. (See Note 9.)

Subsequent Registration of Common Stock — Subsequent to December 31, 2024, on January 24, 2025,
the Company filed a Form S-1 Registration Statement under the Securities Act of 1933 to register up to a
maximum of 250,000 shares of common stock and 3,358 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of
the Commitment Warrants of the up to $15,000,000 aggregate gross purchase price of shares of common stock
(the “ELOC Shares”) that have been or may be issued by us to the ELOC Investor (the “Investor”) pursuant to
the Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 23, 2025, between the Company and the Investor (the
“ELOC Purchase Agreement”), establishing a committed equity facility (the “Facility” or “Equity Line of
Credit”). The 3,358 shares of common stock issuable to the Investor upon the exercise of a stock purchase
warrant with an exercise price of $0.02 per share (the “Commitment Warrants”) were issued pursuant to the
ELOC Purchase Agreement that the Company and the Investor entered into in a letter agreement dated
January 23, 2025 under which the Investor shall not be allowed to exercise the Commitment Warrants for a
number of shares of common stock that would give it and its affiliates beneficial ownership of an amount of
common stock greater than 1% of the total outstanding common stock after giving effect to such conversion. In
February 2025, the Investor exercised the Commitment Warrants for $67.

Business Combination Agreement — On December 9, 2022, the Company entered into a business
combination agreement (as amended, the “Business Combination Agreement”) with a publicly-traded special
purpose acquisition company (“SPAC”). On May 18, 2023, the Business Combination Agreement was
terminated and deferred expenses related to the transaction were expensed. Subsequent to the termination of the
Business Combination, the Company successfully consummated an initial public offering (“IPO”) on
November 25, 2024.

Basis of Presentation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and
include the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary. All intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated in the consolidation process. Certain accounts relating to the prior year have been reclassified to
conform to the current period’s presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the net loss or net assets as
previously reported.

Stock Splits — On May 11, 2024, the Board and Stockholders of the Company approved, and on May 14,
2024 the Company effected, a .57-for-1 reverse stock split. All share and per share numbers included in these
financial statements as of and for all periods presented reflect the effect of that stock split unless otherwise
noted. On September 18, 2025, the Stockholders approved an amendment to the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock at a reverse stock split ratio
ranging from 1:5 to 1:20, without reducing the authorized number of shares of common or preferred stock or
changing the par value per share of the common stock, and to authorize the Board to determine, at its discretion,
the timing of the amendment and the specific ratio of the reverse stock split, without further approval or
authorization of the Company’s stockholders. On October 16, 2025, the Board approved, and on November 5,
2025 the Company effected, a 1-for-20 reverse stock split. All share and per share numbers included in these
financial statements as of and for all periods presented also reflect the effect of that stock split unless otherwise
noted.
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